
 

**PERSONAL AUDIO ENHANCERS ARE AVAILABLE FROM THE COUNCIL 

SECRETARY** 

AGENDA FOR REGULAR ELKHART CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
LOCATION:  CITY HALL, 2ND FLOOR, COUNCIL CHAMBERS 

 October 21, 2024 

6:00 P.M. 

 

1.   Call to Order, Pledge, Moment of Silent Meditation, Roll Call 

 

2.  Minutes for Approval   
 Minutes of September 21, 2024 – Finance Of-The-Whole Committee (Budget Hearings) 

 Minutes of October 7, 2024 – Council Meeting 

   

 Presentations and Introductions 

 

 Unfinished Business 

 

a) Reports of Council Committees  
      

b) Ordinances on Second-Third Reading  
Proposed Ordinance 24-O-40, an ordinance adopting a schedule of salaries 

and other compensation for the Fire Department of the City of Elkhart, 

Indiana, for the calendar year 2025 

 

c) Ordinances and Resolutions Referred to Committees 
 

d) Tabled Ordinances and Resolutions  
Proposed Ordinance 24-O-10, an ordinance of the Common Council of the 

City of Elkhart, Indiana, authorizing the issuance of the City of Elkhart, 

Indiana, taxable Economic Development Revenue Bonds and approving and 

authorizing other actions in respect thereto 

 

3.       New Business 

 

a. Ordinances on First Reading 

Proposed Ordinance 24-O-41, an ordinance amending the Zoning Map 

created pursuant to Ordinance No. 4370, the “Zoning Ordinance of the City of 

Elkhart, Indiana” as amended, to rezone 203 N. Nappanee Street, Elkhart, IN 

46514, from R-2, One Family Dwelling to District O, Office District 

Proposed Ordinance 24-O-42, an ordinance amending the Zoning Map 

created pursuant to Ordinance No. 4370, the “Zoning Ordinance of the City of 

Elkhart, Indiana” as amended, to rezone 2520 and 2526 Bypass Road, Elkhart, 

IN 46514, from M-1, Limited Manufacturing District to R-4, Multiple Family 

Dwelling 

Proposed Ordinance 24-O-43, an ordinance enacting and adopting the 

Twenty-Third and Twenty-Fourth Supplements to the Code of Ordinances for 

the City of Elkhart, Indiana 

 



b. Resolutions 
Proposed Resolution No. 24-R-49, a resolution of the Common Council of 

the City of Elkhart, Indiana, authorizing the transfer of Ninety Thousand 

Dollars ($90,000.00) from the Lerner Theatre Personnel Category to the Other 

Services & Charges Category 

Proposed Resolution No. 24-R-50, a resolution of the Common Council of 

the City of Elkhart, Indiana, declaring a certain area to be an economic 

revitalization area for the purpose of granting tax phase in benefits to 

Consolidated Metals, Inc.\Westwood Manor, Inc. 

 

c. Vacation Hearings 

There are no vacation hearings 

       

d. Other New Business 

 

e. Reports of Mayor, Board of Works, Board of Safety or City Departments 

 

f. Neighborhood Association Report 

. 

g. Privilege of the Floor 

                  Please limit your comments to 3 minutes to allow others time to comment 

 

h. Scheduling of Committee Meetings 

 

 

4.       Acceptance of Communications 

 Minutes of September 10, 2024 – Aurora Capital Development Corporation 

 Minutes of September 24, 2024 – Board of Public Safety 

 Minutes of October 1, 2024 – Board of Public Works 

 Minutes of September 10, 2024 – Elkhart Redevelopment Commission 

 Minutes of September 11, 2024 – Lerner Theatre Board 

 

 Adjournment 

 



DRAFT 
 

1 
 

 

MINUTES OF THE 2025 CIVIL CITY BUDGET HEARINGS OF THE COMMON 

COUNCIL ON SEPTEMBER 21, 2024 

 

Present: Finance Committee Chairman Arvis Dawson 

Council Members Alex Holtz, Brent Curry, LaTonya King, Aaron Mishler, 

Dwight Fish, Tonda Hines, Chad Crabtree and David Henke 

 

Absent:  None. 

 

 The 2025 Civil City Budget Hearings of the Common Council of the City of Elkhart were 

held on September 21, 2024 at the Lerner Theatre, 410 S. Main Street, Elkhart, Indiana. This 

meeting was made available to the public via WebEx. Finance Committee Chairman Arvis 

Dawson and Council Members Alex Holtz, Brent Curry, LaTonya King, Aaron Mishler, Dwight 

Fish, Tonda Hines, Chad Crabtree and David Henke were physically present at the Lerner 

Theatre. No Council Members participated remotely. 

 

Councilman Dawson, Finance Committee Chairman, called the meeting to order at 9:00 a.m. 

 

 The clerk called the roll. 

 

Mayor’s Introduction of the 2025 Budget:  

The mayor’s introduction starts at 13 minutes and 02 seconds of the audio recording.   

Mayor Roberson started off by thanking Jamie and his department as well as Bradly Tracy, his 

Chief of Staff for putting together what he feels is a very responsible budget.  He went on to 

thank all of the department heads as well as the judge and Deb for their cooperation and help 

with respect to the budget.  He stated with that said, they are getting ready to discuss $128,341 

Million Dollars in revenue for the City of Elkhart, with appropriations of $125,754,599 and out 

of that Capital Outlay transfers of $8,210,994.  With that said, they feel this is a very responsible 

budget and he is asking for their review and approval and he is hoping for a positive conclusion 

to this process. He stated that this is set for adoption at the October 21st Council meeting.  He 

asked Jamie if that was correct?  Jamie Arce, City Controller stated that is the current timeline 

for adoption, but that is subject to change if the Council so wishes as long as it is adopted by 

November 1st.   Mayor Roberson said this budget is a little different than the others. He said 

they wanted to make sure that it connected to their overarching strategy inside of the city, which 

is Aspire. They started Aspire this year and it is a collection of the plans and strategies that they 

believe are going to transform the City of Elkhart for years to come. The categories that you will 

be looking at, which are posted behind you, is the budget separated in the four pillars of Aspire. 

They are working within the departments to ensure that they are putting metrics together that 

speak to what that means as it relates to the overall strategy. Public safety, infrastructure, 

neighborhoods and quality of place and we put all of the departments within those four 



DRAFT 
 

2 
 

categories, he said with what he will call the corporate departments which are the Controller, 

Human Resources, hereafter HR, Information Technology, hereafter IT, those that cover the 

foundation of the city services.   

Copies of the posters are attached to these minutes. 

The introduction ends at 16 minutes and 45 seconds of the audio recording.  

 

Foundational Services 

Mayor’s Budget (Page 14 of the Budget Book): 

Discussion of the Mayor’s budget starts at 16 minutes and 50 seconds of the audio recording. 

Jamie Arce said, the overview of the Mayor’s budget is there are no suggested changes other 

than those that would be impacting the payroll, personnel services lines regarding any proposed 

raises and or changes in health insurance, and those are all directed towards any changes because 

of raises and the current vacancy in the Mayor’s office. They are budgeting at a higher rate for 

health insurance, which could change depending on the candidate that is selected. 

Councilman Henke questioned the change in the overall budget expense. Jamie Arce 

responded there were some changes within the office that resulted in a decrease in the pay due to 

a shift in responsibilities. Councilman Henke asked a question regarding professional services 

and the differences on that line. Jamie Arce responded the difference that is seen there is due to 

the timing, it is currently on an annual basis so it does not reflect late third quarter and fourth 

quarter.  Councilman Henke asked about the membership dues and other services and charges 

and the changes reflected there. Jamie Arce responded there is no actual changes in the amount 

requested, the other services and charges account line allows for some flexibility within the 

budget to allow for the transfer of funds between accounts and that is the best way to trend all of 

those expenses. Councilman Henke asked are there any additional vacation days allotted in this 

department? Jaime Arce replied, none that he is aware of, those benefits would not run through 

his department, any requests or modifications that the Council would make would run through 

the Human Resources Department, not the Mayor’s office, and those would not be reflected in 

any budget. 

Motion for tentative approval made by Councilman Henke, second by Councilwoman Hines. 

By a unanimous voice vote, the 2025 budget for the Mayor’s Office was tentatively 

approved. 

   

Discussion on the Mayor’s budget ends at 25 minutes and 18 seconds of the audio recording. 

 

 

 

 



DRAFT 
 

3 
 

City Counsel (Page 26 of the Budget Book): 

Discussion of the City Council Budget begins at 25 minutes and 24 seconds of the audio 

recording. 

Councilman Curry stated the council budget had been reduced. Jamie Arce replied, it has, last 

year was an election year and they chose to budget all nine of the positions at the highest health 

insurance rate as a backstop. That is the primary change, they are shifting health insurance to 

reflect what is currently being utilized by the council at this time. The proposed increase would 

include the proposed 3% for elected officials and you share part of the Clerk’s budget for the 

council clerk.  

Councilman Henke expressed concern that trending the budget over three (3) years would 

reflect a large increase and asked if the president and the controller believed that amount is 

necessary. Chairman Dawson replied, he thought it was necessary based on different events that 

come about and the fact that they had used professional services more than they had in the past. 

Motion for tentative approval made by Councilwoman Hines, second by Councilman Fish. 

By a unanimous voice vote, the 2025 budget for the Common Council was tentatively 

approved. 

 

Discussion on the City Council budget ends at 27 minutes and 54 seconds of the audio recording. 

City Clerk 

Department Budget (General Fund) (Page 20 of the Budget Book): 

Discussion on the City Clerk Budget begins at 28 minutes and 45 seconds of the audio recording. 

Debra Barrett, City Clerk provided a brief opening statement of things they had accomplished 

this year.  She said, one of the items that was added this year with the help of the Information 

Technology Department, hereafter IT, was a terminal for the public to check their voter 

registration, register to vote, request an absentee ballot and verify that their current address 

matches voter registration.  She said they can also look up their cases in any Odyssey court. This 

was done with the help of IT Director Gerald at no extra cost.  She said they have also added a 

table on the City Clerk’s page that has the agenda and viewing instructions, the video from the 

meeting and minutes once they are approved.  She said people can go to her page and it will take 

them all the way back to when the table was started.  She went on to say that in April they signed 

up with the Indiana Tax Refund Intercept Program, which intercepts state tax refunds for traffic 

tickets. To date they have collected $42,289.36 in outstanding tickets. The Capital Recovery 

System, which was started in 2012 is currently at $3,009,374.41. There are no fees with this and 

all the money is paid into the city. The department has moved some of the general fund budget 

for the clerk to be paid by the user fees from the Records Perpetuation Fund. The new permanent 

part time position will also be paid with those dollars from the Records Perpetuation Fund.  This 

is why the overall budget has gone down. 



DRAFT 
 

4 
 

Councilman Mishler asked about the contract services line and why it was not in the previous 

budget and it is not in the future budget. Jamie Arce replied, earlier this year the council 

approved to transfer funds to assist with the part time temporary help we were receiving. 

Councilman Fish regarding the $42,000 dollar figure you mentioned, is that new money? Deb 

Barrett replied, since April of 2023, they have collected that amount. The state holds the tax 

refund and they give the person an opportunity to pay that balance due, it is only for traffic 

tickets. If the person does not pay it the person is charged a surcharge by the state and all the 

money collected to pay off those tickets. Councilman Fish asked is that a state statute 

connection? Debra Barrett replied, yes, it is through Odyssey courts, and through the Odyssey 

program, they are able to collect that money at no fee. Councilman Fish asked are they up to 

date with recordings, both physical and video tape so the public can access those things for 

review? Debra Barrett replied, yes, they try to upload the agenda before the meeting to the City 

Clerk’s page and they try to upload the video within 48 hours of the conclusion of the Council 

meeting, but they do not upload the minutes until the council has approved them, because they 

consider those draft minutes. 

Councilman Henke questioned an expenditure in a line that had no budget, was that contract 

services?  Jamie Arce replied yes, that is the difference between when it was approved and the 

council had taken action to authorize the transfer for hiring a temporary employee. Councilman 

Henke said he would like that to be noted on Schedule A for future reference. He also asked how 

many full time people are in the City Clerk’s department. Debra Barrett replied she thinks she 

has 8 full time people. Councilman Henke said he would like to know about the increase to 

align current salary levels and proposed performance reviews, He also wanted to know if people 

are getting written performance reviews.  Debra Barrett replied, yes, all of the staff 

performance reviews were completed this week, she stated she has two administrator’s reviews 

that are currently not completed.  Councilman Henke questioned the amount of the raises and if 

they are within the 4% for performance and merit raises. Jamie Arce replied there was a 

maximum of a 4% pool that was included in each department’s budget. The full time line is 

actually less than 4 %, there is some potential changes for the sharing of the clerk to the 

council’s budget and any potential changes to the resident incentive. Councilman Henke said 

with the decrease in the amount that is asked for in the 2025 budget, what are the costs in the 

surplus line. Jamie Arce replied, as Deb indicated there is a transfer into the Records 

Perpetuation Fund, the philosophy of spending the most restricted funds first and in leveraging 

the user fees that are created through the Records Perpetuation Fund. He said he believes that 

item is on the next agenda for this budget meeting. 

Councilman Mishler in talking about the merit ranges, is there a minimum? Jamie Arce replied 

the matrix that we established is complex, but they have in certain places taken the approach that 

if they are an extremely poor performer, their raise, if any, is going to be significantly less than 

someone who is at the midpoint of the desired hiring range as compared to someone who is 

meeting expectations. It is a multi-tiered matrix that he can share with the council. Councilman 

Mishler asked are there any cost of living on top of the merit or is merit the only thing? Jamie 

Arce replied, it is embedded, in theory it is a two and two, but it is really looking at anticipated 

cost of living for social security it was 2.5% and last he had checked it is pretty consistent with 



DRAFT 
 

5 
 

where we were last year, they may change internally what any cost of living is guaranteed versus 

the level that is performance based. Councilman Mishler said so maybe a cost of living as well 

as a residency bonus for those who live in the city is what our employees will be seeing, is that 

correct. Jamie Arce replied, yes. 

Debra Barrett said a new law went into effect that requires an automatic expungement for 

people who are arrested and never charged and for people whose cases are dismissed either 

through pre-trial or other means or for people found not guilty. She supports this, but the law is 

retroactive to July 1, 2022. Right now, her chief deputy and her staff are working diligently to 

identify those cases because people do not have to request this, they are just supposed to do this. 

While this is cumbersome, there are nine different agencies that have to get this expungement so 

that it does not turn up and people have to answer questions that they should not have to answer. 

It is just supposed to be removed. This is a big project that they are currently working on, and the 

big thing currently is the backlog which is retroactive to July 1, 2022.  

Councilman Curry asked do we know how many people are affected.  Debra Barrett replied, 

they are still working on that, they can only run reports one month at a time. Because pre-trial 

diversion qualifies if you complete it and it is dismissed they have to get rid of and seal all of that 

information. This has to be done by nine different agencies. When she gets a number she will be 

happy to pass it on. 

Motion for tentative approval made by Councilman Mishler, second by Councilwoman Hines. 

By a unanimous voice vote, the 2025 budget for the City Clerk was tentatively approved.   

 

Discussion on the City Clerk Department budget ends at 48 minutes and 57 seconds of the audio 

recording. 

City Clerk 

Records Perpetuation Fund (Page 78 of the Budget Book): 

Discussion of the City Clerk Records Perpetuation Fund begins at 49 minutes and 10 seconds of 

the audio recording. 

Jamie Arce said, here you will see the shifts that Debra Barrett had reflected on her budget and 

were discussed earlier regarding the part time employees, some of the additional costs associated 

with office supplies, etc., in an effort to better utilize the fees they are collecting and to alleviate 

the burden from the General Fund.  

Councilman Fish said this is quite a spike on paper, they are not going to swing back, to change 

the rules again next year to go back to the perpetuation fund, is that correct? Debra Barrett said, 

she will meet each year with Jamie and she will not move anything back unless she has to. Her 

hope is that these items stay on the Records Perpetuation User Fee. Councilman Fish said any 

of the money we have collected the $42,000 and other fees and services, will that roll into here? 

Debra Barrett said some of it does, each ticket has what is called a document storage fee, and it 

is between $3.00 and $5.00 that is for my Records Perpetuation Fund. They also get a stipend 

from Prosecutor’s office for pre-trial diversion that is deposited into the records perpetuation. 



DRAFT 
 

6 
 

That is how they are funded, any case that has been filed, there is a document storage fee that 

comes back to us for records perpetuation. 

Councilman Henke said he has done the math and it is a real tight budget. 

Motion for tentative approval made by Councilwoman Hines, second by Councilman Fish. 

By a unanimous voice vote, the 2025 budget for Records Perpetuation was tentatively 

approved.   

 

Discussion on the City Clerk Records Perpetuation Fund budget ends at 52 minutes and 16 

seconds of the audio recording. 

City Court (Page 22 of the Budget Book): 

Discussion on the City Court budget begins at 52 minutes and 28 minutes of the audio recording. 

Jamie Arce said there was an error on his part on the judge’s salary. The salary that is going to 

be presented is not what is going to be reflected as part of the salary ordinance. The spreadsheet 

that he used had been based off of the presumption of a 4% raise and he failed to make that 

adjustment. As much as the judge would be in favor of that he was worth that extra, but the 

amount the judge will get paid will not be in excess of what is going to be approved. 

Judge Charles Grodnik said the judgement that they talked about regarding the expungement is 

long overdue. In the line in the probation section he wanted to comment because he has been 

blessed with a wonderful legal aid lawyer, but they are going to have to bite the bullet because he 

believes the defense should have the same salary as much as possible as the prosecution. The 

defense should have as strong a defense as the prosecution has and that is the case and the 

adjustment in the legal aid. A fee certainly reflects that and it is seen that when probation comes 

up and since that is more of a court matter he wanted to bring that to the council’s attention  He 

believes the city is blessed with a wonderful controller and that he is an asset to the city. Lastly, 

he does not know why but by next year they will be the only court left in Elkhart, the largest city 

in the county. 

Motion for tentative approval made by Councilman Fish, second by Councilwoman Hines. 

By a unanimous voice vote, the 2025 budget for City Court was tentatively approved.   

 

Discussion on the City Court budget ends at 59 minutes and 42 seconds of the audio recording. 

Probation 

Department Budget (General fund) (Page 24 of the Budget Book): 

Discussion on the Probation Department Budget (General Fund) begins at 59 minutes 45 seconds 

of the audio recording. 

Brian Shaw, Chief Probation Officer, City Court said he would like to state that their 

probation department continues to do very well with the services we provide to our community. 

He has a strong and dedicated team at probation. He began tracking success rates of all persons 



DRAFT 
 

7 
 

going through probation starting in January 2022. He provided the council with a chart of their 

success rates for 2023 (Those charts are attached to end of these minutes). This year, like last 

year they have a much higher success rate than failure rate and he is proud to say that they are 

doing their job, working hard at making the city safer every day and attempting to rehabilitate 

individuals as they continue to live and work in the community as well as protect the general 

public. The handout also shows you the demographic breakdown of age, race and gender along 

with the percentage rates. Last year the council asked him to keep track of the crimes for 

convictions of those placed on probation and he has included a copy of year to date 2024 and a 

copy of 2023. He said when it comes to their 2025 budget, they have asked for an increase for 

interpretation services. They have two (2) Spanish to English interpreters and they assist the 

court defendants probation and prosecutors and legal aid with Spanish and the Spanish speaking 

community. One of the interpreters has been with them three (3) years and has had one pay 

increase in that time. The other interpreter has been with them two (2) years and has not had one 

pay increase. They are both very loyal and do exceptional interpretation for our court and 

probation department and they feel it is time for them to be properly compensated for what they 

do for the city. Jaime Arce said he would like to add to the interpretation side, they have 

previously been paid out of the professional services line and it was at the suggestion of legal 

counsel that based on some of the training they were provided to them that they were best to be 

categorized and treated as part time employees and that is why they are seeing that transition 

from professional services into part time. As part of that recommendation is an increase in their 

per diem to accommodate for their language skill.  When looking at the probation department’s 

personal services the payroll is split between the Probation User Fees Fund, hereafter PUFF at a 

60/40 rate. 60 is paid out of the general fund and 40 is paid out of the PUFF. The legal aid 

assistance component is being provided to city court and the increase that they are requesting is 

still substantially less than what the public defender for the county would be receiving who is 

paid on equity with the prosecutor. Brian Shaw also said one more thing on the legal aid, the 

position comes with no benefits and the county averages their wages for public defenders is 

between $80,000 and $90,000 per year. Jamie Arce said, the chief public defender for the 

county was paid $165,000 a year according to Gateways 100 R report. It is his understanding that 

there was a statutory requirement that had the chief public defender also be paid on equity, the 

same as the county prosecutor so there was no discrepancy in the talent that was being sought 

after. 

Councilman Mishler asked is there another service available for those who might speak another 

language other than Spanish. Brian Shaw responded those funds come out of the interpretation. 

They do have professional services enough in there for those unusual cases where they have 

somebody with a language other than Spanish. They use a service called Language Line and 

there is a phone in the courtroom that can be used to accommodate those types of special 

circumstances. 

Councilwoman Hines is there services available for things that are written and can the 

interpreters do that also? Brian Shaw replied the interpreters do help out with written translation 

when they have forms they need to fill out as well as helping the office with documents that need 

to be created.   



DRAFT 
 

8 
 

Councilman Holtz asked when the last time that we increased legal assistance. The $32,000 

seems like a catch up. Jamie Arce replied, last year there was a request for a $3,000 increase. 

Councilman Henke said, looking at the police department numbers versus the probation 

department numbers it seems to be a discrepancy, he expected a greater number of people in the 

probation area. Brian Shaw replied, if it is an arrest made by the Elkhart Police Department 

within the city limits it most likely will come to our court, but the discrepancy in the numbers 

you are talking about is that a lot of those cases will go to the prosecutor’s deferral program and 

never come to probation. Councilman Henke asked if there is any way to track those that come 

in that are homeless? Brian Shaw replied that is something he cannot give you an answer on. 

They do have plenty of people on probation that say they are homeless and many times they will 

give an address of a family member or a place they used to live where they can receive mail. 

Councilman Henke said it appears that repair and maintenance of building may be an account 

that is not utilized, is it just a place holder. Jamie Arce responded this is in place because they 

have their own building. He said recently their air conditioner was vandalized and the copper 

wire was stolen and they needed to leverage those funds to be able to fix that situation. If those 

funds were removed in that instance it would have required an appropriation and caused a 

potential unnecessary delay in getting them moving forward with any repairs. 

Motion for tentative approval made by Councilman Crabtree, second by Councilwoman Hines. 

By a unanimous voice vote, the 2025 budget for Probation was tentatively approved. 

 

Discussion on the Probation Department (General Fund) budget ends at 1 hour, 16 minutes and 

25 seconds of the audio recording. 

Probation User Fees (Page 74 of the Budget Book): 

Discussion on Probation User Fees begins at 1 hour, 16 minutes and 30 seconds of the audio 

recording. 

Jamie Arce said this represents the remaining 40% of their payroll budget. There are no other 

items included in this. 

Motion for tentative approval made by Councilwoman Hines, second by Councilman Crabtree. 

By a unanimous voice vote, the 2025 budget for Probation User Fee was tentatively 

approved.  

 

Discussion on the Probation User Fees budget ends at 1 hour, 16 minutes and 25 seconds of the 

audio recording. 

Corporate Counsel (Page 32 of the Budget Book): 

Discussion begins at 1 hour, 17 minutes and 4 seconds of the audio recording. 

John Espar, Corporate Counsel said, he has a fully staffed office and because of that they have 

been able to see an acceleration of their ability to liquidate what was a backlog of cases. After 

inquiring with the Office of the State Court Administrator we discovered there were 6,600 cases 



DRAFT 
 

9 
 

and they were able to liquidate and eliminate that backlog. This allowed them to be able to set 

benchmarks for the future. They plan for next year to improve and broaden the services of the 

department. Those include in service training for several departments. 

Councilman Mishler asked about the publication of legal notices which looks like it has jumped 

significantly. Is it required to use the Elkhart Truth for public notices or are there other avenues 

that can be used per state law? John Espar said we are still required to use a print publication in 

general circulation of the city. The Indiana legislature has authorized the use of one’s website to 

simultaneously publish and there are some areas where that can be used exclusively, but not in 

areas of litigation.  They have been able to consolidate some of our notices for collection in order 

to save some cost. Councilman Mishler replied that is great to be able to save taxpayers funds. 

Please speak about the increase in Laredo and Westlaw, is that caused by the raising prices of the 

software? Jamie Arce replied, he thinks he is talking about two (2) different issues. They have 

made the decision across departments to create a standalone account line to be able to identify 

that. A portion of that is a transfer in out of the subscription line and along with the increased 

costs associated with the current subscriptions. The current subscription net is around $3,200 for 

additional seats. 

Councilman Fish asked is everything going digital? Is most of this online service for legal 

research? John Espar replied, the department of law’s major software is a program that is 

locally run, it is a web based program not cloud based. Councilman Fish said it is almost like 

the dollars are being shifted to a different line. John Espar said he thinks that is accurate, they 

are being divided between categories and subcategories. 

Councilman Henke said on the professional service line it says expended for six (6) months 

$80,000 on a budget of $40,000. Jamie Arce replied that would be a continuation of the 

previously encumbered funds for the defense of any cases that may be ongoing and it provides 

some additional insight as to needing to provide some additional information as part of the 

difference between the adopted budget and the current budget. The Schedule A was established 

before he was employed and the way it identifies the changes between one year’s budget and the 

next year’s budget and not the expenditure components. Councilman Henke believes that 

should be reflected on Schedule A and it would benefit the process. He also asked about the 

increase for current rates of pay and proposed raises and the 4%. Jaime Arce replied it is 4% for 

the current headcount and the budget reflects the midpoint. He also stated that he has made note 

of looking into something that would be a more reflective way to discern trends or concerns that 

would address this issue. Currently, looking at the financial statements would be the way to see 

this information. 

Motion for tentative approval made by Councilman Henke, second by Councilman Mishler. 

By a unanimous voice vote, the 2025 budget for Corporation Counsel was tentatively 

approved.   

 

Discussion on the Corporation Counsel (General Fund) budget ends at 1 hour, 36 minutes and 14 

seconds of the audio recording. 

 



DRAFT 
 

10 
 

Controller 

Department Budget (General Fund) (Page 28 of the Budget Book): 

Discussion of the Controller Department Budget (General Fund) begins at 1 hour, 36 minutes 

and 38 seconds of the audio recording. 

Jamie Arce, City Controller provided an opening statement.  He said that he has seven (7) full-

time employees who play a crucial role in managing the financial resources of the city and unlike 

other departments, they provide underlying support to all the pillars of Aspire. He stated that 

their primary responsibilities are financial planning (budgeting), accounting and reporting, 

revenue collection, expenditure control, debt management, and assisting with the issuance of 

bonds.  He said they are responsible for prescribing the payroll and they partner with the 

Department of Human Resources, hereafter HR, in that management. He said in 2024 the 

highlights are they have moved forward with their electronic funds payments.  He was given 

approval by the Council to do this in late ’22 and to this point, they are at 60% of payments 

being made using electronic funds transfers.  He said that has provided them with the ability to 

decrease their postage and it creates a more timely payment to the vendor. He said another 

project that they undertook this year was transitioning to a Concur based travel platform with 

Travel Leaders. He said this platform helps keep things controlled within the travel policies. He 

said those were two (2) of the core highlights for 2024.  He said in 2025, they are looking to 

implement the automation of their accounts payable process that will be a paperless transaction 

and support their current ERP accounting system.  This will allow for an easier flow of 

information and the workflow will be no different except they will no longer need to have paper 

claims and signatures be delivered to the office and it will help to alleviate their document 

retention in paper form. He said that they hope to pilot the program late this year and then move 

into a fuller implementation in 2025.    

     

Councilman Henke asked if this would be sending out payments automatically. Jamie Arce 

responded, the process will not change except for the need for actual paper. The person who is 

responsible for creating the claim and entering that information into the accounting system 

would be responsible. The difference is it will now be scanned into the system and the software 

will try to auto populate the information provided, for example, the invoice number, the vendor 

and other pertinent information attached to the claim. It will still be at the control and approval of 

the initial individual providing the claim. This will also allow them to pull the information easily 

for the board of accounts to audit. Councilman Henke asked at the end of the seven years what 

happens. Jamie Arce responded we can destroy it digitally or we can chose to keep it, 

Councilman Mishler said it seems like it will be significantly cheaper and allow for future 

councils or the general public to look at it years from now. Jamie Arce responded, the history 

will still be there, it will just be electronic. 

Councilman Henke said he appreciates the new way of thinking in terms of efficiency and cost 

reduction. He addressed some numbers that were transferred and not on Schedule A. Jamie Arce 

responded those are additional items that were transfers to better identify some of the supplies 

and like other transfers they do not appear on Schedule A. Councilman Henke said he 

appreciates working with the controller. 



DRAFT 
 

11 
 

Motion for tentative approval made by Councilman Henke, second by Councilwoman Hines. 

By a unanimous voice vote, the 2025 budget for Controller Department (General Fund) 

was tentatively approved. 

Discussion on the Controller Department (General Fund) budget ends at 1 hour, 51 minutes and 

12 seconds of the audio recording. 

Non-Departmental (General Fund Transfers) (Page 12 of the Budget Book): 

Discussion on the Controller Non-Departmental (General Fund Transfers) begins at 1 hour, 51 

minutes and 31 seconds of the audio recording. 

Jamie Arce said, transfers are considered other financing uses. This is across some of the 

departments where we are moving money from one fund to another. There will be a correlating 

revenue component that would be embedded within the department that would be receiving it.  

Six million is a transfer into capital outlay, which has no correlating appropriation request. This 

is for future saving for future investment and being able to have the cash when they need it for 

new projects. The remaining $140,000 is for the transfer into the animal control fund to offset the 

costs associated with the Humane Society and the interlocal agreement that they have with them. 

Councilman Henke said this did not appear on Schedule A and he would like to know how this 

fund gains revenue year over year. Jamie Arce said the transfer comes out of the general fund 

and the components associated with it are presented in one of the summary documents in the 

beginning of the Budget Book showing what they are projecting the cash balances to be at the 

beginning and at the end of the year. This is an automatic transfer to the outlay fund for future 

purposes. Councilman Henke asked does it ever accumulate. Jamie Arce said yes. 

Motion for tentative approval made by Councilman Fish, second by Councilman Crabtree. 

By a unanimous voice vote, the 2025 budget for Controller Department Non Departmental 

(General Fund Transfers) was tentatively approved. 

Discussion on the Controller Department Non Departmental (General Fund Transfers) budget 

ends at 1 hour, 55 minutes and 41 seconds of the audio recording. 

Human Resources (Page 30 of the Budget Book): 

Discussion on Human Resources Budget begins at 1 hour, 56 minutes and 00 seconds of the 

audio recording 

Wayne Belock, Director of Human Resources said, in 2024 they implemented mental 

management for training and negotiation of the contract with firefighters, cost reductions in 

workers compensation and risk management, streamlined the on boarding process payroll 

timekeeping functions. In 2025 they are looking to improve employee education and training 

opportunities, look into employee benefits and insurance programs and review and update job 

descriptions. They are not requesting any new positions and in non-personnel budget they are 

requesting the same funding as last year. 



DRAFT 
 

12 
 

Councilman Mishler asked if he could answer his earlier question about merit based increases. 

Wayne Belock responded, the last couple of years there has been a Cost of Living Adjustment 

hereafter, (COLA) component and a merit component with that. Therefore assuming the 4% and 

assuming inflation at 2% that the COLA would probably be around 2 % and the merit component 

would come out of that additional 2%. The ceiling would be 4% with both of them combined. 

Councilman Mishler asked if there is a work from home policy due to the lack of space in some 

departments. Wayne Belock replied the city does not have a formal work from home policy. 

There is some flexibility in some departments as far as for doctor appointments, etc. But as far as 

to satisfy space issues, that has not been addressed. Councilman Mishler said it might be 

something in the future for some of the roles where you just need a laptop and a phone. 

Chairman Dawson said he has seen the cramped spaces in the Annex and he thinks they need to 

be thinking about that in the future. 

Councilman Henke had some questions about the projected actual budget. Jamie Arce 

responded some of those things are timing issues and also flexibility in certain areas for training 

and contractual services. So if the need came up for mediation they would not have to delay the 

process due to moving funds. They are not providing unnecessary capacity which we did not 

have the intention of needing it to be used. They tried to implement that in all departments. They 

take every request for intra category transfers seriously. They analyze each one to understand 

why it is happening and how it aligns with the core components of Aspire. Councilman Henke 

said he is looking for a trend. On the full time line he questioned the amount and how it was 

under budgeted. Jamie Arce said there was a vacancy in the department so that made the 

baseline for the starting point for the budget lower as they had not identified a person to fill the 

position and the person who left was paid at a higher rate than a new employee would be paid 

initially. 

Motion for tentative approval made by Councilwoman Hines, second by Councilman Mishler. 

By a unanimous voice vote, the 2025 budget for Human Resources was tentatively 

approved. 

Discussion on the Human Resources budget ends at 2 hours, 07 minutes and 44 seconds of the 

audio recording. 

Information Technology 

General Fund (Page 38 of the Budget Book): 

Council discussion on the Information Technology General Fund begins at 2 hours, 08 minutes 

and 04 seconds of the audio recording. 

Jamie Arce said, he wanted to highlight that this is one of those funds where they split the fund 

between the cumulative capital development fund, which is more restrictive and the general fund 

and given some of the changes in the IT budget they made some transfers or changes in how 

those expenditures were going to be funded with the philosophy of spending the most restricted 

first trying to spend what they are receiving in the Cumulative Capital Development Fund so that 

it is not unnecessarily without at least a given purpose accumulating a reserve that they were 

spending that first. That is why you will see some transitions between account lines and the 



DRAFT 
 

13 
 

whole they should be noted within the Schedule A. It is essentially a flip flop in the software 

subscriptions and capital. 

James Gerald, Director of Information Technology said under the Aspire program, their 

initiatives span quality of place, infrastructure, and public safety. They are integrated with just 

about every department in the city. In 2024, the help desk tickets increased quickly and they 

mitigated international crowd strike outage within 4 hours for emergency services and 8 hours 

for the entire city. They have created new data centers and firewall which strengthen our 

foundation and cybersecurity and they have completed a unified phone system, phase one and 

assisted many departments in expanding their services, including the one Debra Barrett 

mentioned. In 2025 our focus is to continue to optimize and expand on the 2024 projects and to 

fine tune our cybersecurity through training of user awareness and security awareness. They will 

begin phase two of the phone project and expand it city-wide. They will also be renewing some 

of the service contracts for software. 

Councilman Mishler asked about the public Wi-Fi project, audio visual, and Audio-visual 

Technology hereafter, AV equipment. James Gerald said with the ever expanding events at the 

park they are expanding the coverage for everyone attending and also the vendors and it will 

encompass the whole area. They do a lot of events throughout the city and they are not always in 

a facility like the Lerner and with the AV equipment they have been able to do the events better 

like the Elkhart Grand Prix.  They are asking for better speakers and better microphones and a 

travel kit that’s purpose is for it to go to all the difference places there are events, for example, 

Let’s Talk Tuesday and ribbon cuttings so that things are done in a more professional manner. 

Councilman Mishler asked what happens to old personal computers, hereafter PC, once they 

are replaced. James Gerald replied old equipment goes on the asset disposal list and we get 

approval to destroy it. The hard drives contain sensitive material so those are shredded and they 

recycle the PC’s. 

Councilman Fish said since he has been on the council having a Wi-Fi on all up and down Main 

Street, what is the status of that.  James Gerald said currently Surf Internet has the wireless 

downtown and they are looking at ways to enhance that. It is very difficult with the lack of 

infrastructure regarding fiber down the street so they have to implement point to point and each 

time you go out a hop you lose half of the bandwidth. They are trying to supplement that by 

putting more fiber into different places. Councilman Fish asked do you have enough money to 

satisfy the need to the Main Street Wi-Fi. James Gerald replied they have enough money to do 

the targeted area but they would require additional funding to do it all and that does not include 

any equipment for security cameras at the Railroad Museum right now. Councilman Fish asked 

as a board member of the Friends of the Railroad Museum he is asking about the possibility of 

the board to raise funds for the project. James Gerald said they have a quote for the Railroad 

Museum but he is not sure if the budgeting is correct on that. Councilman Fish said he would 

like to get eyes on that as that is the Friends of the Museum’s defined goal. 

 

 



DRAFT 
 

14 
 

Councilwoman Hines asked if there is a way to partner with the schools to collaboration on 

funding for the Wi-Fi in the parks that are located around schools. James Gerald said yes that 

could be a possibility and he has had conversations with the Parks Department to look at those 

opportunities. In some cases they have been able to do that through hybrid Comcast fiber, but it 

is not as robust. 

Councilman Henke asked about an unbudgeted amount and asked what it was for. Jamie Arce 

replied it was a transfer of funds for and already existing project. Councilman Henke asked 

about membership dues and if it was a new membership for software purposes. Jamie Arce 

replied he can supply specifics and it may have been an expenditure that had been out of a 

different account line. He said as they go forward they will get better at getting line expenditures 

with the right amount. Councilman Henke is concerned about the under-funding of this account 

and asked how many breaches have you had in the last 12 months. James Gerald responded 

there are hundreds of attacks on a daily basis. With the initiatives that were put in they are able to 

prevent that. They are always evaluating new solutions. 

Councilman Mishler asked about adding security cameras in places like the River Walk and is 

that something that can happen with the current Wi-Fi and how costly that would be. James 

Gerald replied that would be costly and with the current infrastructure they do not currently 

have a way to accomplish that. They could get some cameras in those areas but they could not 

get complete coverage due to the restriction in band width under Comcast. 

Councilman Fish in the past we have had a presentation about fiber are you saying the network 

fiber is far from being complete. James Gerald said yes they are having internal conversations 

about how to expand that and they are working with the Elkhart County Highway Division to 

find fiscally responsible ways to get it to the most important sites in the city. Councilman Fish 

asked who is making it the priority. James Gerald replied it is a dual purpose they are going to 

put it where they need it for county purposes and if it happens to fall in line with some things 

they are doing and it happens to go down a street they are not interested in then they ask us for 

funding to do that. Councilman Fish asked do they have to have a separate conversation and a 

separate budget for a relationship with Surf Internet. James Gerald said they are open to any 

conversation but it is a leadership question and there has been no conversation or negotiation. 

Councilman Mishler asked if there has been any cooperation with the state or federal 

government regarding the bandwidth equity access and deployment program, the beat program. 

James Gerald replied not currently that has been brought to his attention. He would be willing 

to investigate. 

Jamie Arce as a follow up to Councilman Henke’s question regarding the subscriptions, it is a 

different account line into a new account line. 

Motion for tentative approval made by Councilman Crabtree, second by Councilwoman King. 

By a unanimous voice vote, the 2025 budget for Information Technology General Fund was 

tentatively approved. 

Discussion on the Information Technology General Fund budget ends at 2 hours, 26 minutes and 

10 seconds of the audio recording. 



DRAFT 
 

15 
 

Information Technology Cumulative Capital Development (Page 122 of the Budget Book): 

Discussion on the Information Technology Cumulative Capital Development budget begins at 2 

hours, 26 minutes and 37 seconds of the audio recording.  

Jamie Arce said this represents a large amount of transfers for Cumulative Capital, hereafter, 

(CUMUCAP) development that had previously been in the general fund and that are now being 

paid out of the cumulative capital development fund. The anticipation would be that similar to 

the Records Perpetuation Fund this would continue to keep this pace so they have a better 

trending and more easily identified year to year transactions to be able to review. 

Councilman Henke asked about the maintenance contract that does not appear on Schedule A. 

Jamie Arce said that may be part of the software subscriptions that is transitioning to the new 

budget line. Councilman Henke asked about the departments charging out its services. Does 

this department charge out its time? Jamie Arce said at this time we do not have any department 

doing a direct charge back to any other department. 

Councilman Fish asked is the IT department managing all of the software licenses for all 

departments.  James Gerald said yes IT is managing most of those subscriptions. Councilman 

Fish is there a plateau? James Gerald said he does believe it will taper off but it will never go 

down. He tries to negotiate and bundle software where he can and ask for discounts. 

Motion for tentative approval made by Councilman Mishler, second by Councilwoman Hines. 

By a unanimous voice vote, the 2025 budget for Information Technology Cumulative 

Capital Development was tentatively approved. 

Discussion on the Information Technology Cumulative Capital Development budget ends at 2 

hours, 33 minutes and 24 seconds of the audio recording. 

 

Public Safety 

Communications – Dispatch 

Department Budget (General Fund) (Page 44 of the Budget Book): 

Discussion on Communication – Dispatch Department (General Fund) begins at 3 hours, 40 

minutes and 15 seconds of the audio recording. 

Olivia Watkins, Assistant Department Head 911 Communications said they have created 

committees to update and solidify their department. They are hoping to replace their phone 

system which is nine (9) years old and the recommended replacement is five (5) years. They 

would like to increase their travel budget because many of the continuing education 

opportunities are not local and they need to be able to compensate for the travel and housing of 

their employees. 

Councilman Fish asked for an explanation of the proposed overtime category. Jamie Arce 

replied it was to accommodate the vacancies in staff that they had in their small department. As 



DRAFT 
 

16 
 

they get closer to full employment that will not be needed. He added that the Indiana FOP, which 

is the union the 911 dispatchers are part of is currently in negotiation as in past practice we have 

not included or embedded any raise. There may be a future ask once they get through 

negotiations and contract. 

Councilman Henke said he is not understanding the budget numbers on the full time account 

and the overtime account. It appears we are double covering. Jamie Arce said there may be 

some of that but at the end of the day we are adequately funding a major category that is unable 

to be used for purposes other than employment.  They took the position that they were not going 

to budget what 2023 actual was but also recognize there is a possibility that the staffing solutions 

do not come to fruition there could be additional overtime.  Councilman Henke said since the 

numbers for overtime are so high could there be another solution. Jamie Arce said keep in mind 

that the 911 dispatchers are part of a collective bargaining group so the flexibility is a little 

different than for a normal position. 

Councilman Curry asked how many positions are there to fill in this department.  Olivia 

Watkins replied there are three (3) 911 dispatchers and one administrative or training 

coordinator. Councilman Curry asked do we pay time and a half or any double time. Olivia 

Watkins replied, just time and a half for now. 

Councilman Henke asked about the professional services line is that an annual rate and there is 

no expected other expense on that line. Jamie Arce replied, that is correct. Councilman Henke 

questioned the amount of travel in the department and if they can predict how much travel that 

can be expected. Olivia Watkins replied yes. Councilman Henke asked about the numbers in 

the maintenance contract line. Jamie Arce replied, there has been no change in the requested 

amount but we felt comfortable giving some extra capacity if needed going forward. 

Councilman Henke asked does that mean they have paid the annual premium in the first six (6) 

months. Jaime Arce replied, that is correct. 

Motion for tentative approval made by Councilman Mishler, second by Councilman Fish. 

By a unanimous voice vote, the 2025 budget for Communications-Dispatch Department 

(General Fund) was tentatively approved. 

Discussion on the Communications-Dispatch Department (General Fund) budget ends at 3 hours, 

50 minutes of the audio recording. 

Communications – E-911 (Page 98 of the Budget Book): 

Discussion on Communications – E-911 begins at 3 hours, 50 minutes and 04 seconds of the 

audio recording. 

Jamie Arce said, E-911 is part of the money they get from the county from the 911 fees. It has 

direct expenses that they can spend for it. It has been consistent with the past years. 

Councilman Henke asked have they negotiated with the county on revenues. Jamie Arce said 

he does not believe they have and he is not sure they are in a position to negotiate. Historically 

they have tried to work through the General Assembly regarding getting greater control over that 



DRAFT 
 

17 
 

component but by them being secondary, a second 911 facility within the county creates a unique 

situation.  

Motion for tentative approval made by Councilman Fish, second by Councilman Mishler. 

By a unanimous voice vote, the 2025 budget for Communications E-911 was tentatively 

approved. 

Discussion on the Communications –E-911 budget ends at 3 hours, 52 minutes and 23 seconds of 

the audio recording. 

Fire Department  

Department Budget (General Fund) (Page 40 of the Budget Book): 

Discussion on Fire Department – Department Budget (General Fund) begins at 3 hours, 52 

minutes and 46 seconds of the audio recording. 

Rodney Dale, Chief of the Elkhart City Fire Department, said in 2023 they had 9,777 runs 

and year to date they have about 7,300 and they are projecting over 10,000 for the year. The new 

contract, they went from 63rd for pay in the state to 24th and at the end of the contract they will be 

12th. And depending on the benefits package they will be in the top five with this contract. They 

need to hire four (4) people to honor the contract. He would like to get ahead of the hiring for 

Fire Station number 6.  

Councilman Fish said he does not see anything in the budget for scuba for the next year. Chief 

Dale replied, that is being moved so items will be under one umbrella. Jaime Arce replied this is 

part of the transition to the right type of account line, it is being moved to supplies. In 

anticipation of some changes with the State Board of Accounts, regulatory basis of accounting in 

which they are going to be auditing and reviewing transactions for appropriateness they are 

continuing their drive to match things to where they need to be. Councilman Fish asked if that 

was being driven by the State Board of Accounts. Jaime Arce replied it is being driven by 

generally accepted accounting principles where supplies are being paid out of the supplies group 

and not the service group. The State Board of Accounts has not taken exception to expenses 

being paid out of an incorrect category but the direction they are going with an enhanced 

regulatory basis of accounting will be looking to make sure that not only the expenses are 

correct, but they are coming out of the right group. Councilman Fish said it will not affect 

certifications? Chief Dale said they will still provide dive team services, the equipment will still 

be provided and they will still receive a stipend. The service will still stand. Councilman Fish 

said they will still allow the right number to be certified. Jamie Arce replied, the corresponding 

account line is specialty team’s supply. 

Councilman Mishler said the number in the physicals line has increased. Chief Dale said they 

had to budget for existing employees and they are taking into account the additional employees 

they are adding in 2025. They also have some bills that have to go downstate which are in the 

process of being paid so that is reflected in the numbers. 

 



DRAFT 
 

18 
 

Councilman Henke said, he sees the number of new firefighters at nine (9) where are those 

going to be used? Chief Dale replied, four (4) of the new hires are contractual and he is looking 

ahead to hire for the new fire station. Councilman Henke asked what other station moves are 

they anticipating? Chief Dale replied none due to the location of the new station, other stations 

that they had considered moving now do not need to be moved. They have a new training 

facility, they were approved to have fires off of County Road 9 where they already have a 

training facility, so they do not need another facility. Councilman Henke asked if there was a 

timeline for Fire Station 8. Chief Dale replied Fire Station number 6 is the only station that is 

currently needed due to the present layout of the city. Councilman Henke asked what does risk 

reduction mean. Jamie Arce replied, that is one of those account lines similar to the specialty 

team supplies they have transitioning from a service group to a supplies group to better match the 

type of expense. Councilman Henke asked about the overtime projection and how that is 

managed and controlled. Chief Dale replied overtime projection is tough because this year they 

had eight (8) people off on medical leave so those numbers are hard to predict. Currently they are 

understaffed they are trying to catch up on numbers. They have a minimum staffing need each 

day that has to be staffed and that is normally with overtime. To get the numbers where they 

need to be with Station 6 is 160 and that should stop the overtime. Jaime Arce said another 

component that they determined was important was the Fair Labor Standard Act hereafter, FLSA 

component that they are going to better control as part of the new agreement. The FLSA piece is 

the half time of any firefighter that works in excess of their 106 hours for the pay period. That 

had been blended into the overtime so the overtime numbers are a combination of the overtime 

and the overtime FLSA. The goal for the department is to better control FLSA and other 

overtime with the new contract it is a good way to measure the success of the contract and 

management. Councilman Henke asked if overtime was at double time or at one and a half. 

Rodney Dale replied the only time they get double time is when they are held over to work 

overtime. That occurs basically at the last minute. Councilman Henke asked if they discipline 

accordingly for the last minute call offs and the frequency of those. Chief Dale said yes, they 

have a time frame and they can be written up if they don’t. Councilman Henke asked about 

specialty hazard pay. Jamie Arce said part of that is realizing that the language of the contract 

defines that specialty pays get built into the hourly rate so currently they are being paid out of the 

full time line because that is the way the payroll process works and they are unable to roll it in at 

the moment as a specialty item. Councilman Henke asked about the office supply line and the 

changes. Jamie Arce said this could have been a request from the Controller’s office to combine 

account lines that were similar. Councilman Henke said since we have newer vehicles he would 

like an explanation of the higher cost in vehicle parts. Jamie Arce said the cost of the parts and 

supplies themselves has increased. Councilman Henke said what is included in the risk 

reduction supplies?  Chief Dale replied yes gloves, masks supplies for the schools, all of that. 

Councilman Henke what is the increase in travel? Chief Dale replied they had in travel for 

training, they had a new Technical Rescue Team, hereafter TRT and they had to be trained on 

operating the rig equipment. Councilman Henke asked did they not anticipate that much travel 

in last year’s budget. Chief Dale replied yes. Councilman Henke said if you add up the 

numbers they are over budget, why is that?  Chief Dale replied the majority of the cost of for 

new hires that includes the salary and all of their supplies and classes. It costs about $5,000 to 

hire a firefighter and that does not include salary and benefits which is another $100,000. 



DRAFT 
 

19 
 

Councilman Henke said that when he looks at the numbers there is still more money left in the 

budget. Jaime Arce said that some of that could be built into the personal services group there 

could be some capacity in the 2024 budget as compared to where they are at year to date. 

Councilman Henke said the police department gives money back to the city each year what 

does the fire department give back? Jamie Arce replied the numbers you are stating are not 

correct, he can provide that number on what the police and fire department give back. 

Councilman Henke said if he could get that number before the final vote that would be ok. 

Councilman Mishler asked about the increase in medical supplies and the narcotics previously 

provided by the hospital and why are they no longer provided. Have they attempted to find other 

suppliers? Chief Dale said that is a long story and he can provide the report as to why they are 

no longer supplying them. As far as other suppliers, Chief Sommers runs most of the Emergency 

Medical Supplies and these numbers are the best costs they can get. Councilman Mishler asked 

about grants and if other options have been explored. Chief Dale replied they have not looked 

into any grants that he is aware of but they would definitely be willing to do that. 

Councilman Holtz said the social security line stood out to him and he wondered why that 

bounces around. Jamie Arce replied the fire department, the sworn firefighters do not participate 

in social security. The previous chief was considered a civilian chief and he was subject to social 

security the administrative staff would be subject to social security and Medicare as well, that is 

similar for police officers.  

Councilman Crabtree can you give us an overview of the age of the vehicles. Chief Dale 

replied, they have just received some newer vehicles and they are looking to replace. There is a 

2001 at Station 5 right now and they are looking to bring water back downtown a National Fire 

Protection Agency hereafter, NFPA, pumper means 500 gallons with cross lays back downtown 

starting in January, that is a 2009.  They have two (2) squads that are 2015’s and 2016’s, it can 

take up to two (2) years to get a fire truck now. They have a couple that they may be able to 

scoop up. With the cost of repairs and the annual cost increasing the repair line has increased. 

Councilman Henke asked how many aerial truck they have. Chief Dale said he thinks they have 

three (3), only one is in service. Councilman Henke said can he get the number of hours a truck 

runs. Chief Dale said he can give the years that is the way the fire service discusses apparatus. A 

pumper should be able to get 10 years out of it. If they could get a couple of new pumpers and 

get their 15’s and 16’s in reserve that would give them an excellent fleet. A pumper gets about 

10 to 12 years, a ladder truck 15 to 20 but that depends on how busy they are and how it is used. 

The numbers come from the NFPA as a guideline. 

Motion for tentative approval made by Councilwoman Hines, second by Councilman Crabtree. 

By a unanimous voice vote, the 2025 budget for Fire Department (General Fund) was 

tentatively approved. 

Discussion on the Fire Department budget ends at 4 hours, 15 minutes and 31 seconds of the 

audio recording. 

 



DRAFT 
 

20 
 

Department Budget (PS LIT (Payroll)) (Page 84 of the Budget Book) 

Discussion on the Fire Department-Department Budget (PS LIT Payroll)) begins at 4 hours 15 

minutes and 33 seconds of the audio recording. 

Jamie Arce said this is public safety, this is the 20% component of the Fire Department payroll. 

It is an 80/20 split between the general fund and Public Safety Local Income Tax, hereafter LIT. 

Councilman Henke said this is the total cost of the Elkhart Fire Department because it is 

covered by Local Option Income Tax, hereafter LOIT that is covered by the payroll component. 

Jamie Arce said yes. Councilman Henke asked has there been any suggestions about having 

the Public Safety LOIT removed or reduced. Is there any discussion about this at the state level? 

Jamie Arce replied, not that he is aware of. 

Motion for tentative approval made by Councilman Crabtree, second by Councilman Mishler. 

By a unanimous voice vote, the 2025 budget for Fire Department (PS LIT (Payroll)) was 

tentatively approved. 

Discussion on the Fire Department (PS LIT (Payroll)) budget ends at 4 hours, 17 minutes and 7 

seconds of the audio recording. 

Cumulative Fire Equipment (Capital Only) (Page 124 of the Budget Book): 

Discussion on the Fire Department Cumulative Fire Equipment Budget begins at 4 hours, 17 

minutes and 30 seconds of the audio recording. 

Councilman Fish said he sees the radios are on Schedule A and years ago they discussed all of 

the radios they were buying and it was discussed about 900 MHz and these are still 800 MHz 

Chief Dale said yes, to the best of his knowledge the radios are still 800 MHz He said he can get 

him a full report on that and why they need them. Councilman Fish said they are not moving to 

900 MHz as was discussed? Chief Dale replied not that he is aware of, everyone else would have 

to go to that for communication. Councilman Fish said they would have an off line conversation 

about the radios. 

Councilman Henke questioned the irrigation system and replacement of the carpeting at Central 

Station which is coming out of the Fire Cumulative, repair and maintenance and he is wondering 

if it is coming out of the correct account? Chief Dale replied the goal at the Central Station is to 

eliminate the carpeting because of the upkeep and repair and maintenance of it. They would like 

to tear it up and replace it. Councilman Henke said he thought it should come out of general 

repair and maintenance as opposed to Fire Cumulative. 75% of the ambulance fees go into the 

cumulative fund. He asked about the utility tractor and if they had one.  Chief Dale stated no 

they do not but that they were trying to obtain one.  He said since they are now able to do burns 

at the training tower, they need to get some boxes for that and be able to move the debris around 

after the training.   Councilman Henke stated so they have not had one, is there not another 

department that could provide?  Chief Dale stated that they have not had the training facility 

locally, so there has not been a need for one. Councilman Henke questioned the $55,000 for a 

new Tahoe, paramedic response.  Chief Dale said that is for the Whole Blood program.  He said 

that is another whole conversation and he can get that information to him. He went on to say that 

they are trying to respond and help out without taking an Advanced Life Support ambulance out 



DRAFT 
 

21 
 

of service.  Councilman Henke asked and how often would that happen?  Chief Dale stated it is 

a new thing, but some cities around us are doing it.  He said some of the larger cities around us 

are doing it like South Bend, Indianapolis and Ft. Wayne.  He said he did not have numbers, but 

would get them to him. Councilman Henke said he has seen a large red 16 passenger van…  

Chief Dale said that van is pretty old and they are looking to replace that.  Councilman Henke 

also asked about the red bus and what happened to that?  Chief Dale said he was not sure.  

Jamie Arce stated that the bus was red tagged because anything over 16 passengers requires a 

different type of CDL.  Councilman Henke asked what the Plymovent System was.  Chief Dale 

said that is the breathing system that when the trucks pull into the station, it comes down and 

connects to the trucks and catches the exhaust.  Councilman Henke asked how firefighter 

instructor gear differs from regular gear. Chief Dale said they have instructors that help out with 

the rookie class every year and it gets pretty intense because they are training the rookies at the 

highest level to try and get them fire training.  He said because of that, they are going through 

more fires in a rookie class than they actually would throughout the year. This helps save their 

regular gear for when they are on shift.    

 

Motion for tentative approval made by Councilwoman Hines, second by Councilman Fish. 

 

By a unanimous voice vote, the 2025 budget for Cumulative Fire Equipment was 

tentatively approved. 

 

Discussion on the Cumulative Fire Equipment Budget ends at 4 hours, 22 minutes and 34 

seconds of the audio recording.  

Fire Pension (Page 138 of the Budget Book): 

Discussion on the Fire Pension starts at 4 hours, 22 minutes and 40 seconds of the audio 

recording. 

Jamie Arce stated the police and fire pensions are for pensioners that had participated in the 

1955 plan or earlier in which we still have an obligation to pay. He went on to say that there is a 

relief payment that the city receives to offset that amount for a net zero difference for all intents 

and purposes.  He said generally they would expect this to continue to decline as the participants, 

surviving spouses or other dependents that still qualify to receive the payment under this plan fall 

off; they will continue to see it dwindle.   

 

Councilman Mishler asked about the number of participants in this program. Jamie Arce stated 

he would have to get those numbers.  

 

Motion for tentative approval made by Councilman Fish, second by Councilman Mishler.   

 

By a unanimous voice vote, the 2025 budget for Fire Pension was tentatively approved.     

 

Discussion on the Fire Pension budget ends at 4 hours, 24 minutes and 14 seconds of the audio 

recording. 

 

 



DRAFT 
 

22 
 

Police Department 

Department Budget (General Fund) (Page 46 of the Budget Book): 

Discussion on the Police Department General Fund budget starts at 4 hours, 24 minutes and 43 

seconds of the audio recording. 

Dan Milanese, Chief of the Elkhart Police Department gave an opening statement that 

included how long he has been with the police department and how long he has been in his 

current role.  In his statement he said that they have 147 employees in his department and not all 

of them are sworn officers.  He said as of today, they are approximately 21 officers short and are 

working diligently to recruit and they will see some of that reflected in the budget today.    

Councilman Henke said if he were to amortize/pro rate the six (6) months and then add on the 

request under Personal Services, it remains $1,646,206 under budget of over ask.  He asked to 

that level, let’s say it is 10%, what do we anticipate or is that just for place holding?  Jamie Arce 

replied that he thinks a good component of that had been they were budgeting for vacancies 

sworn police officers and budgeting all of them at a potential for family plan. He stated that is 

one thing they have changed for the police department this year; instead of budgeting them at the 

highest rate, they are taking a different approach and philosophy that the new hires are more 

likely to be single.  Councilman Henke said for Operational Supplies he is at $369,202 and it is 

37% above that.  He just wondered, maybe it is difficult to budget something that is 

uncontrollable.  Chief Milanese stated one of their concepts on that was they were not really 

sure what was going to happen with inflation.  He said it has been a very difficult thing to 

anticipate much like travel. He said he knows that there was a question earlier about travel with 

the fire department.  They have seen a significant increase in costs, not necessarily in travel but 

with them having newer officers that they have to train and sending them to training, but an 

increase in the cost of travel itself.  Councilman Henke asked if his department used the same 

travel guides as everyone else.  Chief Milanese said they are all under the same umbrella.  

Councilman Henke raised concerns about this department being $2 Million dollars over budget.  

Jamie Arce stated that last year, the police department returned $378,000 to the general fund. 

Councilman Henke asked the $1.7 Million is the annual increase/contractual increase that is 

what that represents because he does not see an increase for new positions.  Jamie Arce stated 

that is correct and that would be taking those new positions into account.   

 

Motion for tentative approval made by Councilman Fish, second by Councilman Crabtree. 

 

By a unanimous vote, the 2025 budget for Police Department General Fund was tentatively 

approved.   

 

Discussion on the department general fund budget ends at 4 hours, 36 minutes and 36 seconds of 

the audio recording. 

 

 

 

 



DRAFT 
 

23 
 

Department Budget (PS LIT (Payroll)) (Page 86 of the Budget Book): 

Discussion on the PS LIT budget starts at 4 hours, 36 minutes and 39 seconds of the audio 

recording. 

Jamie Arce stated that this is going to be similar to our fire department in which they will be 

handling the 80% and in some cases they will see some decreases just because of clean-up as 

they were not consistent on the 80/20 split.   

 

Motion for tentative approval made by Councilman Fish, second by Councilwoman Hines. 

 

By a unanimous voice vote, the 2025 budget for PS LIT was tentatively approved. 

 

Discussion on the PS LIT budget ends at 4 hours, 37 minutes and 20 seconds of the audio 

recording.  

Law Enforcement Education (Page 76 of the Budget Book): 

Discussion on the Law Enforcement budget starts at 4 hours, 37 minutes and 23 seconds of the 

audio recording.  

Jamie Arce stated that this remains unchanged and is used for education and travel purposes.   

 

Motion for tentative approval made by Councilman Crabtree, second by Councilman Holtz.   

 

Councilman Fish asked what the income stream is for this.  Jamie Arce stated it is a user fee 

that is not tax based from the public.  He said it used to be the gun permits when the State of 

Indiana had gun permits and it is also the accident record reports.   

 

Councilman Henke asked how does this budget fund #2228 travel/education in conjunction 

with or differ from budget fund #1101.  Jamie Arce stated this would be in addition too.  

Councilman Henke had concerns about the current budget verses what is asked for in this 

budget.  Jamie Arce said that is more of an administrative direction that they need to provide.  

He said those are claims that they can change and transfer them into the Law Enforcement 

Education fund to make sure that they are using more restricted money first.  Councilman 

Henke said if he looks at education it bumps them up dramatically over trend and he just wanted 

to know if they expect that many new hires that they have to buffer that?  He said if that was the 

case, he could understand that.  Chief Milanese stated that there is a concern because they have 

hired thirteen (13) new officers this year and they have twelve (12) in the academy, twelve (12) 

in our field training program right now.  He said these are the biggest classes they have seen 

since pre COVID.  He said they are actually anticipating an increase when it comes training.  

Councilman Henke asked if we are tracking turnover rate on how many new hires do not stay 

on or make the grade to become a full time officer.  Chief Milanese stated that they do track that 

information. He said he does not have that information with him but he will get it over to them.   

 

Councilman Fish asked since this is not a general fund income stream, is it contractual?  Jamie 

Arce stated no it is not a contractual item. 

 



DRAFT 
 

24 
 

Motion for tentative approval made by Councilwoman Hines, second by Councilman Fish. 

 

By a unanimous voice vote, the 2025 budget for Law Enforcement Education was 

tentatively approved.   

 

Discussion on the Law Enforcement Education budget ends at 4 hours, 41 minutes and 34 

seconds of the audio recording. 

Animal Control Ordinance Fund (Page 114 of the Budget Book): 

Discussion on the Animal Control Ordinance fund starts at 4 hours, 41 minutes and 39 seconds 

of the audio recording. 

Jamie Arce said the primary component is our annual payment as part of the Interlocal 

Agreement with the Human Society.  The other components are for the purchase of animal 

license tags, which also run through this fund along with postage if needed. 

 

Councilman Henke asked about the revenue; he said it is licensing and what else?  Jamie Arce 

stated revenue in this fund is from any ordinance violations from the animal control component, 

memberships to the dog park and the licenses associated with pets.  Councilman Henke said it 

had been the Greater Elkhart fund is that no longer the case?  Jamie Arce said that fund is not 

this fund.  Councilman Henke asked all of those make up this total amount?  Jamie Arce said 

no, they will be subsidizing the majority of this from the general fund.   

 

Motion for tentative approval made by Councilman Fish, second by Councilman Mishler. 

 

By a unanimous voice vote, the 2025 budget for Animal Control was tentatively approved.  

 

Discussion on the Animal Control Ordinance budget ends at 4 hours, 43 minutes and 35 seconds 

of the audio recording.  

Police Pension (Page 140 of the Budget Book): 

Discussion on the Police Pension budget starts at 4 hours, 43 minutes and 37 seconds of the 

audio recording. 

Jamie Arce said similar to the conversation with the fire pension, this is the police pension and it 

is covered through a relief payment from the state that they receive bi-annually.  

 

Motion for tentative approval made by Councilman Fish, second by Councilman Crabtree. 

 

By a unanimous voice vote, the 2025 budget for Police Pension was tentatively approved.  

 

Discussion on the police pension ends at 4 hours, 44 minutes and 24 seconds of the audio 

recording. 

 

 



DRAFT 
 

25 
 

Infrastructure 

Central Garage (Page 88 of the Budget Book): 

Discussion on the Central Garage budget starts at 4 hours, 45 minutes and 04 seconds of the 

audio recording. 

Josh Holt, Central Garage Fleet Manager provided an opening statement. He said he has 11 

full-time techs, 2 full-time parts attendants, 1 full-time office manager and 1 part-time parts 

runner. He said that the Central Garage supports nearly every department in the city.  He said 

that the 11 techs maintain 98% of all city owned equipment. He stated that since the first of the 

year, they had 2,440 work orders that were opened, repaired and completed through August and 

accounts for 7,631 man hours up to that point. He said that with outside shops reaching an 

average of $150 an hour and some shops higher than that, because of what they do at the shop, 

they have saved the city almost $864,000 as of one month ago. He said that they have reduced 

insurance costs related to claims by 32% and that is a huge undertaking.  He said he has a policy 

that if they buy a trailer, they get rid of a trailer.  So far this year, he said they have gotten rid of 

4 trailers.  He has implemented monthly meetings with all the departments to address their needs, 

what they want, what they think the shop should do and all of the things that are associated with 

the garage.  He said in 2025, with their budget request, they plan to continue their efforts by not 

just maintaining the status quo, but about strategically positioning the garage to meet future 

challenges efficiently and effectively.  He is poised to continue to provide unparalleled service 

and level to the constituents and to the public.  

 

Councilman Fish thanked him for the work on the Nibco Flyer.  He said that he sees some of 

the costs have gone up fairly dramatically.  He asked is that marketplace costs?   

 

Josh Holt stated that is marketplace costs, and one of the things that he wanted to address was 

the fact that next year, the insurance costs are tentatively going up.  He said they do not know 

that for sure and that is the key as to whether he can return all of this money back to the general 

fund next year that they did not need.  He stated that right now the city pays a $1,000 deductible 

for every accident that is turned into insurance and last year, they had 22 accidents that were 

deductible related.  He said $1,000 is manageable in their budget now, but if it goes to $5,000 or 

more he wants to be in a position that he does not have to come back to the Council for more 

money.  Councilman Fish thanked him for his anticipation and asked when does he expect the 

insurance increase?  Josh Holt stated that the increase would be at the first of the year.  Jamie 

Arce went on to say that they are in the stage of the year where they are working with the broker 

but the communication between the safety and risk manager and the garage has indicated that the 

insurance company is uncomfortable with the $1,000 deductible and is pushing the $5,000 

deductible for property.     

 

Councilman Mishler asked Josh to walk him through the new Assistant Fleet Manager position.  

Josh Holt said as the fleet is growing, so are their garage responsibilities along with the demands 

to managing daily operations which have grown significantly.  He went on to say that an 

assistant would greatly enhance their efficiency by helping him with essential administrative 

tasks, scheduling, inventory management, purchasing other capitals and starting other programs 

that he would like to focus on.  He said it would help him focus on strategic oversight and 

improve workflow throughout the shop and parts department to prevent downtime.    



DRAFT 
 

26 
 

 

Councilman Henke asked for the rolling stock numbers for the year.  Josh Holt stated he does 

not have it with him but can get him any numbers he needs.  Councilman Henke asked how 

many vans the city owns.  Josh Holt asked him if he was talking about passenger vans or work 

vans.  Councilman Henke replied passenger vans.  Josh Holt replied as far he knew the only 

two (2) in the city; one is fire and one is the Tolson bus but he stated that one is going away.  

Councilman Henke asked what the value of that van was today.  Josh Holt said if he had to 

guess, $5,000 at the most.  Councilman Henke said you stated that you had gotten rid of four 

(4) trailers.  What is the process of getting rid of those?  Where did they go?  Josh Holt stated 

they to go an auction.  He said they get authorization through the Board of Works to get rid of 

items like that.  He said he uses two (2) auction houses in the area and then it goes on the internet 

and it is nationwide.  Councilman Henke asked where those funds are returned too.  Jamie 

Arce stated that it is returned to the fund that would have born the cost and if it is unknown, then 

it goes to the general fund.   Councilman Henke expressed concerns about how tight this budget 

is.  He mentioned the repairs and maintenance line prorated it would be $12,000 but asking for 

$40,000.  Josh Holt stated they are hoping to build a lean-to on one of the properties to keep 

stuff out of the weather.  He said it is more like a roof storage thing than a lean-to.  Councilman 

Henke asked about the increased amount for memberships and dues.  He said prorated it would 

be $3,700 but, the request is $15,000.  He said he was not sure if this was a timing issue but that 

seemed pretty expensive.  He asked if there were new memberships or dues coming that were not 

anticipated.  Jamie Arce said his initial response is that it is going to be a timing related annual 

fee.   

 

Motion for tentative approval made by Councilman Mishler, second by Councilman Henke. 

 

By a unanimous voice vote, the 2025 budget for the Central Garage was tentatively 

approved. 

 

Discussion on the Central Garage budget ends at 4 hours, 59 minutes and 29 seconds of the audio 

recording. 

Engineering Department Budget (General Fund) (Page 50 of the Budget Book): 

Discussion on the Engineering budget starts at 4 hours, 59 minutes and 49 seconds of the audio 

recording. 

Tory Irwin, Director of Public Works and City Engineer, provided an opening statement.  He 

said the Engineering Department has three (3) full-time employees and they are paid through the 

Civil City.  One is an assistant City Engineer, one is a project inspector and one is the GIS 

technician.  GIS are the employees that do all the mapping and contain all of the data for the 

entire city.  He said some of the highlights from this year, they replaced 109 sidewalk ramps 

through the Americans with Disabilities Act (hereafter ADA) budget that are now ADA 

compliant.  They have paved 20.1 lane miles through the Community Crossing Matching Grant 

(hereafter CCMG) Roadway Program.  He said they also partnered with the railroad to rehab or 

reconstruct twelve (12) different railroad crossings and they constructed about 3,000 feet of 

multi-use paths on Benham.  He said in 2025 as they focus on their Aspire projects, the Bristol 

Street widening will start, they will have new traffic signals on County Road 6 at 

Decio/Northland.  He stated that they are doing some major street conversions downtown as they 



DRAFT 
 

27 
 

start to work on projects down there and start converting our one-ways to two-ways.  He went on 

to say that they will also continue to improve the non-vehicular routes with expansions of path 

networks, bike lanes, ADA ramps and pedestrian corridors.   

 

Councilman Henke said he would only suggest that the Schedule A identifies the questions.   

 

Motion for tentative approval made by Councilman Crabtree, second by Councilwoman Hines. 

 

By unanimous voice vote, the 2025 budget for Engineering was tentatively approved. 

 

Discussion on the Engineering budget ends at 5 hours, 02 minutes and 09 seconds of the audio 

recording 

Cumulative Sewer Fund (Page 126 of the Budget Book): 

Discussion on the Cumulative Sewer budget starts at 5 hours, 02 minutes and 18 seconds of the 

audio recording. 

Motion for tentative approval made by Councilman Fish, second by Councilwoman Hines. 

 

Councilman Henke stated that if he prorated it would be $120,000 but $250,000 is budgeted.  

Tory Irwin replied that these are their small drainage projects that they use throughout the city 

to improve drainage and they do not fit in the month by month category of things.  He went on to 

say that they have five (5) of them that have been awarded and are all going to be under 

construction this fall, so by the end of this year, that money will be gone.  Councilman Henke 

asked about the transfer to other funds, it says $520,682 but it does not identify where it went.  

Jamie Arce stated that was an error that was identified as part of the last audit in which there 

was a receipting error into the wrong fund and the corrective action was a transfer from this fund 

to the correct fund.   

 

By a unanimous voice vote, the 2025 budget for Cumulative Sewer was tentatively 

approved. 

 

Discussion on the Cumulative Sewer budget ends at 5 hours, 03 minutes and 51 seconds of the 

audio recording. 

EDIT (Trash & ADA) (Page 132 of the Budget Book): 

Discussion on the EDIT budget starts at 5 hours, 04 minutes and 07 seconds of the audio 

recording. 

Motion for tentative approval made by Councilman Fish, second by Councilman Crabtree. 

Councilman Henke asked when the last time was the trash service was bid or a house count 

taken now that there have been quite a few demolitions. Tory Irwin said, he was sorry, was he 

asking about trash or demolitions? Councilman Henke replied he was asking about trash based 

on total count.  Tory Irwin stated he did not have a good answer and would have to dig into that.  

He did state that he knows that fluctuations have been that substantial that the numbers on the 

trash side are going to change.  He does know that if there is a new address it gets added but is 



DRAFT 
 

28 
 

unsure of the process on how they get subtracted out. Councilman Henke stated that is his 

concern on how addresses get subtracted out.  Tory Irwin replied he would check into that.     

 

Councilman Curry said that he noticed Borden’s was bought out by another company and 

wanted to see if they had made contact with that other company to negotiation a better price. 

Tory Irwin stated just so the council knows, the Borden’s contract is up next year (2025).  There 

is an option for a three (3) year renewal if both parties agree.  He said they have sent the new 

company a letter asking them to renew the contract.  He went on to say that in 2019 the contract 

was locked in for six (6) years at 2 ½ to 3% increase per year.  He is very hopeful but, 

pessimistic that they will agree to honor the extension.  He said if they do not, then we will have 

to go back out to bid about this time next year for a new trash contract.   

 

By unanimous voice vote, the 2025 budget for EDIT was tentatively approved. 

 

Discussion on the EDIT budget ends at 5 hours, 06 minutes and 51 seconds of the audio 

recording. 

Street Department  

Motor Vehicle Highway (Page 56 of the Budget Book): 

Discussion on the Motor Vehicle Highway budget starts at 5 hours, 07 minutes and 09 seconds 

of the audio recording. 

Mike Szucs, Street Commissioner provided an opening statement.  He stated that he has 51 

full-time employees and one part-time guy. He said they usually have about six (6) to seven (7) 

seasonal people that are there for six (6) months and then they try and re-up them during leaf 

season because that is twice a year. He then bragged on some of the things that they have done 

this past year.  He started with the traffic division; he said they have been kind of a support group 

for almost every contractor and every other department. He said to piggyback on the ADA 

ramps, there are a lot of pedestrian crossing buttons and things that have to been done that the 

traffic division handles.  He said they do a lot with the County Highway on County Road 17 with 

the signal adjustments and State Road 19 when they did California Road, there were some loops 

that had to be cut in and they did that all in house. He said they also worked with Michiana Area 

Council of Governments (hereafter MACOG) on a bike counter on the River Walk.   He moved 

on to the heavy equipment crews and sweeper crews.  He said that for the last 2 ½ years, they 

have been out and swept every day.  He said the street sweepers never stop going. He said they 

also help the other crews with site prep, they grade alleys and they worked with Buildings and 

Grounds when the tornado hit the South Central side of town.  He said the concrete crew is 

trying to connect the dots in a lot of the school zones as well as throughout the city where there 

are sidewalks that do not connect.  He said they will be over 1,300 cubic yards of concrete this 

year and there is 1,400 square foot of curbing that has been replaced or repaired.  He went on to 

say that they have done about 14,000 foot of sidewalk this year and that is amazing.  The asphalt 

crew; on Johnson Street he said that they probably saved the city $750,000 by doing that in 

house and not having that contracted or tore out.  He stated by the end of next month when they 

finish up paving season, they will have put down 30% more asphalt this year than last year which 

was their biggest year.  He finished up his opening statement by saying that they have three (3) 

slogans at the street department; the first one is kind of a joke; we name names, second is they 



DRAFT 
 

29 
 

like to try and do more with less and the third one is “you should get up every morning and come 

to work not thinking, oh man, I have to go in and do that, you get to come in and do that.”     

 

Councilman Fish thanked Mike and his crews for all that they do.  He said on the double 

overtime line, all of a sudden it appears, he asked for an explanation as to why?  Mike Szucs 

said that they did not anticipate working on Good Friday or Election Day and that was partially 

his fault which he does not see happening next year.  He did say that there are some holidays that 

they have to work on.  Like he anticipates them working on New Year’s Day again, and then 

there is the turkey run on Thanksgiving Day.  He said it is a union requirement.  Councilman 

Fish stated so this is for the odd moments when your crew is out there.  Mike Szucs said yes and 

any holiday event, any parade; that is double time.  Councilman Fish asked if he was seeing the 

general increase in supplies and equipment like all the other departments.  Mike Szucs replied 

yes for the most part but not a whole lot though.   

 

Councilman Mishler asked about the $475,000 increase to reflect the establishment of a new 

account for outside services previously included in paving material supplies.  Mike Szucs said 

that is something that Jamie set up for them this year.  He stated if their milling company comes 

in to mill, it is $6,000 per day, so this is just coinciding with all of those outside things.   

 

Councilman Henke said it was increased to reflect establishment of new account outside 

previously for paving material supplies.  He asked is that paving material or is that separate?  

Mike Szucs stated that was asphalt.  Councilman Henke said he sees that line number 4360310 

now has a budget, but he also sees paving materials in line number 4230111, how is that 

separate?  Jamie Arce stated that the easiest way would be to say that if they were not removing 

$475,000 of milling and other contracted services from paving materials, the request would have 

been $675,000.  Councilman Henke said but collectively it is a paving material?  Jamie Arce 

replied no it is not.  It is a service in which they outsource to have someone come in and mill up 

the road, so it is not us doing the work or buying the material to do the work.  Councilman 

Henke asked which one of the two is the outsourced.  Jamie Arce stated the repairs and 

maintenance of streets is a contracted service, which is where the milling service is being 

budgeted out of and that is the transition of the $475,000.  He went on to say that this aligns with 

what they have discussed previously with other departments and aligning the type of expenditure 

with the appropriate major category.  Councilman Henke said he is looking at total supplies and 

it is a small number, landscaping that was evidently not anticipated.  He asked is it actual cost or 

is it actually that much production that created that cost?  He also asked was it just a lot more 

work done that had landscaping involved or was it the cost increase of the landscaping itself?  

Mike Szucs said it was in house projects that they completed themselves and that he anticipates 

to complete again next year.  Councilman Henke asked for paving materials, do they contract 

when the systems open, when the paving supplier is open, do they have a contract or do they 

invoice it per project.  Mike Szucs stated that it is a materials bid that they use.  He said 

whatever they use daily, they get billed daily.  Jamie Arce said that they do get it at a set rate 

because at the beginning of the year, there is a materials bid packet that goes out and they solicit 

bids of all types of materials that the street department is going to need and asphalt is one of 

those.  He said they do get a fixed price per ton.  Mike Szucs said that by them moving the 

materials bid up sooner, they got a cheaper rate because they could buy oils and their other 

chemicals earlier.  He did say that next year they are planning a 7% increase.  Councilman 

Henke asked about the traffic supply budget stating that they are budgeted $10,000 under what 



DRAFT 
 

30 
 

would be the current prorated budget; he asked if that was a controllable cost?  Mike Szucs 

stated that part of that was the tornado sirens that needed replaced.  He said those were 30 apiece 

and now that they are all operable and working, it will just be regular maintenance.  Councilman 

Henke asked about the equipment lease line and said that prorated it would be $19,294 and they 

are asking for $16,000, he asked if that was an invoice timing issue.  Mike Szucs said not really.  

He said they rent a broom when they mill and the cost of that went up.  He said the one that they 

have is a backup that they use only in emergencies when the company’s breaks down. 

Councilman Henke said he would like to know what all is in other services because if he 

prorates that one, it is also under budgeted.  Jamie Arce stated that for departments that they 

have allowed to have this account that gets used for one off expenditures that they do not have an 

already readily identified account line that it would go with.     

 

Motion for tentative approval made by Councilman Fish, second by Councilman Mishler. 

 

By a unanimous voice vote, the 2025 budget for Motor Vehicle Highway was tentatively 

approved. 

 

Discussion on the Motor Vehicle Highway budget ends at 5 hours, 27 minutes and 01 seconds of 

the audio recording. 

 

Local Roads & Streets (Page 60 of the Budget Book): 

Discussion on the Local Road & Streets budget starts at 5 hours, 27 minutes and 02 seconds of 

the audio recording. 

Motion for tentative approval made by Councilman Fish, second by Councilman Holtz. 

Councilman Henke said again on paving, this is a separate account based on the funding 

mechanism?  Jamie Arce stated that is correct.   

 

By a unanimous voice vote, the 2025 budget for Local Roads & Streets was tentatively 

approved.   

 

Discussion on the Local Roads & Streets budget ends at 5 hours, 27 minutes and 36 seconds of 

the audio recording. 

 

Riverboat Gaming Fund (Page 82 of the Budget Book): 

Discussion on the Riverboat Gaming Fund starts at 5 hours, 27 minutes and 45 seconds of the 

audio recording. 

Motion for tentative approval made by Councilman Mishler, second by Councilman Fish. 

Councilman Henke asked about the funding mechanism.  Jamie Arce stated this is a funding 

mechanism that they use to continue the same level of service that the street department has been 

providing.  He said as he will discuss next, the Cumulative Capital Improvement which has long 

been the funder of the sidewalk program.  He said they have successfully spent that down to the 

point where they will now only be able to utilize the anticipated revenue coming in and so this is 



DRAFT 
 

31 
 

the strategy that they are using to fund the additional projects.  Councilman Henke said this is 

riverboat gaming, which used to be a pretty broad use fund and now we are using specifically to 

catch up on paving material.  Jamie Arce stated that the eligible uses are any of the government 

services.  

 

By a unanimous voice vote, the 2025 Riverboat Gaming budget was tentatively approved. 

 

Discussion on the Riverboat Gaming Fund ends at 5 hours, 29 minutes and 20 seconds of the 

audio recording.  

 

Cumulative Capital Improvement (Sidewalk Program) (Page 120 of the Budget Book): 

Discussion on Cumulative Capital Improvement starts at 5 hours, 29 minutes and 22 seconds of 

the audio recording. 

Motion for tentative approval made by Councilman Crabtree, second by Councilman Fish. 

Councilman Fish said he sees the strategy that he is going with, will there be a time where they 

change some of these funds to a different purpose? He said going back to the Riverboat Fund 

that is pretty healthy right now. Jamie Arce stated it has some cash reserves. 

 

By a unanimous voice vote, the 2025 Cumulative Capital Improvement budget was 

tentatively approved.   

 

Discussion on the Cumulative Capital Improvement budget ends at 5 hours, 30 minutes and 24 

seconds of the audio recording.   

 

 

Neighborhoods  

 

Parks & Recreation Fund (Page 62 of the Budget Book): 

Discussion on the Parks & Recreation budget starts at 5 hours, 31 minutes and 02 seconds of the 

audio recording. 

Jamison Czarnecki, Superintendent Elkhart City Parks and Recreation, this year our budget 

is reflected toward cost recovery. They have dropped significantly in our capital requests. They 

are focusing on some new staff positions, one focusing on Customer Service and the business 

side of the department and another moving from part time to full time. The person who is 

moving from part time to full time will be focusing on grant writing, professional services 

throughout the overall operations. Some updates for 2024 were the Walker Park new playground 

equipment, Island Park disc golf-park. In 2025 we plan to update some playground equipment, 

improvements at High Dive Park and they are purchasing a new Zamboni and they may have a 

sponsor for that. 

Councilman Mishler asked for more detail about the Elliott Park portion. Jamison Czarnecki 

said Elliott Park has been closed for a number of years and it needs to be reopened for them to be 

in compliance with the DNR. Also, the donors who gave us the property have been wanting it to 



DRAFT 
 

32 
 

be reopened. They have put new guidelines in place to ensure the park will be monitored more 

effectively and the park will be safer. 

The recording stops at 5 hours, 35 minutes and 16 seconds due to a technical issue and it 

resumed at 5 hours, 58 minutes and 41 seconds.  

Councilman Henke said he appreciates that this is a growing department and suggests that the 

board dive deep into the progressive growth of the department as it relates to its quality and cost 

to the public. 

Motion for tentative approval made by Councilman Fish, second by Councilman Crabtree. 

By a unanimous voice vote, the Parks & Recreation budget was tentatively approved.   

 

Discussion ends at 5 hours, 59 minutes and 37 seconds of the audio recording. 

Park Programming Fund (Miscellaneous Programs) (Page 106-112 of the Budget Book): 

Discussion on the Park Program Fund (Miscellaneous Programs) budget starts at 5 hours, 59 

minutes and 53 seconds of the audio recording. 

Jamie Arce said the park programming fund is a sub fund of the parks and recreation 

department, it is the business side that receives revenue. It includes the beach and other 

components that are reflected in the pages of the budget book. 

Jamison Czarnecki said in the program fund there is an increase of the sports and recreation 

side. They are focusing in on the recreational capacity that they have for the city. There are a few 

increases for concessions. The program fund is for the whole department revenue and supply 

costs have gone up but they are anticipating having more sales in revenue toward concessions, so 

they are requesting an increase in that.  

Jaime Arce said the primary request would be the improvements at River View Park and the 

request for replacement of the eight (8) dugouts that are currently there. 

Councilman Fish asked if River View would benefit from any grants for those dugouts. 

Previously it was discussed about the lights being part of a grant situation. Jamison Czarnecki 

replied they are still exploring the grant opportunities for lights and overall, the park. The biggest 

increase in benefits for the park will be the tournaments. The investments they make into the 

park allow opportunities for more tournaments. They host several throughout the year including 

collegiate intermural tournaments for women’s softball. The investments they put into the park 

allow them to be more competitive in bids when they are deciding where they want to put their 

money for their tournaments. Councilman Fish said bringing on your new employees will help 

you to have better opportunities in the grant world and assist in some of these projects. 

Councilman Mishler asked about the increase to reflect the anticipated needs for Ideal Beach. 

Jamison Czarnecki said they have some plans for Ideal Beach and they hope to make some big 

changes there. They know there are things that they are going to need to purchase, lifeguard 

chairs, supplies and a couple of things for the concessions that they included. Councilman 

Mishler asked if there is any effort to include corporate sponsors or partners in the community to 



DRAFT 
 

33 
 

help with some of the costs. Jamison Czarnecki said yes, part of the position they are looking 

for in the position in business services is going after that revenue side and increasing those 

opportunities, but we don’t have those concerted plans for Ideal Beach in the next year. When 

they do a full on redesign that will be something they will look at. Howard Park in South Bend is 

one park they want to emulate, they were very strategic in their investment. They had partners 

come in and rent a room or an area for a specific amount of money for ten (10) years and after 

the ten (10) years they can recommit or they can find a new sponsor. 

Councilman Fish asked under concessions there is an increase and he is wondering how this 

increase is filtered into the budget for facilities and activities? Jamie Arce said as part of the 

concessions that would be the purchase of items that are for sale. Councilman Fish said that is 

what he assumed it was, but it is a big increase is this for more activities and more sales? 

Jamison Czarnecki said they are already running pretty close and have had to ask for funds to 

be transferred. The opening of the NIBCO Park this summer has been quite significant. They are 

bringing in 30% – 40% percent of their cost in sales. If they spend $30,000.00 they expect to 

make that plus in revenue. Councilman Fish replied he has observed the parks are being utilized 

more and the events are more often and better attended. 

Motion for tentative approval made by Councilman Crabtree, second by Councilman Fish. 

By a unanimous voice vote, the Park Program budget was tentatively approved.   

 

Discussion of the Park Program Fund ends at 6 hours, 06 minutes and 23 seconds of the audio 

recording. 

 

 

Board of Works (Page 16 of the Budget Book): 

 

Due to a technical difficulty, the audio is not available until 6 hours, 08 minutes and 06 seconds.   

 

Jamie Arce said the makeup of support is the reason that this is aligned within the neighborhood 

category versus foundation or quality of place it is largely surrounding the request for a new 

neighborhood coordinator position. The other components are identified within the Schedule A 

and comprise a various cause associated to the cause that are not otherwise easily identified to a 

specific department. 

 

Councilman Fish asked are these associated with a new employee or are they miscellaneous that 

need to be included in a budget line. Jamie Arce replied they would be inclusive of the need for 

the Board of Works budget and not specific to a request for a new person. 

 

Councilman Henke said this number seems to be padded but he doesn’t know if the Indiana 

Unemployment has to be put at a maximum and it is based on usage. Jamie Arce replied the sick 

incentive that is another component that we leverage as a contingency payout for small 

departments that may have a retired individual that is going to be subject to a large payout of sick 

time when they retire. Councilman Henke questioned the number under Operating Supplies 

because it says unbudgeted. Jamie Arce replied it has been a request because Board of Works 

houses 311, and it has been a request for some supplies associated with that program.  



DRAFT 
 

34 
 

Councilman Henke asked if the liability insurance was timing of the invoice. Jamie Arce said 

yes that is correct. That includes the workers compensation component, the premium share 

related to the liability insurance, along with some contingency to assist with deductible gaps. 

Councilman Henke asked about the other services and charges line. Jamie Arce said that is a 

contingency component that is used when necessary to fund other funds and it has been the same 

for a number of years. Councilman Henke asked about the contract services line. Jamie Arce 

replied that is block by block. Councilman Henke said how are we placing a value on that 

request, how is that monitored and how does it positively reflect budgets of those department that 

are benefiting from that? Is there any added manpower? Bradley Tracy replied there is not a 

direct correlation between charges that he can put on a chart shows customer satisfaction, 

improvements in the parks, improvement in downtown. He can talk to the fact that at several 

meetings, including council meetings, they have had people make comments as well as on social 

media. The goal is not to reduce overtime, it is not to extend it. They are not trying to take away 

union jobs. What they are trying to do is compliment what the other teams do, adding additional 

people when they are having events on the plaza or just being a positive influence and 

information gathering as well as crowd control. On a day to day basis they are downtown and 

throughout the park system doing additional things. They have power washed over half of 

Elkhart.  They can provide the council with a generous supply of photos and comments that have 

been made throughout the community. This is truly about quality of place and neighborhoods 

and it is not so easy to directly provide a chart of improvements. 

 

Councilman Fish it sounds like there is some contingencies for the performance part of it, that 

quality of life. Is this specifically block by block or are their other contract services? If they had 

an audit could they show receipts and are they within the rails on where some of this money 

would go? Jamie Arce said that is correct. 

 

Due to a technical issue, the discussion starting at 6 hour, 18 minutes and 19 seconds was 

inaudible. 

 

Motion for tentative approval made by Councilman Fish, second by Councilwoman Hines. 

By a unanimous voice vote, the 2025 Board of Works budget was tentatively approved. 
 

There is no discussion end time due to the technical issue.   

 

Building & Code Enforcement. 

 

Department Budget (Page 18 of the Budget Book):  

 

Because of a technical issue, the audio for this budget starts at 6 hours, 24 minutes and 55 

seconds of the audio recording.   

 

Tim Vistine Building Commissioner, said the one new vehicle is to replace the one that is in 

rotation because it is old. 

 

Councilman Fish asked if they had considered an electric vehicle. Tim Vistine said they had 

considered it. Councilman Fish said he would like that to become a priority for some of the 

service vehicles within the city. 



DRAFT 
 

35 
 

 

Councilman Henke when it says you had assisted with tree issues instead of Building and 

Grounds. Tim Vistine said they had put in their budget last year and the year before, a line item 

to help people who cannot afford to remove a tree that is down, they are low income. 

Councilman Henke said how is it established that they are unable and low income? Tim Vistine 

said demographically would be one way to establish that, but he is open to looking into anyone’s 

tree issue. Councilman Henke said he is not sure that there is a mechanism in place to legally 

say they will get help because of where they live. On the professional services line there is no 

expense in the last six (6) months is that a place holder. Jaime Arce replied that is part of 

providing flexibility to the department. In the event that they have to call in a structural engineer 

to make an assessment on a building, this line item would be used for that purpose. Councilman 

Henke questioned the credit card processing fees and why the cost was so high.  Aimee 

Lattimer stated they had a new permitting program, so they had a new payment vendor, Global 

Payments and that is why the fee skyrocketed. They are currently looking for a new payment 

vendor option and they are also looking into offsetting some of those costs by having customers 

pay for part of the credit card fees. Councilman Henke said he has had issues with Code 

Enforcement since 2001 and the answers to his questions often go back to administration and he 

does not hear the answer and he would like to be included in those conversations.  

 

Motion for tentative approval made by Councilman Mishler, second by Councilman Fish. 

By a unanimous voice vote, the 2025 Building and Code Enforcement Department budget 

was tentatively approved. 

 

Discussion on Building and Code Enforcement (Department Budget) ends at 6 hours 31 minutes 

and 00 seconds of the audio recording. 

 

Building & Code Enforcement Unsafe Building (Page 18 of the Budget Book) 

 

Discussion on Building & Code Enforcement –Unsafe Building begins at 6 hours, 31 minutes 

and 16 seconds of the audio recording. 

 

Jamie Arce said there were no changes to this budget. 

 

Motion for tentative approval made by Councilman Crabtree, second by Councilman Fish. 

By a unanimous voice vote, the 2025 Building & Code Enforcement Unsafe Building 

budget was tentatively approved. 

 

Discussion ends at 6 hours, 31 minutes and 29 seconds of the audio recording. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



DRAFT 
 

36 
 

Quality of Place 

 

EDIT Intra-Fund Transfers & Economic Development Grants (Page 128-130 of the Budget 

Book) 

 

Discussion on EDIT Intra-Fund Transfers & Economic Development Grants begins at 6 hours, 

31 minutes and 42 seconds of the audio recording. 

 

There was no discussion. 

 

Motion for tentative approval made by Councilman Fish, second by Councilman Crabtree. 

By a unanimous voice vote, the 2025 EDIT Intra-Fund Transfers & Economic 

Development Grants budget was tentatively approved. 

 

Discussion ends at 6 hours, 31 minutes and 50 seconds of the audio recording. 

 

Community Promotion (Page 116 of the Budget Book)  

 

Discussion begins on Community Promotion begins at 6 hours, 32 minutes and 2 seconds of the 

audio recording. 

 

Councilman Mishler asked what the anticipated needs are. Jamie Arce said this fund had 

originally been an expenditure out of the Mayor’s department general fund. It was determined 

that this fund had been established based on statute, which is outside of the mayor’s department 

budget and these additional funding is what the administration believes they need to be able to 

appropriately promote the community in the appropriate ways. Councilman Mishler said as he 

looks at other communities around Elkhart that they do a great job of promoting their local pride 

with t-shirts, hats and other items and he would like to see the Elkhart residents have more of an 

opportunity to show their civic pride. 

 

Councilman Henke said should he have seen a reduction in the mayor’s budget since this was 

moved to community promotions. Jamie Arce replied there was a reduction in the original year 

that the transition was made to move this item from the mayor’s budget. 

 

Motion for tentative approval made by Councilman Crabtree, second by Councilman Fish. 

By a unanimous voice vote, the 2025 Community Promotion budget was tentatively 

approved. 

 

Discussion ends at 6 hours, 34 minutes and 37 seconds of the audio recording. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



DRAFT 
 

37 
 

Building & Grounds (Page 52 of the Budget Book):  

 

Discussion begins at 6 hours, 34 minutes and 40 seconds of the audio recording. 

 

Mike Lightner, Department Head, Building & Grounds, has 40 full time employees, 

approximately 10 part time and several seasonal employees. They maintain hundreds of acres, 75 

properties and 30 buildings and they also provide tree maintenance. They are tasked with 

beautification of the city, right of way, parks and cemeteries. They maintain the athletic fields, 

grow and maintain hundreds of flower beds and assist in over 60 events. They have put together 

a budget of needs, not wants to maintain our city assets. 

 

Councilman Fish said there is a typo on the budget amount and it will be corrected before the 

budget is approved. He asked are you cursed with the high cost of vehicles and supplies. Mike 

Lightner replied yes they are, the costs have really gone up. Councilman Fish asked what are 

your options to get the service and transportation capability out of those vehicles? Mike 

Lightner said they have looked at other vehicles and it is more about taking care of and 

maintaining the vehicles they have. It is our employees, they have to maintain what they have so 

there is less for central garage to do. Councilman Fish asked about the van that was talked about 

earlier, would that be replacing one of those that Joshua Holt talked about. Mike Lightner said 

no that was a van they were talking about earlier. They were talking about replacement of our 

construction vehicles that was handed down from public works. Councilman Fish said that he 

did not want to take up any more time and he would talk with Mike Lightner later about these 

matters. 

 

Councilman Henke is your temporary help primarily summer help? Mike Lightner replied that 

is correct. Councilman Henke asked about part time and how the cost was different than the 

temporary help? Jamie Arce replied number is in anticipation that they are going to be able to 

hire what they need for part time and temporary help, He said there has been a disconnect 

between part time and temporary employees. Temporary employees are those employees who 

are working on a narrow timeline for benefit reasons versus part time being maybe seasonal part 

time or a permanent part time, like Mr. Billy does for the City Hall. That is just an ongoing 

number that has been used. They reduced it this year to reflect the transition of the part time 

employee into a full time position. Councilman Henke said Mike has a difficult department 

because it is based on the current need and emerging situations.  He asked Mike to tell him about 

the block to block and how he works with that group and what do they help your department 

with. Mike Lightner said he believes the biggest help they give them and the biggest impact 

they have is the cleanliness of parks and the perception of the parks in the downtown area.  They 

are picking up trash on the weekend when we do not have people working and also with picking 

up the debris from the homeless. Councilman Henke said what you are saying is that things are 

easier to manage with block to block and things are quicker in the cleaning process. Mike 

Lightner replied that is correct. Councilman Henke asked so what is in the other services and 

charges?  Jamie Arce said he can provide that detail but essentially it is more for unique items 

and services that do not have a specific line item, like a miscellaneous account in a private 

enterprise. Councilman Henke asked what is in contract services.   Jamie Arce replied the big 

jump in contract services was for the outsourcing of the trees, maintenance of the tree lawns that 

needed to be removed. Councilman Henke said he appreciates all that Building and Grounds 

does for Elkhart. 



DRAFT 
 

38 
 

 

Councilman Mishler said he gets compliments all the time about the planters’ downtown and 

that they do a fantastic job. He had some concern about debris that was left in the park and after 

making a phone call the city ambassadors came out and cleaned it up. 

 

Motion for tentative approval made by Councilman Fish, second by Councilman Mishler. 

By a unanimous voice vote, the 2025 Building & Grounds budget was tentatively approved. 

 

Discussion ends at 6 hours, 48 minutes and 51 seconds of the audio recording. 

 

Environmental Center (Page 94 of the Budget Book):  

 

Discussion of the Environmental Center budget begins at 6 hours, 48 minutes and 54 seconds of 

the audio recording. 

 

Jeff Zavatsky, Director of the Elkhart Environmental Center he has 2 full time employees, 

one temporary employee and lots of help from volunteers, community service members and 

corporations. They are one of the best kept secrets in the city. They do many environmental 

sustainable programs and education events and workshops. They have the city’s largest green 

space at over 80 acres, there are wetlands, ponds, and forests around the Elkhart River. They are 

working with the Railroad Museum to create a prairie between their tracks which requires less 

mowing. They are working with the park department and doing some native vegetation along the 

walkways to help manage the geese. Under the leadership of Mayor Roberson, they have 

received several grants. They have installed a solar renewable project and have generated 21 

Megawatt, hereafter (MW) of power, for example, one MW can power 200 homes. That is 

reflected on this year’s budget, they have reduced their electric bill by over $5,000.00. They 

received a grant and are going to install solar panels on Station 3, which has an estimated savings 

of $78,000.00. They will be installing an Electric Vehicle hereafter, (EV) at their location and 

with the money left they plan to support an EV for the city fleet or a utility vehicle.  The received 

a 1 Million Dollar grant through the USDA and the US Forest Service to focus on trees to create 

an urban canopy, in the next three and one half years they will plant over 2,000 trees in the city. 

 

Councilman Henke said he really appreciates the cost savings and the grants they have 

received. He was concerned about the control burn that was done after the tornado. Jeff 

Zavatsky replied that was because of the volume of material that came all at once.  They 

normally do take the trees and turn it into mulch for the citizens to use, but this was such a large 

quantity that was not feasible. 

 

Councilman Fish said the Elkhart Environmental Center is setting a new standard that we need 

to embrace. The amount of volunteers and the programs they are providing is great and he 

appreciates being able to volunteer. 

 

 

 

 

 

 



DRAFT 
 

39 
 

Motion for tentative approval made by Councilman Fish, second by Councilwoman Hines. 

By a unanimous voice vote, the 2025 Environmental Center budget was tentatively 

approved. 

 

Discussion ends at 6 hours, 56 minutes and 59 seconds of the audio recording. 

 

Railroad Museum (Page 100 of the Budget Book):  

 

Discussion begins at 6 hours, 57 minutes and 1 second of the audio recording.  

 

Brent Holaway Director National New York Central Railroad Museum claims the Railroad 

Museum is the best kept secret in Elkhart. He said the museum has grown by leaps and bounds. 

In the early 2000’s they averaged around 500 visitors per month. This year they are on track to 

be over 1,100 per month. Improvements they have made include a kid’s play zone, a large scale 

model train layout, a 1905 wood caboose, and a diesel locomotive that you can go into and blow 

the whistle. One of the biggest projects has been the renovation and expansion of the NIBCO 

Century Flyer amusement train. 

 

Councilman Henke asked how many of the increase in volume are paid attendance are you 

seeing an uptick in that. Brent Holaway responded yes we are seeing an uptick in that also, he 

does not have those numbers. They are getting people coming through the area from all over the 

United States to visit. Councilman Henke asked about the donated locomotive. Brent Holaway 

said there is going to be a press conference on October 9, 2024, regarding that. 

 

Motion for tentative approval made by Councilman Mishler, second by Councilman Fish. 

By a unanimous voice vote, the 2025 Railroad Museum budget was tentatively approved. 

 

Discussion ends at 7 hours, 4 minutes and 3 seconds of the audio recording. 

 

Lerner Theatre (Page 102 of the Budget Book):  

 

Discussion begins at 7 hours, 4 minutes and 11 seconds of the audio recording 

 

Dean Tuggle, Technical & Facilities Director Lerner Theatre said they have 13 full time 

employees and 35 part time employees and a pool of about 100 volunteers. They are planning 

their 100 year celebration which will be a year-long celebration. They will be showcasing the 

Kimball organ which will also be celebrating its 100 year anniversary with the showing of The 

Navigator, the first show that opened the theatre in 1924. This year they were able to train their 

staff in sensory inclusion and they are able to provide sensory kits for those who need them for 

the performances. They implemented new software that will help them track all of the building 

assets. In 2025 they are asking to upgrade their security system as their system is outdated. 

 

Councilman Mishler asked what the promotional line is used for. Dean Tuggle said that is used 

in conjunction with shows to help promote shows and help promoters promote shows. Without a 

current General Manager we did not change that budget amount. 

 



DRAFT 
 

40 
 

Councilman Henke what are our rates, attendance and net? Those numbers bounce back and 

forth on our monthly reviews. Jamie Arce said that is something he will have to get back to the 

council what those revenue numbers are and specifically because the nature of the ways those 

reports are presented to the governing board are a blend of the operating fund and the ticket fund. 

That is something we are looking into during this transition period and reflecting on what they 

are doing internally and how things are being reported. Councilman Henke inquired about the 

Friends of the Lerner project that was set up to raise money for the Lerner. Jamie Arce replied, 

the Friends of the Lerner is a separate organization and they have no financial data on the 

amounts being collected. Within our system they collect donations on their behalf and they are 

remitted as part of the ticketing process. Councilman Henke said he remembered a presentation 

to the council about setting up an endowment and he wanted to know if it reached its goal and if 

it is being used for expense emergencies at the Lerner? Councilman Mishler commented that in 

2020 the organization did an appropriation for the Friends of the Lerner for an emergency repair, 

but is unaware if it was then used. Jamie Arce said as a board member of the Lerner he 

understood that they had not met in some time. Chairman Dawson asked if Jamie Arce could 

make a formal request for information on their status and money raised. Dean Tuggle said there 

is a new president of the Friends of the Lerner, Ashley Martin and they are in the process of 

reviewing documents and making sure they are accountable. 

 

Motion for tentative approval made by Councilman Fish, second by Councilwoman Hines. 

By a unanimous voice vote, the 2025 Lerner Theatre budget was tentatively approved. 

 

Discussion ends at 7 hours, 20 minutes and 22 seconds of the audio recording. 

 

Park Bond (Page 118 of the Budget Book):  

 

Councilman Henke asked when this bond matures. Jamie Arce replied the final payment is due 

on January 1, 2030. That payment will be made in December 2029 and that will be a part of the 

2029 budget. The current balance at the end of this year will be 3 Million Two Hundred and 

Thirty-Five Thousand. The annual payments are Seven Hundred Twenty-Two Thousand. 

 

Motion for tentative approval made by Councilman Fish second by Councilman Crabtree. 

 

By a unanimous voice vote, the 2025 Park Bond budget was tentatively approved.  

 

Discussion ends at 7 hours, 21 minutes and 46 seconds of the audio recording. 

 

Cemetery 

 

Department Budget – Cemetery Fund (Page 66 of the Budget Book):  

 

Discussion begins on Cemetery – Department Budget (Cemetery Fund) at 7 hours, 21 minutes 

and 52 seconds of the audio recording. 

 

Charlie Choate, Department Head, said they employ 8 full time staff and 2 part time staff and 

between 5 to 7 individuals seasonally.  Last year the council commissioned a master plan for the 

expansion of Prairie Street Cemetery, although he is not ready to discuss completion, he has 



DRAFT 
 

41 
 

become aware that they have been able to expand the cemetery without any additional purchase 

of ground which provides 14,500 new internment spaces. 

 

Councilman Fish asked about the professional services line and the increase. Charlie Choate 

replied it is for ongoing purposes. When the cemetery is expanded there will be surveys, fencing 

and other things needed and they do not have a final number on that. The expansion will be done 

in phases.  

 

Motion for tentative approval made by Councilman Crabtree, second by Councilman Fish. 

Councilman Henke asked for an update about the erosion. Charlie Choate replied the repairs 

have been completed. No remains left their interment spot and the bank is substantial now. The 

monuments have been put back to their rightful place. Councilman Henke asked if that would 

remain stable for the next several years. Charlie Choate replied that is hard to say it is a high 

spot built on a river. The difficulty is caused by the large trees that are along the edge and the 

root system pulls the bank down. Councilman Henke asked whether the part time should really 

be temporary and about overtime. Charlie Choate replied the part time and temporary lines 

really should be switched. They are demanded to pay overtime per union contracts. The amount 

charged for overtime to the families that use their facilities on weekends or when they are 

required to stay after hours will cover the overtime. Councilman Henke asked about the change 

in the professional services budget. Jamie Arce replied that is a carry-over from a prior year. 

 

By a unanimous voice vote, the 2025 Cemetery Department budget was tentatively 

approved. 

 

Discussion ends at 7 hours, 30 minutes and 32 seconds of the audio recording. 

 

Mausoleum Operations (Page 92 of the Budget Book):  

 

Discussion begins at 7 hours, 30 minutes and 35 seconds of the audio recording.  

 

Councilman Henke asked about the capacity of mausoleum space and what is available? 

Charlie Choate replied about 85% of the space is used. 

 

Motion for tentative approval made by Councilman Fish, second by Councilwoman Hines. 

By a unanimous voice vote, the 2025 Mausoleum Operations budget was tentatively 

approved. 

 

Discussion ends at 7 hours, 31 minutes and 26 seconds of the audio recording. 

 

Aviation (Page 70 of the Budget Book):  

 

Discussion begins at 7 hours, 31 minutes and 41 seconds of the audio recording. 

 

Andy Jones, Elkhart Municipal Airport Director, said they have 10 full time employees, 2 

part time employees and 1 vacancy for part time air traffic controller. They facilitate economic 

development, tourism and emergency services.  This year they obtained a new snow and ice 



DRAFT 
 

42 
 

control equipment and they renovated the airport administration building. They also received 

various grants for a new hanger which will break ground next year. They have had more than 

300 students tour the airport in their educational outreach program. They will be sending the 

airfield maintenance employees for additional training and switching to LED lighting in all the 

buildings, runways and taxiways. 

 

Councilman Mishler asked if they planned to do the Salute to Veterans event in 2025. Andy 

Jones replied no. 

 

Councilman Henke asked what is the value of the hangers and what are people paying for that 

space and what is the percent increase year over year. Andy Jones replied the new hangers will 

be able to house a corporate size aircraft, currently to house a corporate aircraft there is an 

agreement that must be signed and the hanger may hold two (2) or more aircrafts that may have 

to be moved to get their aircraft out of the hanger, so it is much more expensive.  The new 

hangers will lease for $400 a month. Councilman Henke asked about the trend for take offs and 

landings year over year. Andy Jones replied it is about 32,000 annually, and that is consistent 

with what South Bend does. Councilman Henke asked how that reflects to the last few years. 

Andy Jones replied it is consistently growing. 

 

Councilman Holtz asked about the equipment leases and the cost jump. Andy Jones said that is 

the snow broom, what they had projected turned out to be significantly higher. They were able to 

put more down at the time of delivery and that reduced the price for the remainder of the lease. 

 

Motion for tentative approval made by Councilman Fish second by Councilwoman Hines 

By a unanimous voice vote, the 2025 Aviation budget was tentatively approved. 

 

Discussion ends at 7 hours, 38 minutes and 36 seconds of the audio recording. 

 

Office of Development Services Department Budgets (General Fund)  

 

Economic Development (Page 34 of the Budget Book):  

 

Discussion begins at 7 hours, 38 minutes and 42 seconds of the audio recording. 

 

Mike Huber, Development Services Director, our team has 13 full time employees and they 

have 4 teams in a few different areas, planning and zoning, economic development, community 

development and redevelopment. They will close out the year bringing in over one hundred and 

seventy five million in new investment, 300 plus new housing units and 400 new jobs. They are 

building new street scape on Cassopolis Street and the Concord Mall program brought in twenty 

five million in new investment and saved an existing structure. In 2025 they will have a busy 

year, the State announced Ready 2.0, that will be over One Hundred Million Dollars’ worth of 

new projects and they have 6 to 8 projects. A couple of the areas they are asking for some 

investments with our staff in supporting some of the neighborhood pieces. The community 

development team secured a Million Dollar lead grant and that project will complement the 

housing rehab program and make investments in our existing housing stock. That grant will pay 

for the staff person they are asking for and that person is a three (3) year grant which will build 

the capacity of the program. The other space they are looking for increased capacity is zoning 



DRAFT 
 

43 
 

enforcement and zoning compliance they hired someone and realized that this should be a full 

time position and this will give them the ability to address some of the concerns the council has 

raised regarding zoning. Then they can bring in planner one and planner two to focus on doing 

all of the planning duties, managing commissions and meetings and interacting with customers in 

the public that need a variance. Planner one and planner two will focus on managing the 

implementation of the zoning code and then our new full time employee will be able to manage 

the enforcement and compliance. 

 

Councilman Mishler are you currently staffed in the economic development area? Mike Huber 

replied yes, they are only down in the planning team. Councilman Mishler asked when you are 

fully staffed do you expect to have a decrease in professional services? Mike Huber replied they 

have been working with InFocus, which is a regional talent and retraction program and they 

would like to have the flexibility to be able to use their expertise in a few projects they are 

working on now. They also have new Tax Increment Fund hereafter, TIF districts and there are 

expense related to bonds and bond councils so they have some resources allocated to those. They 

are gearing up for next year because they know they have a lot of projects and they will need 

those resources. Councilman Mishler asked are you expected to utilize more of the education 

and travel. Mike Huber said absolutely. 

 

Councilman Fish asked when the grant starts? Mike Huber said they have received the grant 

and it was on the agenda at the last council meeting and it will be approved at the next council 

meeting. 

 

Councilwoman Hines asked will the grant position be working with the neighborhood 

coordinator position. Mike Huber said they really see the position as working with the 

homeowner rehab program. This is looking at existing homes and our low income homeowners 

and home buyers and it will really mesh well with their Community Development Block Grant 

CDBG program activities. 

 

Councilman Henke asked how many of their staff had received performance appraisals. Mike 

Huber replied they do full staff performance appraisals. Councilman Henke asked about the 

openings in their department in the first part of 2024. Mike Huber replied they were without an 

economic development assistant director between March and August. Councilman Henke asked 

to explain the line item small tool and equipment. Jamie Arce said that line is a board of 

accounts line and it is meant to account for those items that would not meet their capitalization 

thresholds, which is anything below $5,000, for example, tablets and little computers. 

 

Motion for tentative approval made by Councilman Fish second by Councilman Mishler. 

By a unanimous voice vote, the 2025 Economic Development budget was tentatively 

approved. 

 

Discussion ends at 7 hours, 51 minutes and 15 seconds of the audio recording. 

 

 

 

 

 



DRAFT 
 

44 
 

Planning Department (Page 36 of the Budget Book):  

 

Discussion begins at 7 hours, 51 minutes and 18 seconds of the audio recording. 

 

Councilman Henke asked if the vacancies in the department were due to being understaffed. 

Mike Huber replied, yes they have gone without planner one and planner two for almost a year. 

 

Councilman Curry said he is always being asked about what is going on in his neighborhood. 

What is going on at Main Street and Lusher?  Mike Huber replied they had sold that property 

and that property will be a Burton’s Laundromat. Councilman Curry will that be in addition to 

others or will they close one?  Mike Huber said they do not have any in that area and Burton’s 

said it was needed and purchased it.   

 

Chairman Dawson said he took a ride around the city recently with Eric Trotter because he sees 

the new buildings going up and also wondered what they are and he suggested if any council 

members have time they should do the same. 

 

Motion for tentative approval made by Councilman Mishler second by Councilwoman Hines. 

 

By a unanimous voice vote, the 2025 Planning Department budget was tentatively 

approved. 

 

Discussion ends at 7 hours, 53 minutes and 28 seconds of the audio recording. 

 

Mayor Rob Roberson said he wanted to make sure he gave the appropriate thank you to the 

council, the public in person and online, the city clerk’s assistants, the Lerner staff and 

volunteers and the IT department, all the other elected officials that were here, Jamie Arce and 

his staff, Bradley Tracy and all of the department heads. He also announced the Accelerating 

Indiana Municipalities, hereafter (AIM) will be presenting the Program Innovation Award for 

Tolson at a banquet in Fort Wayne at the Ideas Summit on October 9 and he hopes all will 

attend. 

 

Motion to adjourn by Councilman Fish, second by Councilman Mishler. 

 

The Budget Meeting ended at 7 hours, 57 minutes and 26 seconds of the audio recording. 

 

 

 

      _____________________________________ 
      Arvis L. Dawson, Chairman of Finance Committee 



 DRAFT 
 

 

MINUTES OF THE REGULAR COMMON COUNCIL MEETING 

OF OCTOBER 7, 2024 

 

Present: Council President Arvis Dawson 

Council Members Alex Holtz, Brent Curry, LaTonya King,  

Aaron Mishler, Dwight Fish, Tonda Hines, Chad Crabtree, David Henke 

 

 This meeting was made available to the public electronically through WebEx. 

 

 President Dawson called the meeting to order at 6:00 p.m. in the Council Chambers at 

City Hall, 229 S. Second Street, in Elkhart.  All Council Members were present in Council 

Chambers.  

 

Brent Curry led the assembly in the Pledge of Allegiance. President Dawson asked for a moment 

of silent reflection.   

  

 The clerk called the roll.   

 

APPROVAL OF MINUTES 

 

President Dawson asked for a motion and second to approve the minutes from the September 9, 

2024, Council meeting.   

 

Motion made by Councilman Fish, second by Councilwoman Hines. 

 

By a unanimous voice vote, the minutes were approved.   

 

President Dawson asked for a motion and second to approve the minutes from the September 16, 

2024, Council meeting.   

 

Motion made by Councilwoman Hines, second by Councilman Mishler. 

 

By a unanimous voice vote, the minutes were approved.   

 

PRESENTATIONS AND INTRODUCTIONS 

 

There were no presentations or introductions. 

 

UNFINISHED BUSINESS 

 

 

REPORTS OF COUNCIL COMMITTEES 

 

The Finance Committee of-the-whole met on Saturday, September 21, 2024 for the 2025 Budget 

Hearings at the Lerner Theatre. The Committee met with all of the department heads to review 

their 2025 budgets and gave a tentative approval to those budgets. 



2 

 

ORDINANCES ON SECOND-THIRD READING 

 

Proposed Ordinance 24-O-38 

 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING THE ZONING MAP CREATED PURSUANT TO 

ORDINANCE NO. 4370, THE “ZONING ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF ELKHART, 

INDIANA” AS AMENDED TO REZONE 1723 OAKLAND AVENUE, ELKHART, 

INDIANA FROM R-4 MULTIPLE FAMILY DWELLING DISTRICT TO R-2, ONE 

FAMILY DWELLING DISTRICT 

 

President Dawson asked the clerk to read the proposed ordinance by title only. He asked for a 

motion and second to adopt on second reading. Motion made by Councilman Henke, second by 

Councilwoman Hines.  

 

COUNCIL DISCUSSION ON PROPOSED ORDINANCE 24-O-38 

President Dawson opened council discussion starting at 38 minutes and 14 seconds of the audio 

recording. 

 

Eric Trotter Planning Department, said they have a request that came with a positive 

recommendation from the Plan Commission to rezone the property that is currently vacant at the 

northwest corner of Oakland Avenue from R-4 to R-2 with the end goal of building two new 

single family dwellings at that intersection. The staff supports it, and the neighborhood is ready 

for some new infill development. The petitioner is in the audience and can speak to anything 

else. They are excited to see this happening. 

 

Councilman Fish said the lot backs up against a former processing plant is that correct? Eric 

Trotter replied, no it backs up against a duplex to the north off of Wolf Street, it is on the 

northwest corner. Councilman Fish said to be clear there is no encroachment against their 

property?  Eric Trotter replied no. 

 

Councilwoman King said she is thankful for the new development coming to the 6th District. 

 

PUBLIC DISCUSSION ON PROPOSED ORDINANCE 24-O-38 

President Dawson opened the public discussion starting at 40 minutes and 31 seconds of the 

audio recording. 

 

There was no public discussion. 

 

COUNCIL DISCUSSION ON PROPOSED ORDINANCE 24-O-38 

President Dawson returned the discussion to the council starting at 40 minutes and 37 seconds of 

the audio recording. 

 

There was no further Council discussion. 

 

 

 

 

 

 



3 

 

President Dawson asked the clerk to do a roll call vote on second reading. 

 

AYES: Holtz, Curry, King, Mishler, Fish, Hines, Crabtree, Henke, Dawson 

NAYS:  

 

By a vote of 9-0, the proposed ordinance passed on second reading. 

   

Motion for third and final reading made by Councilwoman Hines, second by Councilman 

Mishler. 

 

President Dawson asked the clerk to read the proposed ordinance by title only and do a roll call 

vote.  

 

AYES: Holtz, Curry, King, Fish, Mishler, Hines, Crabtree, Henke, Dawson 

NAYS:  

 

By a vote of 9-0, the proposed ordinance passed on third and final reading.   

 

Discussion on the proposed ordinance ends at 41 minutes and 42 seconds of the audio recording. 

 

 

Proposed Ordinance 24-O-39 

 

AN ORDINANCE AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR OR HIS DESIGNEE TO ACCEPT A 

U.S. DEPARTMENT OF HOUSING AND URBAN DEVELOPMENT GRANT IN THE 

AMOUNT OF ONE MILLION FIFTY THOUSAND DOLLARS ($1,050,000.00) FOR 

LEAD HAZARD REDUCTION CAPACITY BUILDING GRANT 

 

President Dawson asked the clerk to read the proposed ordinance by title only. He asked for a 

motion to adopt this ordinance on second reading. Motion by Councilman Fish, second by 

Councilman Crabtree. 

 

COUNCIL DISCUSSION ON PROPOSED ORDINANCE 24-O-39 

President Dawson opened council discussion starting at 42minutes and 19 seconds of the audio 

recording. 

 

Mary Kaczka Assistant Director of Community Development, said this grant will allow them 

to focus particularly on homes with vulnerable children under the age of six (6). It is a three year 

(3) grant. Their match is 10%, of which some of that grant is in kind of her salary. Very little of 

it is cash match. This project technically began August 1st and it will last over three years (3). 

They are building more capacity to provide more contractors who are qualified to mitigate lead 

in the home, educate parents about the dangers of lead poisoning and children in the home and 

eventually they will be able to also move into mitigating lead in the home. Over the three year 

(3) period they are allowed to remove lead in homes and then they can potentially roll this into 

another grant of significant dollars to continue mitigation of lead in the home. These are homes 

with children under the age of six (6) who are income qualified. 

 

 

 



4 

 

Councilman Mishler said, as a nurse who works in public health he knows the importance of 

lead mitigation and how it can negatively impact cognitive development of children at an early 

age. It can also impact those who are seniors in our community. It can lead to things such as 

hypertension, heart attacks, strokes and it has been linked to other health issues. He strongly 

supports anything we can do to help remediate lead in our community. 

 

Councilman Fish said they are thankful for the grant and anything they can do to help the 

taxpayers in Elkhart and protect their health. He asked about the grant money and the matching 

money and what line item in the budget will this match with. Mary Kaczka replied, about half 

of it will be her time and she is not certain where the rest is located, it would be a question for 

the controller. Jamie Arce, City Controller replied a good portion of this is intended to be from 

her payroll, which is part of Economic Development, the General Fund budget. That is what is 

being included as part of her salary. If there are additional components that need to be utilized 

for that purpose then it would come out of the Economic Development General Fund. As for the 

$1,050,000.00 it is a reimbursable loan and will operate very much like Community 

Development Block Grant hereafter CDBG does out of its own established fund, so there is no 

co-mingling. It is easier to audit from the State Board of Accounts perspective and this is a 

requirement from their direction. 

 

Councilman Henke asked how much of the salary is allowed to be paid from this grant? Jamie 

Arce replied it will be based on hours and effort. From an appropriateness perspective, the grant 

rules typically require an hours and effort log and Mary will be tracking the time put towards the 

grant to help identify how much is payroll related and how much needs to be filled for other 

purposes. By fill he means the additional local match component that would be a requirement 

under the grant. Councilman Henke said could that be used for professional services. Jamie 

Arce replied yes, but it will be an allowable use of the grant funds also. Councilman Henke 

asked how the reduction will be tracked on the general budget salary allowance and what time 

frame would it be refunded? Jamie Arce replied this is tracked within the lead abatement grant 

fund that will be established as part of this and Housing and Urban Development hereafter HUD 

is typically very responsive when they request a draw. In looking at CDBG whenever they are 

making a request for allowable items to be drawn against, it is usually within a week once they 

make the request and HUD approves it, then they get a direct deposit and the money is 

reimbursed back to the city. Councilman Henke asked if the city has participated in a lead 

remediation process through a grant before, have they had any funds in prior years? Jamie  

Arce replied, not specific for this program. Public works as part of the most recent bond issuance 

had gotten some money through Indiana Finance Authority hereafter IFA in the State Revolving 

Fund hereafter SRF program for lead service line identification, but those are different programs 

and would not be similar to this. Councilman Henke said in a previous presentation the council 

had been told that less than 5% of Elkhart homes were affected. He wondering if that had 

changed and if the previous figures were not accurate. Jamie Arce replied the big difference is 

this is lead paint in homes versus lead service lines for water or galvanized lines. Councilman 

Henke said he thought they could use CDBG funds for that. Mary Kaczka they do get a limited 

amount of CDBG funds but it has been there twenty (20) or more years. They normally try not to 

disturb the paint. In Indiana everyone and two (2) year old child should have their blood levels 

tested. They do not really know unless they are tested and if the blood is elevated, then go and 

access the home. Councilman Henke said they have had the funds to be looking into this with 

CDBG funds. Is this predominately for blood testing? Mary Kaczka replied these funds are 

capacity building, these are not for blood testing. This is to raise awareness that parents need to 

have the blood tested and get those results and if the level is too high then move into assessing 



5 

 

the home. They will work with several other partners in the community like Beacon Health, 

Heart City and Maple City to focus on this. Councilman Henke said he is wondering how they 

get people to be aware of this and get the blood tests and how they overcome the barriers to get 

them tested. Mary Kaczka replied they need to be tracking the data as they are in other counties. 

 

Councilman Mishler said he can respond to this because it is part of his job with the Indiana 

Department of Health Department of Emergency Preparedness and they specialize in early 

childhood and lead testing as well as for pregnant women. Everyone from six (6) months to six 

(6) years old is tested through their department. While housing is a definite issue including lead 

paint in older houses they are seeing more and more instances of imported goods from China and 

other nations that are cheaper but using inferior production facilities that sometimes include lead 

contamination. He is hopeful as this program continues they will establish a working relationship 

with the county and state Department of Health to make sure that once a lead issue is identified 

the proper medical authorities being that family’s primary care provider, the county or state 

health department can move in and find the source of the lead. Mary Kaczka said that is correct 

this is also including creating a system of handling that case. What you described has happened 

where a child’s blood level was high, they went in assessed the home, this was through the 

county and they could not find it in the paint or the woodwork and it was actually in pottery and 

dinner ware that came from another country. Councilman Mishler said another thing is talking 

about the long term cost benefits of lead reduction. There have been significant studies that link 

the removal of leaded gasoline with the reduction in violent crimes and murder rates, which is 

due to the impact of lead poisoning on development. The more they can remove from developing 

minds the better it will help us as a society. Mary Kaczka said children who are in school and 

have impulsive issues could be due to blood poisoning. 

 

Councilwoman Hines asked how are they educating the community and how are they 

connecting them with this service or program? Mary Kaczka said a coalition has been forming 

around Beacon Health they are tying into that group. Many of the entities wrote letters of support 

when they applied for this grant. The niche they have is on the housing side of it part of a healthy 

home initiative. Through HUD and their CDBG funds they are now also required to test for 

Radon in a home. 

 

Councilman Henke is there a way to get in front of the testing before mothers give birth as that 

is when the lead level of the child will match the mother’s level? Mary Kaczka said that is one 

of the target groups and Heart City Health and the other groups are all supportive of this grant. 

Councilman Henke asked why St. Joseph County is more aware of their numbers? Mary 

Kaczka replied that is because they have been pursuing this longer. 

 

PUBLIC DISCUSSION ON PROPOSED ORDINANCE 24-O-39 

President Dawson opened the public discussion starting at 58 minutes and 11 seconds of the 

audio recording. 

 

There was no public discussion. 

 

COUNCIL DISCUSSION ON PROPOSED ORDINANCE 24-O-39 

President Dawson opened council discussion starting at 58 minutes and 18 seconds of the audio 

recording. 

 

There was no further Council discussion. 



6 

 

 

President Dawson asked the clerk to do a roll call vote on second reading. 

 

AYES: Holtz, Curry, King, Mishler, Hines, Crabtree, Henke, Dawson 

NAYS: 

 

By a vote of 9-0, the proposed ordinance passed on second reading. 

   

Motion for third and final reading made by Councilman Crabtree, second by Councilwoman 

Hines. 

 

President Dawson asked the clerk to read the proposed ordinance by title only and do a roll call 

vote.  

 

AYES: Holtz, Curry, King, Mishler, Fish, Hines, Crabtree, Henke, Dawson 

NAYS:  

 

By a vote of 9-0, the proposed ordinance passed on third and final reading.   

 

Discussion on the proposed ordinance ends at 59 minutes and 17 seconds of the audio recording. 

 

 

ORDINANCES AND RESOLUTIONS REFERRED TO COMMITTEES 

 

Proposed Ordinance 24-O-34 

 

AN ORDINANCE ADOPTING THE OPERATING BUDGET FOR THE 2025 

CALENDAR YEAR, APPROPRIATING FUNDS FOR SUCH PURPOSE AND 

ESTABLISHING THE TAX RATE FOR THE CITY OF ELKHART 

 

President Dawson stated this ordinance will remain tabled. 

 

Proposed Ordinance 24-O-35 

 

AN ORDINANCE FIXING THE ANNUAL SALARIES OF ELECTED OFFICIALS OF 

THE CITY OF ELKHART, INDIANA, FOR THE CALENDAR YEAR 2025 

 

President Dawson stated this ordinance will remain tabled. 

 

Proposed Ordinance 24-O-36 

 

AN ORDINANCE FIXING THE SALARIES AND WAGES FOR APPOINTED 

OFFICERS AND OTHER SALARIED EMPLOYEES OF THE CITY OF ELKHART, 

INDIANA, FOR THE YEAR 2025 

 

President Dawson stated this ordinance will remain tabled. 

 

 

 



7 

 

Proposed Ordinance 24-O-37 

 

AN ORDINANCE ADOPTING A SCHEDULE OF SALARIES AND OTHER 

COMPENSATION FOR THE POLICE OFFICERS OF THE CITY OF ELKHART, 

INDIANA, FOR THE CALENDAR YEAR 2025 

 

President Dawson stated this ordinance will remain tabled. 

 

 

 

TABLED ORDINANCES AND RESOLUTIONS 

 

Proposed Ordinance 24-O-10 

 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE COMMON COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF ELKHART, 

INDIANA, AUTHORIZING THE ISSUANCE OF THE CITY OF ELKHART, INDIANA 

TAXABLE ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT REVENUE BONDS AND APPROVING AND 

AUTHORIZING OTHER ACTIONS IN RESPECT THERETO 

 

President Dawson stated this ordinance will remain tabled. 

 

 

ORDINANCES ON SECOND-THIRD READING 

 

Proposed Ordinance 24-O-32 

 

AN ORDINANCE APPROPRIATING EIGHT HUNDRED FIFTY THOUSAND 

DOLLARS ($850,000.00) FROM THE ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT INCOME TAX 

FUND TO THE REVOLVING LOAN FUND AND AUTHORIZING THE USE OF SAID 

FUNDS AS A FORGIVABLE LOAN IN CONNECTION WITH THE CONSTRUCTION 

OF A FORTY-EIGHT UNIT AFFORDABLE HOUSING PROJECT FOR ECONOMIC 

DEVELOPMENT PURPOSES. 

 

President Dawson asked the clerk to read the proposed ordinance by title only. He asked for a 

motion to adopt this ordinance on second reading. Motion by Councilwoman Hines, second by 

Councilman Mishler. 

 

COUNCIL DISCUSSION ON PROPOSED ORDINANCE 24-O-39 

President Dawson opened council discussion starting at 1 hour, 00 minutes and 22 seconds of the 

audio recording. 

 

Mike Huber, Director of Development Services, said the project at 515 East Street is a 

redevelopment of the former wheelchair manufacturing building that will become a mixed use 

building that includes forty-eight (48) new housing units and approximately 2,000 square feet of 

commercial space. It represents a total investment of approximately $13, 500, 000.00 by the 

developer, Real America. The project developer applied for low income tax credits for this 

project each of the last two years (2) years to secure the primary funding source for the project. 

The City of Elkhart agreed to provide local match investments to assist with project costs, 

including demolition of the existing structure as part of the application, both years. This year the 



8 

 

project was successfully funded and awarded credits to support the development. Due to the 

inclusion of the low income tax credits, all of the forty-eight (48) units included in this project 

will be affordable based on incomes ranging from 30% to 80% of the area median income. For 

reference, the current median income for the City of Elkhart based on the most recent HUD data 

is about $57,000.00 for an individual and about $82,000.00 for a family of four (4). That would 

be 100% of the median income for the area. Rents for these units will range from $300.00 to 

$1,260.00 per month. Approximately one half of the units in the project are available for 

households earning 70% to 80% of the area median income. For reference, there are a number of 

existing market rate projects in the City of Elkhart that have rents about $900.00 to $1,200.00. 

These units are priced similarly to some of our market rate units even though they are designated 

at 70% to 80% Area Median Income hereafter, AMI units. Along with the Division Street project 

by La Casa, this is one of the few new housing development projects that they have had in the 

City of Elkhart that actually provides housing options to households under 60% of the AMI. The 

City had conducted a housing study in 2022 through Zimmerman Volt that study indicated the 

City will need approximately four hundred (400) to five hundred thirty (530) additional units for 

households earning under 80% of the AMI annually over the next five (5) years. That is two 

thousand (2,000) to two thousand five hundred (2,500) units total and they are getting forty-eight 

(48) in here and the Division Street project was twelve (12) that is sixty (60) out of five hundred 

(500) units. They still have a long way to go to provide additional housing options for people. 

That is the most challenging for developers to be able to provide. The forgivable loan agreement 

that is proposed in this project mirrors the structure that was provided to Industrial Commercial 

Properties for the redevelopment of the Concord Mall. Similar to the Concord Mall, if the project 

is not completed, the developers are responsible for the repayment of the loan. The proceeds of 

the loan will be used to assist with the demolition of the existing structure, which is about 

$500,000.00 and additional site and utility relocation work. If you are familiar with the site, there 

is an alley next to the parking structure and there are a number of utility poles so there is a 

significant amount of work that has to be done to the site and that is our proposed investment in 

the project. The president of Real America is here and there may be others online. 

 

Councilman Mishler asked how many units are there in total? Mike Huber replied, there are 

forty-eight (48) units. Councilman Mishler asked about parking. Mike Huber said the 

downtown Central Business District hereafter CBD requires one parking space per unit. They 

also recognize that for the income target of this project and because of the location in downtown 

there will be access to public transportation and walking distance to the grocery store and a 

number of other amenities that there will be people who do not have a car. Councilman Mishler 

asked how many parking spots are anticipated? Mike Huber said it has already gone through the 

zoning process and been approved for the appropriate zoning through the zoning process. 

Councilman Mishler said there is the parking garage right there that is utilized by the police 

department and the hotel. Mike Huber said he believe the project accommodates twenty seven 

(27) to twenty nine (29) spaces on the site and there is utilization of additional on street parking 

as well. Councilman Mishler restated the pricing of the units and the use of the cities’ money 

for demolition and other work to prepare the site. He asked if there was a timeline? Mike Huber 

said once this is approved they will close their financing and begin demolition of the existing 

structure. 

 

Councilman Fish asked will this use the same entrance as the alley? Mike Huber replied yes. 

Councilman Fish asked if upon closing if the terms begins on the loan. Mike Huber said yes 

and then the loan is forgiven upon completion of the project. 

 



9 

 

Councilman Henke asked if this project is tied to any other projects? Mike Huber replied this a 

Limited Liability Company hereafter LLC, also the LLC that is developed by the Real America 

Company. Councilman Henke asked what part of the money is actually company investment, 

non-tax credit and non-grant related? Rhonda Shrewsberry, the president of Real America 

Development said the company is thirty years (30) old and have developed affordable housing 

throughout Indiana and now in Colorado. To answer the question for the equity piece, they have 

obtained Federal Tax Credits that is Section 42 tax credits and sell the tax credits, the tenure tax 

credits to raise the equity for the equitable portion of the costs. They originally submitted in 

2022, with the interest rate changes and construction costs, they do have a deficit, and the project 

is over $14,000,000.00 so any equitable contributions they make comes from their developer fees 

that they would defer into the project. The majority of the money that goes into the project is 

through the sale of the tax credits. Councilman Henke said his question was how much money 

does the company itself extend and it is zero because you are using full tax credit for the total 

cost of the project plus city money, is that correct? Rhonda Shrewsberry replied yes. 

Councilman Henke asked if this LLC also listed as a 501c3, is it a tax paying entity?  Rhonda 

Shrewsberry replied it is a Legacy 25, Legacy 25 is a 501c3 and together with Real America, 

the Legacy 25 is the owner and general partner of the entity, Real America is the developer and 

co-owner. Mike Huber said the property will generate property tax and it will generate tax 

increment into the Tax Increment Fund hereafter, TIF. Councilman Henke asked how much 

will it generate? Mike Huber responded they can send the information to Councilman Henke. 

Councilman Henke said there is a demand for more housing and that they have to be careful 

about how they go about providing housing and using local apartment providers. Mike Huber 

said this is just a part of the solution as there is a large need for more housing. Councilman 

Henke asked what the city’s total investment is? Mike Huber replied the city’s total investment 

in this project is $850,000.00. 

 

PUBLIC DISCUSSION ON PROPOSED ORDINANCE 24-O-32 

President Dawson opened the public discussion starting at 1 hour, 12 minutes and 46 seconds of 

the audio recording. 

 

There was no public discussion. 

 

COUNCIL DISCUSSION ON PROPOSED ORDINANCE 24-O-32 

President Dawson opened council discussion starting at 1 hour, 12 minutes and 52 seconds of the 

audio recording. 

 

There was no further Council discussion. 

 

President Dawson asked the clerk to do a roll call vote on second reading. 

 

AYES: Holtz, Curry, King, Mishler, Hines, Crabtree, Henke, Dawson 

NAYS: 

 

By a vote of 9-0, the proposed ordinance passed on second reading. 

 

Motion for third and final reading made by Councilwoman Hines, second by Councilman Fish. 

 

President Dawson asked the clerk to read the proposed ordinance by title only and do a roll call 

vote.  



10 

 

 

AYES: Holtz, Curry, King, Mishler, Fish, Hines, Crabtree, Henke, Dawson 

NAYS:  

 

By a vote of 9-0, the proposed ordinance passed on third and final reading.   

 

Discussion on the proposed ordinance ends at 1 hour, 13 minutes and 56 seconds of the audio 

recording. 

 

ORDINANCES ON FIRST READING 

 

There are no Ordinances on First Reading. 

 

 

RESOLUTIONS 

 

Proposed Resolution 24-R-47 

 

A RESOLUTION OF THE COMMON COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF ELKHART, 

INDIANA, APPROVING THE SUBSTANTIALLY FINAL FORM OF DEVELOPMENT 

AND LOAN AGREEMENT 515 EAST STREET PROJECT 

 

President Dawson asked the clerk to read the proposed resolution by title only. He asked for a 

motion and a second to adopt this resolution. Motion by Councilman Fish, second by 

Councilwoman Hines. 

 

COUNCIL DISCUSSION ON PROPOSED RESOLUTION 24-R-47 

President Dawson opened council discussion starting at 1 hour, 14 minutes and 22 seconds of the 

audio recording. 

 

Mike Huber, Director of Development Services, said this is the actual loan agreement that 

goes along with the previous appropriation. 

 

Councilman Fish questioned the Section 42 tax credit and how long they were viable? Rhonda 

Shrewsberry said it is a ten year (10) and there is a fifteen year (15) compliance period. 

 

 

PUBLIC DISCUSSION ON PROPOSED RESOLUTION 24-R-47 

President Dawson opened the public discussion starting at 1 hour, 15 minutes and 38 seconds of 

the audio recording. 

 

There was no public discussion. 

 

COUNCIL DISCUSSION ON PROPOSED RESOLUTION 24-R-47 

President Dawson opened council discussion starting at 1 hour, 15 minutes and 45 seconds of the 

audio recording. 

 

There was no further Council discussion. 

 



11 

 

President Dawson asked the clerk to do a roll call vote.  

 

AYES: Holtz, Curry, King, Mishler, Hines, Crabtree, Henke, Dawson 

NAYS: 

 

By a vote of 9-0, the proposed resolution passed.  

 

Discussion on the proposed ordinance ends at 1 hour, 16 minutes and 25 seconds of the audio 

recording. 

 

Proposed Resolution 24-R-48 

 

A RESOLUTION OF THE COMMON COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF ELKHART, 

INDIANA, AUTHORIZING THE TRANSFER OF FIFTY THOUSAND DOLLARS 

($50,000.00) FROM THE FULL TIME ACCOUT TO THE CONTRACT SERVICES 

ACCOUNT OF THE LERNER THEATRE 

 

President Dawson asked the clerk to read the proposed resolution by title only. He asked for a 

motion and a second to adopt the resolution. Motion by Councilman Mishler, second by 

Councilwoman Hines. 

 

COUNCIL DISCUSSION ON PROPOSED RESOLUTION 24-R-48 

President Dawson opened council discussion starting at 1 hour, 16 minutes and 54 seconds of the 

audio recording. 

 

Mike Huber, Director of Development Services, said this item originated around the time that 

the original development agreement for the outdoor music venue and the Central Green fell 

apart. The City had created a promotional piece summarizing the opportunity for the outdoor 

music venue development based on the original Request For Proposal hereafter RFP that had 

been issued and they were initiating contact with other potential developers. He said he was 

introduced to Scott Welsh who is in the audience with Welsh Management Group during idea 

week at Notre Dame as an interested party who might have some interest in the outdoor venue 

project. Mr. Welsh collaborated with a partner, Blake McDaniel of Conway Entertainment 

Group to explore the opportunity and to understand the potential development parameters, 

including management of the Lerner, as had been contemplated in the original development 

agreement. Combined Mr. Wells and Mr. McDaniel have a significant number of years of 

experience in the music industry, both have managed and represented major label artists and 

booked them in venues across the country. After an initial virtual work session to discuss 

potential agreement parameters and expectations Mr. Welsh and Mr. McDaniel visited Elkhart to 

better understand the market, to see the site and to understand the development underway in 

Elkhart. The visit also included a tour of the Lerner and some discussions with the staff. This 

was the initiation of some conversations about the Lerner’s current operating model and Mr. 

McDaniel’s previous experience as a board member of the municipal auditorium in downtown 

Nashville and his role was part of initiating a number of changes that resulted in the Nashville 

municipal auditorium going from an annual public subsidiary of $1,000,000.00 a year to 

becoming self-sufficient within a one year (1) to a two year (2) period. During the conversations 

around the outdoor music venue, the former General Manager of the Lerner resigned and left that 

position open. The City was presented with a proposal by the current team of Mr. Welsh and Mr. 

McDaniel through Conway Entertainment to undertake a national search for a new full time 



12 

 

General Manager, that proposal was approved by the Lerner governing board last month. One of 

the key tenets of that was understanding with the pressure of not having a General Manager in 

place and not having some existing shows booked, needing to continue to have somebody 

negotiating to book additional shows and the celebration of the one hundred year (100) 

anniversary of the Lerner with the committee getting started and planning on the way for that, it 

was really incumbent on them to try to find an interim General Manager as quickly as possible. 

Mr. Welsh and Mr. McDaniel took that as part of the engagement in addition to not just finding 

the permanent General Manager, but to help them find and interim General Manager as well. 

They presented two (2) candidates and the candidate that was selected and recommended to the 

City and recommended to the Lerner governing board is Ms. Sherry May. She is on virtually this 

evening. She has spent the last twenty four years (24) creating and managing a pretty significant 

concert series at the Memphis Botanical Gardens. They do a five (5) show season and they have 

over seven thousand five hundred (7,500) people who attend each of the shows. They have a 

$2,000,000.00 budget just on that series. She was recommended to the Lerner governing board 

last month as an interim General Manager. The Lerner governing board agreed to execute a 

contract through Conway Entertainment to bring Miss May on as an interim General Manager. 

The resolution that is in front of the council allows for funds to be transferred from the full time 

salary line to what they would be paying for a general manager into the contract services line to 

be able to pay for the contract for the interim general manager. It is anticipated that the interim 

General Manager will only be in place serving in that role until the time it takes to actually hire 

and secure a new full time General Manager in that position. They think that is probably ninety 

days (90) to one hundred and eighty days (180) at the maximum. 

 

Councilman Mishler asked if it goes longer than the one hundred eighty days (180) is there 

enough money or will there be another request for additional funds? Mike Huber replied he 

cannot speak to that fully. The intent is for the interim to serve while they are still looking for a 

new General Manager. Councilman Mishler asked if the new General Manager is found in a 

short period of time what happens to the $50,000.00? Mike Huber replied, it is a $10,000.00 per 

month contract and if it is not needed for the entire time, then the money is not spent. 

Councilman Mishler said if we do not find someone in that time, would they need to 

appropriate money again? Mike Huber said he assumes that would be the case. 

 

Councilman Fish asked if this goes into 2025, who will manage the budget. Mike Huber 

replied, it will be a combination of the Mayor, Chief of Staff, the Lerner interim General 

Manager and the Lerner governing board. Councilman Fish said who would be the overall 

control, Jamie Arce and the Mayor? Mike Huber said yes. 

 

Councilman Henke asked if there was a second person within the Lerner that could have been 

trained to do this and has there been discussion about letting someone who has a career in the 

entertainment field manage the Lerner and the city retains ownership? Mike Huber said he is 

not aware if someone has been or could be trained to be the general manager. The interim 

general manager as part of her role will be to look at the way things are done and assess with Mr. 

Welsh and Mr. McDaniel what should be done by the city and what should be done by someone 

outside of the city government and get as close to the goal of making the Lerner a self-sustaining 

organization, like was accomplished in Nashville. The goal is to make this the best moving 

forward for the next hundred years. 

 

 



13 

 

President Dawson commented that he had the opportunity to speak with Mr. Welsh and Mr. 

McDaniel and their goals are the goals the city also wants to achieve.  President Dawson 

expressed the concerns of the Council and those gentlemen said they believe the City can 

achieve those goals with the commodity they have in the Lerner. 

 

Mike Huber said a thirty day (30) report is expected at the November Lerner Board meeting. 

 

 

PUBLIC DISCUSSION ON PROPOSED RESOLUTION 24-R-48 

President Dawson opened the public discussion starting at 1 hour, 27 minutes and 14 seconds of 

the audio recording. 

 

There was no public discussion. 

 

COUNCIL DISCUSSION ON PROPOSED RESOLUTION 24-R-48 

President Dawson opened council discussion starting at 1 hour, 27 minutes and 20 seconds of the 

audio recording. 

 

There was no further Council discussion. 

 

President Dawson asked the clerk to do a roll call vote.  

 

AYES: Holtz, Curry, King, Mishler, Hines, Crabtree, Henke, Dawson 

NAYS: 

 

By a vote of 9-0, the proposed resolution passed.  

 

Discussion on the proposed ordinance ends at 1 hour, 27 minutes and 46 seconds of the audio 

recording. 

 

VACATION HEARINGS 

 

There are no vacation hearings. 

 

 

OTHER NEW BUSINESS 

President Dawson opened the discussion starting at 1 hour, 28 minutes and 04 seconds of the 

audio recording. 

 

Councilman Henke said he has looked through the budget and said they should not only be 

watching what comes out but also what comes in. He would like to see some of the unusual 

spending be reduced and to better care for the resources that have been purchased and are 

underutilized. He also wanted to make sure that as they work through the budget process to be 

mindful of letting money run through their fingers. 

 

Councilman Mishler said he wants to commend the Parks Department and the Park’s 

Superintendent, Jamison Czarnecki. The recent ribbon cutting of the Island Park Disc Golf 

Course, has had fantastic reviews. Disc Golf was one of the most requested amenities to be 



14 

 

added to our parks. There is also the continued improvement at Walker Park with the new 

playground equipment and restrooms. He also said Buildings and Grounds is doing a great job.  
 
 

New Business discussion ended at 1 hour, 32 minutes and 41 seconds of the audio recording. 

 

 

REPORTS OF MAYOR, BOARD OF WORKS, BOARD OF SAFETY OR CITY 

DEPARTMENTS 

 

There were no reports. 

 

 

NEIGHBORHOOD ASSOCIATION REPORTS 

President Dawson opened the Neighborhood Association Reports starting at 1 hour, 32 minutes 

and 54 seconds of the audio recording. 

 

Councilman Curry said the Pierre Moran Neighborhood Association met at the Pierre Moran 

Park Pavilion and discussed issues of the neighborhood in the aftermath of the tornado and how 

people are coming along in rebuilding their homes. Adrian Riley from the Elkhart Police 

Department attended our meeting and answered questions. He would like to thank  

Chief Milanese for giving them an update on the attrition of the police department. 

 

Councilwoman King said The Elkhart Truth attended our budget meeting and if they get a 

chance look at the article in the paper. The end of the year meeting will be happening for the 

neighborhood association and they will be planning for 2025. 

 

Neighborhood Association reports ends at 1 hour, 35 minutes and 15 seconds of the audio 

recording. 

 

PRIVILEGE OF THE FLOOR 

 

There was no one who spoke. 

 

 

SCHEDULING OF COMMITTEE MEETINGS 

 

President Dawson stated on October 17, 2024, there will be a Special Call meeting and they will 

pass the final budget at a public hearing. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



15 

 

 

ACCEPTANCE OF COMMUNICATIONS 
 Minutes of August 28, 2024 – Board of Aviation Commissioners 

 Minutes of August 27, 2024 – Board of Public Safety 

 Minutes of September 3, 2024 – Board of Public Works 

 Minutes of September 17, 2024 – Board of Works – Memorandum 

 Minutes of September 17, 2024 – Board of Works 

 Minutes of July 11, 2024 – Board of Zoning Appeals 

 Minutes of June 20, 2024 – Elkhart Historic & Cultural Preservation Commission 

 Minutes of August 19, 2024 – Elkhart Urban Enterprise Zone 

 Minutes of August 20, 2024 – Parks and Recreation Board 

 Report – Attrition Rates 2018-2024 – Elkhart Police Department 

 Report – Month End September 2024 – Elkhart Communication Center  

 

President Dawson asked for a motion to approve the communications.  Motion made by 

Councilman Mishler, second by Councilman Fish. 

 

By a unanimous voice vote, the Acceptance of Communications passed. 
 

ADJOURNMENT 

 

President Dawson asked for a motion to adjourn.  Motion made by Councilwoman Hines, second 

by Councilman Crabtree. 

 

By a unanimous voice vote, the meeting was adjourned. 
 

 

 

_______________________________  ________________________________ 

Debra D. Barrett, Elkhart City Clerk   Arvis L. Dawson 

                  President of the Elkhart City Council 



229 S 2ND ST, ELKHART, IN 46516 
T 574.294.5471 U ELKHARTINDIANA.ORG 

Memorandum 
To: Arvis Dawson, President, Elkhart City Common Council 
From: Jamie Arce, CPA, City Controller 
Date: September 25, 2024 
Regarding: 2025 Fire Schedule of Salaries and Other Compensation 

For your consideration, please find the following proposed ordinance adopting the maximum 
salaries for the high-ranking officials of the Elkhart fire department and members of the 
International Association of Firefighters Local #338 

The salary ranges of the high-ranking officials align with the City’s performance management 
model.  Performance based raises for the Chief and Assistant Chief will be awarded based on the 
approval of the 2025 budget.   

For the Members of the International Association of Firefighters Local #338 the collective 
bargaining agreement between the City and IAFF was approved on September 9, 2024, and 
expires December 31, 2027.  The rates of pay and other benefits that were agreed to are 
reflected in the proposed ordinance. 

Proposed Ordinance No.  24-O-40 



Page 1 of 7 
  

Proposed Ordinance No.  24-O-40 
 

 
ORDINANCE NO. _____________ 

 
AN ORDINANCE ADOPTING A SCHEDULE OF SALARIES AND OTHER 

COMPENSATION FOR THE FIRE DEPARTMENT OF THE CITY OF ELKHART, 
INDIANA, FOR THE CALENDAR YEAR 2025 

__________________________________________________ 
 

WHEREAS, the Common Council of the City of Elkhart, Indiana (“Common Council”) 

is required by Indiana Code 36-8-3-3(d), to fix the compensation for the employees of the Fire 

Department, by ordinance, not later than November 1 of each year for the ensuing budget year; 

and  

WHEREAS, the employees of the Fire Department, include the sworn members of the 

Elkhart Fire Department, as defined in Indiana Code 36-8-1-8, among whom are employees 

covered by a collective bargaining agreement, and upper-level employees who are not covered 

by a collective bargaining agreement; and 

WHEREAS, the Common Council recognizes the International Association of 

Firefighters Local # 338 (IAFF Local 338), as the exclusive bargaining representative for sworn 

full-time firefighters (“firefighters”) of the Elkhart Fire Department, holding the rank of 

Firefighter (F1) through the rank of Captain (F5) (hereinafter, “CBA Covered Positions”), but 

excluding the rank of Investigator (F6) and above (hereinafter, “Non-CBA Covered Positions”); 

and 

WHEREAS, the Common Council approved under Resolution No. R-46-24, that certain 

Collective Bargaining Agreement between the City of Elkhart and International Association of 

Firefighters Local # 338 (hereinafter, “the CBA”), which sets forth, inter alia, the compensation 

and benefits for the 2025 calendar year for the CBA Covered Positions, specified therein; and  



Page 2 of 7 
  

WHEREAS, pursuant to, and as required by, Indiana Code 36-8-3-3, the compensation 

fixed for the various employees of the Fire Department, for CBA Covered Positions and Non-

CBA Covered Positions, is set forth herein, including, salaries, and, where applicable, other 

monetary compensation, and fringe benefits, monetary and non-monetary;  

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Common Council that: 

Section 1.  Compensation. The compensation for the payment of salaries of employees 

of the Fire Department of the City of Elkhart, Indiana, is hereby established, payable on a bi-

weekly basis, every other Friday, for the calendar year 2025, setting forth the position and 

maximum compensation, expressed as an annual amount of compensation, if the corresponding 

bi-weekly compensation were paid for the entire year: 

 
Non-CBA 
Covered 
Positions 

 2025 2026 2027 

F10 Chief  NTE: $119,300 NTE: $119,300 NTE: $119,300 

F9 Assistant Chief  NTE: $113,700 NTE: $113,700 NTE: $113,700 

F8 Division Chief  $ 98,500 $ 101,400 $ 103,700 

F7 Battalion Chief  $ 97,900 $ 100,800 $ 103,100 

F6 Inspector  $ 86,000 $ 88,900 $ 91,200 

F6 Investigator  $ 86,000 $ 88,900 $ 91,200 

 
 

 
CBA Covered 
Positions  

    

F5 Captain  $ 80,400 $ 83,300 $ 85,600 

F4 Lieutenant  $ 78,900 $ 81,800 $ 84,100 

F3 Operator  $ 75,300 $ 78,200 $ 80,500 

F2 1st Class FF  $ 72,500 $ 75,400 $ 77,700 

F1 Fire Fighter  $ 65,200 $ 68,100 $ 70,400 

       
 Section 2.  Pay Schedule. For the calendar year 2025, salary and wage payments shall 

be made every other Friday with the first payment being January 3, 2025.  

 Section 3.  Specialty and Incentive Pay. For calendar year 2025, the following special 



Page 3 of 7 
  

incentives are authorized for each eligible firefighter, including a firefighter holding a non-cba 

covered positions, provided the firefighter is assigned work requiring the application of the 

corresponding specialty: 

A sum not to exceed the following: 
 
Specialty Annual Incentive 
  
Hazardous Materials 
HAZMAT Team Leaders $2,300.00 ea. 
HAZMAT Team $1,000.00 ea.  
 
EMS 
Advanced EMT   
Tier 1 Probationary Paramedic 
Tier 2 Paramedic 
Tier 3 Preceptor Paramedic 
Tier 4 Preceptor Educator Paramedic 

$3,500.00 ea. 
$2,500.00 ea. 
$4,800.00 ea. 
$5,500.00 ea. 
$7,000.00 ea. 

  
Water Rescue 
Water Rescue Team Leader $2,300.00 ea. 
Water Rescue Team  $1,000.00 ea.  
 
Technical Rescue 
Technical Rescue Team Coordinator $2,300.00 ea. 
Technical Rescue Team  $1,000.00 ea.  
 
Mechanics, Instructors, and Assistants 
SCBA Coordinator $4,000.00 ea. 
SCBA Maintenance $2,742.00 ea. 
Assistant Mechanics $2,742.00 ea. 
Instructors $4,000.00 ea. 
Technology Assistant 
Peer Support 
Honor Guard 

$2,742.00 ea. 
$1,000.00 ea. 
$1,000.00 ea.  

Section 4.  Holiday Pay. For the calendar year 2025, Holiday Pay shall be payable to 

firefighters holding positions covered by the Collective Bargaining Agreement between the City 

of Elkhart and International Association of Firefighters Local # 338, as restated below: 

A. Except as otherwise stated in Subsection C, to be eligible for holiday pay, a 
firefighter must work his or her regular tour of duty before, during or after a scheduled holiday.  
Holidays are those days designated by Ordinance No. 5856, as amended from time to time. 



Page 4 of 7 
 

B. If a firefighter’s regular tour of duty begins on a scheduled holiday and he or she 
works that entire shift, the firefighter shall receive three hundred dollars ($300.00) holiday pay. If 
a firefighter does not work the entire shift, then he or she will receive a pro-rated amount of holiday 
pay. If a firefighter’s regular tour of duty does not begin on a scheduled holiday and he or she is 
eligible for holiday pay pursuant to Subsection A, the firefighter shall receive one hundred fifty 
dollars ($150.00) holiday pay. 

C. If a firefighter’s regular tour of duty begins on the calendar day before or after a 
scheduled holiday, but he or she: (i) takes a vacation day or personal day on at least one of those 
days, or (ii) is unable to work at least one of those days due to an on-duty injury, then the firefighter 
shall receive one hundred fifty dollars ($150.00) holiday pay. If a firefighter’s regular tour of duty 
begins on the day of the scheduled holiday, but he or she: (i) takes a vacation day or personal day 
on that day, or (ii) is unable to work that day due to an on-duty injury, then the firefighter shall 
receive three hundred dollars ($300) holiday pay. 

D. If a firefighter’s regular tour of duty does not begin on the day of the scheduled 
holiday, but he or she works overtime on that day, then the firefighter shall be paid his or her 
overtime rate and a pro-rated amount of holiday pay based on the number of actual hours worked, 
in addition to their normal holiday pay. 

E. If a firefighter’s regular tour of duty begins on a scheduled holiday, but he or she 
elects to trade work time with another firefighter, then the first firefighter will forfeit a pro-rated 
amount of his or her holiday pay based on the number of hours worked by the second firefighter.  
The second firefighter shall receive the forfeited pro-rated amount based on the number of hours 
he or she actually works. 

Section 5.  Longevity Pay. Longevity Pay shall be payable to all firefighters, regardless of 

rank, as follows:  

Continuous years of service  Compensation 
 
Five (5) years    $25 per month, payable at the beginning of the 5th year 
Ten (10) years    $50 per month, payable at the beginning of the 10th year 
Fifteen (15) years   $150 per month, payable at the beginning of the 15th year 
Twenty (20) years   $300 per month, payable at the beginning of the 20th year 
Twenty-one (21) or more years          $500 per month, payable at the beginning of the 21st year 
 

Section 6.  Uniform Allowance. Uniform Allowance shall be payable to all firefighters, 

regardless of rank, After serving one (1) year on the Fire Department, each firefighter shall receive 

a sum not to exceed Two Thousand Dollars ($2,000.00) per year as clothing allowance. 

Section 7.  Compensatory Time. Compensatory Time shall be payable as provided below:  

Firefighters in rank of Firefighter (F1) through Captain (F5) are eligible to earn Compensatory 
Time. 



Page 5 of 7 
 

Section 8.  Overtime Pay. Overtime Pay shall be payable as provided below:  

Firefighters in rank of Firefighter (F1) through Captain (F5) shall be entitled to overtime pay. 

Overtime pay for firefighters shall be paid at a rate of one and one-half times the firefighter's 

regular rate of pay, which is to be calculated at the firefighter's pay grade and specialty pay. 

Section 9.  Stipend Pay. Stipend Pay shall be payable to firefighters holding the rank of 

Battalion Chief (F7). Stipend Pay shall equal one and one-half times (1 and ½) the Battalion 

Chief’s regular compensation and shall be payable for any additional shifts worked over and above 

the Battalion Chief’s regular schedule. 

Section 10.  Severance Pay. A firefighter’s earned benefits shall be paid upon a firefighter’s 

separation from service, as follows: 

A. For firefighters holding the rank of Firefighter (F1) through Captain (F5), upon 
retirement, voluntary termination, or death while on active duty, the firefighter, or the 
firefighter’s estate, shall be eligible for payment for earned vacation benefits, personal time, sick 
time, compensatory time and incentive pay in accordance with the collective bargaining 
agreement between the City of Elkhart (the “City”) and the International Association of 
Firefighters, Local No. 338 (the “Union”). 

B. All other firefighters shall receive payment of accrued benefits as provided in the 
Employee Handbook or as otherwise provided by law.  

Section 11.  Sick Pay. Sick pay shall be available to firefighters, as follows: 

A. All those firefighters holding the rank of F6 and above, the amount of sick time 
they shall receive annually shall be forty (40) hours. 

B. For those firefighters holding the paygrade and rank of F5 and below, the 
firefighter will be allowed two (2) paid sick days per year.  

C. Sick time shall not accumulate from year to year.  
D. All sick time shall be taken in accordance with the sick time provisions of the 

most current collective bargaining agreement between the City and the Union.  
E. These sick time provisions supersede all other sick time benefits provided by the 

City. 

 Section 12.  Injury Benefits. Injury Benefits shall be available, notwithstanding any 

ordinance to the contrary, to all firefighters covered by the Collective Bargaining Agreement with 



Page 6 of 7 
 

the City, and shall be entitled to take medical leave in accordance with the medical leave provisions 

of the Collective Bargaining Agreement.  

 Section 13.  Residency Incentive. The Residency Incentive provided herein, applies only 

to firefighters who are not covered by the Collective Bargaining Agreement with the City of 

Elkhart. All other firefighter who are employed on a full-time basis, who establishes and maintains 

legal residency within the city limits of the City of Elkhart, physically resides on a continuous, 

permanent basis within the Elkhart city limits, and satisfies such other the requirements described 

in the Employee Handbook relating to this incentive, shall be entitled to an annual lump sum 

monetary bonus of up to two thousand four hundred dollars ($2,400). The residency bonus shall 

be prorated for each full month of city residency out of the twelve (12) months immediately 

preceding the month selected by the City Controller for the payment of the bonus, and provided 

the person is so employed by the City on the last day of the pay-period prior to the bonus payment 

date 

Section 14.  Inconsistent Ordinances. Any ordinances, resolutions or parts thereof in 

conflict with this Ordinance are hereby deemed repealed. 

Section 15.  Effective Date. The effective date of this Ordinance shall be January 1, 2025. 

[Balance of page is intentionally blank.] 

  



Page 7 of 7 
 

 
ORDAINED this ______ day of ____________________, ______. 

 
________________________________ 

       Arvis Dawson 
President of the Common Council 

ATTEST: 
 
_____________________________ 
Debra D. Barrett, City Clerk 

 
 
PRESENTED to the Mayor by me this ________ day of ___________, _______, at 

    a.m./p.m. 
 
_______________________________ 
Debra D. Barrett, City Clerk 

 
 
 

Approved by me this ______ day of ____________________, _____. 
 
 

_______________________________ 
Rod Roberson, Mayor 

ATTEST: 
 
___________________________ 
Debra D. Barrett, City Clerk  

 



Proposed Ordinance 24-O-41





 
Page 1 of 4 

 

Proposed Ordinance No. 24-O-41 

 

ORDINANCE NO.     

 
AN ORDINANCE AMENDING THE ZONING MAP CREATED 

PURSUANT TO ORDINANCE NO. 4370, THE “ZONING ORDINANCE OF THE CITY 
OF ELKHART, INDIANA” AS AMENDED, TO REZONE 203 N. NAPPANEE STREET, 

ELKHART, IN 46514, FROM R-2, ONE FAMILY DWELLING DISTRICT TO O, 
OFFICE DISTRICT. 

 
WHEREAS, on July 20, 1998, the Common Council of the City of Elkhart, Indiana (the 

“Common Council”) adopted Ordinance No. 4370 (the “Zoning Ordinance of the City of Elkhart, 

Indiana”), creating the zoning map that established the zoning districts for all real estate located 

within the corporate boundaries of the City of Elkhart (commonly referred to as the “Zoning 

Map”); and 

WHEREAS, the real estate located at 203 N. Nappanee Street, Elkhart, IN 46514 (the “Real 

Estate”), is zoned R-2, One Family Dwelling District; and 

WHEREAS, the owner of the Real Estate petitioned the Elkhart City Plan Commission, 

requesting an amendment to the Zoning Map to allow for use as office space; and 

WHEREAS, the intended use of the Real Estate is not a permitted use, unless the subject 

Real Estate is rezoned from R-2, One Family Dwelling District to O, Office District, and thereby 

allowing the owner’s intended use; and  

WHEREAS, the rezoning, as petitioned, remains compatible with the adjacent properties 

and reflects responsible growth and development; and  

WHEREAS, on October 7, 2024, the Elkhart City Plan Commission conducted a public 

hearing on the petition to amend the Zoning Map for the purpose stated herein and voted to forward 

to this Council, the Commission’s “Do Pass” recommendation. 



 
Page 2 of 4 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE COMMON COUNCIL OF THE 

CITY OF ELKHART, INDIANA that 

Section 1. The zoning map created pursuant to and incorporated into Ordinance No. 4370, 

as amended, the Zoning Ordinance of the City of Elkhart, Indiana, is hereby further amended to 

rezone from R-2, One Family Dwelling District to O, Office District, the following real estate, 

located in the City of Elkhart, County of Elkhart, State of Indiana, and more fully described in the 

Exhibit A attached to this Ordinance.  

Section 2. Conditions of Rezoning.  This amendment and rezoning shall not take effect unless 

the following condition is satisfied: 

A. Cross access is established between the parking lots so there are egress and ingress options. 

Section 3. Effective Date.  This ordinance shall be in full force and effect from and 

after its passage by the Common Council. 

[Balance of page is intentionally blank.] 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 
Page 3 of 4 

 

Exhibit A 

Description of Real Property 

  

Legal Description: 

A PART OF THE SOUTHEAST QUARTER (SE 1/4) OF SECTION ONE (1), TOWNSHIP THIRTY-SEVEN (37) 
NORTH, RANGE FOUR (4) EAST CLEVELAND TOWNSHIP, ELKHART COUNTY, INDIANA, MORE 
PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS:  

COMMENCING AT A STONE AT THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF THE SOUTHWEST QUARTER (SW 1/4) OF 
SECTION SIX (6), TOWNSHIP THIRTY-SEVEN (37) NORTH, RANGE FIVE (5) EAST; THENCE SOUTH 
ALONG THE EAST LINE OF SAID SECTION ONE (1), FIVE HUNDRED SIXTEEN AND SIXTY-FOUR 
HUNDREDTHS (516.64) FEET FOR THE BEGINNING POINT OF THIS DESCRIPTION; THENCE SOUTH 
EIGHTY-EIGHT (88) FEET; THENCE SOUTH EIGHTY-NINE (89) DEGREES THIRTY-EIGHT (38) MINUTES 
WEST, THREE HUNDRED THIRTY (330) FEET TO AN IRON STAKE; THENCE NORTH EIGHTY-EIGHT (88) 
FEET TO AN IRON STAKE; THENCE NORTH EIGHTY-NINE (89) DEGREES THIRTY-EIGHT (38) MINUTES 
EAST, THREE HUNDRED THIRTY (330) FEET TO THE PLACE OF BEGINNING. 

EXPECTING THEREFROM THE FOLLOWING: 

A PART OF THE SOUTHEAST QUARTER OF SECTION 1, TOWNSHIP 37 NORTH, RANGE 4 EAST, ELKHART 
COUNTY INDIANA AND THAT PART OF THE GRANTOR'S LAND LYING WITHIN THE RIGHT OF WAY 
LINES DEPICTED ON THE ATTACHED RIGHT OF WAY PARCEL PLAT MARKED EXHIBIT "B", DESCRIBED 
AS FOLLOWS:  

COMMENCING AT THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF THE SOUTHWEST QUARTER OF SECTION 6, 
TOWNSHIP 37 NORTH, RANGE 5 EAST DESIGNATED AS POINT "20" ON SAID PLAT; THENCE SOUTH 0 
DEGREES 17 MINUTES 18 SECONDS WEST 516.64 FEET ALONG THE EAST LINE OF SAID SECTION 1 TO 
THE PROLONGED NORTH LINE OF THE GRANTOR'S LAND; THENCE NORTH 89 DEGREES 42 MINUTES 
42 SECONDS WEST 37.50 FEET ALONG THE PROLONGATION OF SAID NORTH LINE TO THE WEST 
BOUNDARY OF S.R.19 PER DEED RECORD 218, PAGE 435 (OFFICE OF RECORDER OF ELKHART 
COUNTY) AND THE POINT OF BEGINNING OF THIS DESCRIPTION; THENCE SOUTH 0 DEGREES 06 
MINUTES 48 SECONDS WEST 88.00 FEET ALONG THE BOUNDARY OF SAID S.R.19 TO THE SOUTH LINE 
OF THE GRANTOR'S LAND; THENCE NORTH 89 DEGREES 42 MINUTES 42 SECONDS WEST 14.90 FEET 
ALONG SAID SOUTH LINE; THENCE NORTH 0 DEGREES 06 MINUTES 48 SECONDS EAST 77.85 FEET TO 
THE POINT DESIGNATED AS "297" ON SAID PLAT; THENCE NORTH 13 DEGREES 55 MINUTES 23 
SECONDS WEST 10.47 FEET TO THE NORTH LINE OF THE GRANTOR'S LAND THENCE SOUTH 89 
DEGREES 42 MINUTES 42 SECONDS EAST 17.44 FEET ALONG SAID NORTH LINE TO THE POINT OF 
BEGINNING AND CONTAINING 0.030 ACRES, MORE OR LESS. 

Address(s): 
203 N. Nappanee Street, Elkhart IN 46514 
Parcel Identification Number(s): 

20-05-01-427-007.000-006 



 
Page 4 of 4 

 

So ORDAINED this    day of    ,   . 

 
 
           
     Arvis Dawson 
     President of the Common Council 
ATTEST: 
 
      
Debra D. Barrett, Elkhart City Clerk 
 

PRESENTED to the Mayor by me this    day of    ,    , 

at _________ a.m./p.m.  

          
    Debra D. Barrett, Elkhart City Clerk 
 
 
Approved by me this    day of    ,   . 
 
 
           
     Rod Roberson, Mayor for the City of Elkhart 
ATTEST: 
 
      
Debra D. Barrett, Elkhart City Clerk 



















Rod Roberson 

Mayor 

Michael Huber 

Director of Development Services 

Development Services 

Community Development 

Economic Development 

Pln1111ing Services 

Redevelopment 

229 S. Second St. 

Elkhart, IN 46516 

574.294.5471 

Fax: 574.295.7501 

DATE: 

TO: 

FROM: 

RE: 

October 11, 2024 

City of Elkhart Common Council 

Michael Huber, Director of Development Services 

Rezoning reguest for 2520 and 2526 Bypass Road -(20-05-01-426-007.000-006 and 20-05-01-401-
011.000-006) 

At its regular meeting on Monday, October 7, 2024, the Plan Commission recommended approval of Petition 24-2-07. The 
Plan Commission provided a 'Do Pass' recommendation on to the Common Council by a vote of 7-0 w/ one abstention. 

The petitioner, RB Realty, LLC, has requested to rezone the former Skyline Complex. The 18.21 acre parcels are proposed 
to be redeveloped as multi-family housing. The plan calls for 138 units across three buildings. The rezoning to R-4, Multi 
Family Dwelling District from M-1, Limited Manufacturing District will allow the project to move forward. 

This project also helps our community continue to address the shortage of residential dwelling units as highlighted in the 
Zimmerman Volk study. Currently the project is being designed to be accessible to the area's workforce, including those 
earning between 80-120% of the Area Median Income (AMI). The final layout for the project has not yet been finalized. 
However, the project will be required to be submitted for review at Technical Review and by the Building Department 
before permits are issued. 

Proposed Ordinance 24-O-42





Page 1 of 5 

Proposed Ordinance No. 24-O-42 

ORDINANCE NO. 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING THE ZONING MAP CREATED 
PURSUANT TO ORDINANCE NO. 4370, THE “ZONING ORDINANCE OF THE CITY 

OF ELKHART, INDIANA” AS AMENDED, TO REZONE 2520 AND 2526 BYPASS 
ROAD, ELKHART, IN 46514, FROM M-1, LIMITED MANUFACTURING DISTRICT 

TO R-4, MULTIPLE FAMILY DWELLING DISTRICT. 

WHEREAS, on July 20, 1998, the Common Council of the City of Elkhart, Indiana (the 

“Common Council”) adopted Ordinance No. 4370 (the “Zoning Ordinance of the City of Elkhart, 

Indiana”), creating the zoning map that established the zoning districts for all real estate located 

within the corporate boundaries of the City of Elkhart (commonly referred to as the “Zoning 

Map”); and 

WHEREAS, the real estate located at 2520 and 2526 Bypass Road, Elkhart, IN 46514 (the 

“Real Estate”), is zoned M-1, Limited Manufacturing District; and 

 WHEREAS, the owner of the Real Estate petitioned the Elkhart City Plan 

Commission, requesting an amendment to the Zoning Map to allow for construction of one 

hundred thirty-eight (138) apartments across three buildings; and

WHEREAS, the intended use of the Real Estate is not a permitted use, unless the subject

Real Estate is rezoned from M-1, Limited Manufacturing District to R-4, Multiple Family 

Dwelling District, thereby permitting the owner’s intended use; and  

WHEREAS, the rezoning, as petitioned, remains compatible with the adjacent properties 

and reflects responsible growth and development; and  



Page 2 of 5 
 

WHEREAS, on October 7, 2024, the Elkhart City Plan Commission conducted a public 

hearing on the petition to amend the Zoning Map for the purpose stated herein and voted to forward 

to this Council, the Commission’s “Do Pass” recommendation. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE COMMON COUNCIL OF THE 

CITY OF ELKHART, INDIANA that 

Section 1. The zoning map created pursuant to and incorporated into Ordinance No. 4370, 

as amended, the Zoning Ordinance of the City of Elkhart, Indiana, is hereby further amended to 

rezone from M-1, Limited Manufacturing District to R-4, Multiple Family Dwelling District, the 

following real estate, located in the City of Elkhart, County of Elkhart, State of Indiana, and more 

fully described in the Exhibit A attached to this Ordinance.  

Section 2. Effective Date.  This ordinance shall be in full force and effect from and 

after its passage by the Common Council. 

[Balance of page is intentionally blank.]



Page 3 of 5 
 

Exhibit A 

Description of Real Property 

Address(s):  

Parcel Identification Number(s): 
 
20-05-01-426-007.000-006 

20-05-01-401-011.000-006 

Legal Description:  
 
TRACT I: A PART OF SECTION 1, TOWNSHIP 37 NORTH, RANGE 4 EAST, SECOND PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN, 
CLEVELAND TOWNSHIP, ELKHART COUNTY, INDIANA, MORE PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED AS 
FOLLOWS: 

COMMENCING AT A 1" IRON PIPE THAT IS 1212. 7 FEET SOUTH AND 1.57 CHAINS WEST (103.62 FEET) 
OF THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF THE SOUTHWEST QUARTER OF THE NORTHEAST QUARTER OF SAID 
SECTION 1; THENCE SOUTH 0 DEGREES 1 MINUTE 36 SECONDS WEST, A DISTANCE OF 916.80 FEET TO 
A POINT ON THE CENTERLINE OF INDIANA STATE HIGHWAY 112; THENCE SOUTH 89 DEGREES 26 
MINUTES 0 SECONDS EAST ALONG SAID CENTERLINE, A DISTANCE OF  509 FEET TO THE POINT OF 
BEGINNING OF THIS DESCRIPTION; THENCE CONTINUING EAST ALONG SAID LINE, A DISTANCE OF 400 
FEET; THENCE NORTH 0 DEGREES 0 MINUTES 36 SECONDS EAST, A DISTANCE OF 50 FEET TO AN IRON 
PIPE ON THE NORTH RIGHT-OF-WAY SAID INDIANA STATE HIGHWAY 112; THENCE SOUTH 89 DEGREES 
26 MINUTES 0 SECONDS EAST ALONG SAID NORTH RIGHT-OF-WAY, A DISTANCE OF 100.40 FEET TO 
AN IRON REBAR WITH CAP (DORIOT #890028); THENCE NORTH 0 DEGREES 54 MINUTES 22 SECONDS 
EAST, A DISTANCE OF 768.10 FEET TO A POINT ON THE NORTH LINE OF THE SOUTHEAST QUARTER OF 
SAID SECTION 1; CONTINUING NORTH ALONG SAID LINE, A DISTANCE OF 107.31 FEET; THENCE NORTH 
89 DEGREES 55 MINUTES 2 SECONDS WEST, A DISTANCE OF 514.07 FEET TO AN IRON PIPE; THENCE 
SOUTH O DEGREES 0 MINUTES 36 SECONDS WEST, A DISTANCE OF 107.30 FEET TO A POINT ON THE 
NORTH LINE OF THE SOUTHEAST QUARTER OF SAID SECTION 1; THENCE CONTINUING SOUTH ALONG 
SAID LINE, A DISTANCE OF 813.80 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING; SAID DESCRIBED TRACT 
CONTAINING 10.63 ACRES, MORE OR LESS. 

EXCEPTING THEREFROM: A PART OF THAT TRACT OF LAND CONVEYED TO SKYLINE CORPORATION, AS 
DESCRIBED IN DEED RECORD 97-000017, ELKHART COUNTY RECORDER, AND LYING IN SECTION 1, 
TOWNSHIP 37 NORTH RANGE 4 EAST, CLEVELAND TOWNSHIP, ELKHART COUNTY, INDIANA, MORE 
PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: 

COMMENCING AT A 1" IRON PIPE THAT IS 1212.7 FEET SOUTH AND 1.57 CHAINS WEST (103.62 FEET) 
OF THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF THE SOUTHWEST QUARTER OF THE NORTHEAST QUARTER OF SAID 
SECTION 1 (RECORD DIMENSION PER SAID SKYLINE CORPORATION LAND); THENCE SOUTH 0'01 '36" 
WEST, A DISTANCE OF 916.80 FEET TO A POINT ON THE CENTERLINE OF INDIANA STATE HIGHWAY 112 

2520 and 2526 Bypass Road, Elkhart, IN 46514 



Page 4 of 5 
 

(RECORD DIMENSION PER SAID SKYLINE CORPORATION LAND); THENCE SOUTH 89'26'00" EAST 
ALONG SAID CENTERLINE, A DISTANCE OF 509.00 FEET (RECORD DIMENSION PER SAID SKYLINE 
CORPORATION LAND) TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING OF THIS DESCRIPTION AND BEING THE SOUTHWEST 
CORNER OF SAID SKYLINE CORPORATION LAND; THENCE NORTH 89'25'06" EAST ALONG SAID 
CENTERLINE 400.00 FEET; THENCE NORTH 01 '08'18" EAST 50.00 FEET TO AN IRON PIPE ON THE 
NORTH RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF SAID INDIANA STATE HIGHWAY 112; THENCE NORTH 89'25'06" EAST 
ALONG SAID NORTH RIGHT-OF-WAY 100.40 FEET TO AN IRON REBAR WITH CAP (DORIOT #890028) 
MARKING THE SOUTHEAST CORNER OF SAID SKYLINE CORPORATION LAND; THENCE NORTH O0 14'32" 
WEST 603.5 FEET, PASSING A REBAR WITH CAP (MUSSER #9700002) AT 597.00 FEET, TO THE EDGE OF 
WATER; THENCE NORTHWESTERLY, ALONG THE SOUTHERLY EDGE OF WATER, 506 FEET TO A POINT 
LYING NORTH 01 '08'18" WEST 925.63 FEET AND NORTH 89'18'14" EAST 94.23 FEET FROM THE POINT 
OF BEGINNING AND BEING ON A LINE 107.3 FEET NORTHERLY OF THE EAST-WEST HALF SECTION LINE 
OF SAID SECTION 1; THENCE SOUTH 89'18'14" WEST 94.23 FEET TO A REBAR WITH CAP (MUSSER 
#9700002) MARKING THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF SAID SKYLINE CORPORATION LAND; THENCE 
SOUTH 01 '08'18" EAST 925.63 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING. CONTAINING 9.11 ACRES MORE OR 
LESS. 

TRACT II: A PART OF SECTION 1, TOWNSHIP 37 NORTH, RANGE 4 EAST, SECOND PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN, 
CLEVELAND TOWNSHIP, ELKHART COUNTY, INDIANA, MORE PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED AS 
FOLLOWS:  

COMMENCING AT A 1" IRON PIPE THAT IS 1212. 7 FEET SOUTH AND 1.57 CHAINS WEST (103.62 FEET) 
OF THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF THE SOUTHWEST QUARTER OF THE NORTHEAST QUARTER OF SAID 
SECTION 1; THENCE SOUTH 0 DEGREES 1 MINUTE 36 SECONDS WEST, A DISTANCE OF 916.80 FEET TO 
A POINT ON THE CENTERLINE OF INDIANA STATE HIGHWAY 112; THENCE SOUTH 89 DEGREES 26 
MINUTES 0 SECONDS EAST ALONG SAID CENTERLINE, A DISTANCE OF 509 FEET TO A POINT; THENCE 
CONTINUING EAST ALONG SAID LINE AND CENTERLINE, A DISTANCE OF 400 FEET TO A POINT; THENCE 
NORTH 0 DEGREES 0 MINUTES 36 SECONDS EAST, A DISTANCE OF 50 FEET TO AN IRON PIPE ON THE 
NORTH RIGHT-OF-WAY OF SAID INDIANA STATE HIGHWAY 112; THENCE SOUTH 89 DEGREES 26 
MINUTES 0 SECONDS EAST ALONG SAID NORTH RIGHT-OF-WAY, A DISTANCE OF 100.40 FEET TO AN 
IRON REBAR WITH CAP (DORI OT #890028) AT THE POINT OF BEGINNING OF THIS DESCRIPTION; 
THENCE CONTINUING EAST ALONG SAID LINE AND NORTH RIGHT-OF-WAY, A DISTANCE OF 77.10 FEET 
TO THE POINT OF CURVATURE OF A NON-TANGENT CURVE, CONCAVE TO THE NORTH, HAVING A 
RADIUS OF 1632. 71 FEET, A CENTRAL ANGLE OF 32 DEGREES 40 MINUTES 36 SECONDS, AND A CHORD 
OF 918.61 FEET BEARING NORTH 76 DEGREES 2 MINUTES 38 SECONDS EAST; THENCE EAST ALONG 
SAID CURVE, A DISTANCE OF 931.18 FEET TO AN IRON REBAR WITH CAP (DORI OT #890028); THENCE 
NORTH 0 DEGREES 36 MINUTES 53 SECONDS EAST, A DISTANCE OF 545.86 FEET TO AN IRON PIPE ON 
THE NORTH LINE OF THE SOUTHEAST QUARTER OF SAID SECTION 1; THENCE NORTH 89 DEGREES 55 
MINUTES 2 SECONDS WEST ALONG SAID NORTH LINE, A DISTANCE OF 546.49 FEET TO A POINT; 
THENCE DUE NORTH, A DISTANCE OF 107.30 FEET TO A POINT; THENCE NORTH 89 DEGREES 55 
MINUTES 2 SECONDS WEST, A DISTANCE OF 414.11 FEET TO A POINT; THENCE SOUTH 0 DEGREES 54 
MINUTES 22 SECONDS WEST, A DISTANCE OF 107.31 FEET TO A POINT ON THE NORTH LINE OF THE 
SOUTHEAST QUARTER OF SAID SECTION 1; THENCE CONTINUING SOUTH ALONG SAID LINE, A 
DISTANCE OF 768.10 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING. CONTAINING 16.69 ACRES, MORE OR LESS. 



Page 5 of 5 
 

So ORDAINED this    day of    ,   . 

 
           
     Arvis Dawson 
     President of the Common Council 
ATTEST: 
 
      
Debra D. Barrett, Elkhart City Clerk 
 

PRESENTED to the Mayor by me this    day of    ,  , 

at _________ a.m./p.m.  

          
    Debra D. Barrett, Elkhart City Clerk 
 
 
Approved by me this    day of    ,   . 
 
 
           
     Rod Roberson, Mayor for the City of Elkhart 
ATTEST: 
 
      
Debra D. Barrett, Elkhart City Clerk
 

























P a g e  | 1 of 1 

Proposed Ordinance No. 24-O-43

M E M O R A N D U M

DATE:  October 16, 2024 

TO: Common Council 

FROM: Corporation Counsel John M. Espar 

RE: Proposed Ordinance No. 24-O-43 
Enacting and Adopting Two Supplements of the Code of Ordinances for the City of 
Elkhart, Indiana. 

_____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Proposed Ordinance No. 24-O-43 is an ordinance which seeks to enact and adopt the twenty-third 
and twenty-fourth supplements to the Code of Ordinances for the City of Elkhart, Indiana.  

These supplements will contain all ordinances of general and permanent nature that have been 
enacted since the previous supplement to the Code of Ordinances of the City of Elkhart was 
enacted in 2021. 

American Legal Publishing Corporation has recommended the revisions or additions to the Code 
of Ordinances referencing related sections of the Indiana Code, as set forth in the attached 2022 
S-23 Supplement and Sheet 2023 S-24 Supplement. 



Proposed Ordinance No. 24-O-43 
 

ORDINANCE NO. ____________ 
 

AN ORDINANCE ENACTING AND ADOPTING THE TWENTY-THIRD AND 
TWENTY-FOURTH SUPPLEMENTS TO THE  

CODE OF ORDINANCES FOR THE CITY OF ELKHART, INDIANA  
___________________________________ 

 
 WHEREAS, American Legal Publishing Corporation of Cincinnati, Ohio, has completed 

the twenty-third supplement (S-23) and twenty-fourth supplement (S-24) to the Code of 

Ordinances of the City of Elkhart, Indiana, which contain all ordinances of a general and 

permanent nature enacted since the passage of the twenty-second supplement (S-22) to the Code 

of Ordinances of the City of Elkhart; and  

 WHEREAS, American Legal Publishing Corporation has recommended certain revisions 

or additions to the Code of Ordinances, which are based upon on or make reference to sections of 

the Indiana Code; and 

 WHEREAS, it is the intent of the Common Council to accept these updated sections in 

accordance with the changes of the law of the State of Indiana; and 

 WHEREAS, it is necessary to provide for the usual daily operations of the municipality 

and for the immediate preservation of the public peace, health, safety and general welfare of the 

municipality that this Ordinance take effect at an early date. 

  NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE COMMON COUNCIL OF THE 

CITY OF ELKHART, INDIANA, that: 

 Section 1.  That the twenty-third and twenty-fourth supplements to the Code of Ordinances 

of the City of Elkhart, Indiana, as submitted by American Legal Publishing Corporation of 

Cincinnati, Ohio, and as attached hereto, be, and the same hereby are, adopted by reference as if 

set out in their entirety. 



2 
 

 Section 2.  Such supplements shall be deemed published as of the day of their adoption and 

approval by the Common Council, and the Elkhart City Clerk is hereby authorized and ordered to 

insert such supplements into the copy of the Code of Ordinances kept on file in the Office of the 

Clerk. 

 ORDAINED this _____ day of ______________________, ______. 

    ______________________________________ 
    Arvis Dawson 
    President of the Common Council 
ATTEST: 
 
_____________________________ 
Debra D. Barrett, City Clerk 
 
 
          PRESENTED to the Mayor by me this ________ day of ________________________, 
______. 
   
    _____________________________________ 
    Debra D. Barrett, City Clerk 
 
            APPROVED by me this _______ day ______________________, ______. 
 
 
    _____________________________________ 
    Rod Roberson, Mayor 
 
ATTEST: 
 
_____________________________ 
Debra D. Barrett, City Clerk 

































































































































































229 S 2ND ST, ELKHART, IN 46516 
T 574.294.5471 U ELKHARTINDIANA.ORG 

Memorandum 
To: Arvis Dawson, President, Elkhart City Council 
From:  Jamie Arce, CPA, City Controller 
Date:  October 16, 2024 
Regarding: Lerner Theatre Major Category Transfer Request - $90,000 

As you are already aware the City has retained the Conway Entertainment 
Group to assist in securing both a temporary and permanent General Manager 
at the Lerner Theatre.  Previously the City Council approved a major category 
transfer request to cover the costs associated with the placement of Sherry 
May as the interim General Manager.   

As part of this ongoing relationship with the Conway Entertainment Group it has 
been the intent of the Administration to partner with them to provide their 
expertise and support to the Theatre beyond just securing a permanent General 
Manager.  To continue this relationship and support to the Theatre and its staff 
additional funding of $90,000 is required in the Other Services and Charges 
major category. The resolution before you is requesting authorization for the 
City Controller to make this budget neutral transfer that is necessary to be able 
to proceed with finalizing the agreement between the City and the Conway 
Entertainment Group. 

Proposed Resolution 24-R-49



Proposed Resolution No. 24-R-49 

RESOLUTION NO. R-  
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE COMMON COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
ELKHART, INDIANA, AUTHORIZING THE TRANSFER OF  

NINETY THOUSAND DOLLARS ($90,000.00) FROM THE  
LERNER THEATRE PERSONNEL CATEGORY TO THE  

OTHER SERVICES & CHARGES CATEGORY 

WHEREAS, the Common Council approved Resolution No. R-48-24, to cover the 

costs associated with the placement of an interim general manager by Conway Entertainment 

Group for the Lerner Theatre, and further engage the services of Conway Entertainment Group to 

solicit, vet, and secure a qualified individual to serve as general manager on a long-term basis; 

and  

WHEREAS, the Lerner Governing Board and Administration intend to broaden the 

scope of services provided by Conway Entertainment under a contract not-to-exceed Ninety 

Thousand Dollars ($90,000.00), to collaborate with the Administration and Board in a more 

comprehensive review of Lerner operations, to develop a strategy to broaden the opportunities 

to attract talent to the Theatre, increase efficiencies, revenues, and attendance; and  

WHEREAS, the Lerner Theater has funds within the Personnel category, sufficient and 

available for transfer to the Other Services & Charges category to engage the services of Conway 

Entertainment Group for the stated purpose, on a budget neutral transfer, as determined appropriate 

within the Other Services & Charges category by the Controller; 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE COMMON COUNCIL OF THE 

CITY OF ELKHART, INDIANA, THAT: 

Section 1. The City Controller is hereby authorized to transfer funds from the 

Personnel category to the Other Services & Charges category of Lerner Theatre, as follows: 

Page 1 of 2 



Page 2 of 2 

From: Personnel 2511-5-502-4100000 Series $90,000.00 

To: Other Services & Charges  2511-5-502-4300000 Series $90,000.00 

Section 2. This Resolution shall be in effect from and after its passage by the 

Common Council and approval by the Mayor according to law. 

RESOLVED this _____ day of __________________, ______. 

______________________________________ 
Arvis Dawson 
President of the Common Council 

ATTEST: 

_________________________________ 
Debra D. Barrett, City Clerk 

PRESENTED to the Mayor by me this ________ day of ___________, ______, at 

a.m./p.m.

______________________________________ 
Debra D. Barrett, City Clerk 

APPROVED by me this _____ day of ____________________, ______. 

______________________________________ 
Rod Roberson, Mayor 

ATTEST: 

_________________________________ 
Debra D. Barrett, City Clerk 



Proposed Resolution 24-R-50 

Rod Roberson 
 Mayor 

Michael Huber 
 Director of Development Services 

Development Services 
Community Development 

Economic Development 
Planning Services 

Redevelopment 
229 S. Second St. 

Elkhart, IN 46516 
574.294.5471 

Fax: 574.295.7501 

DATE: October 21, 2024 

TO: Elkhart Common Council Members 

FROM: Mike Huber, Director of Development Services 

RE: Tax Phase-in Application for Consolidated Metals, Inc. 

Background 

Consolidated Metals Inc., (CMI) is a manufacturer of steel tubing, with production capabilities 
for a wide variety of tubing sizes, shapes, and gauges. This opportunity involves existing building 
improvements, following the purchase of 3504 Cooper Drive, which will become CMI’s new 
headquarters. The property is currently home to Phoenix RV, who will be leasing part of the 
facility from CMI following the acquisition. The current property owner is included on the SB-1 
real property, as the acquisition will take place following the Confirmatory Resolution.  

Private Investment 

CMI plans to invest $625,000 real estate improvements, and $9,129,500 in personal property 
equipment, for a total investment of $9,754,500. This is projected to create 30 new positions, 
with an average annual salary of $50,981. The projected tax revenue from the proposed project 
is $737,084. The projected tax savings is $409,014.   

The project is being phased in over five-years for real property and five-years for personal 
property. The table below highlight the planned real estate investments and personal property 
investments. The subsequent table highlights the projected phasing of new jobs. 

Calendar Year 2024 2025 2026 Total 
Land Acquisition 
New building 
construction 
Existing building 
improvements 

$312,000 $312,500 $625,000 

Manufacturing 
equipment  

$5,354,000 $3,775,500 $9,129,500 

Research and 



Development 
equipment 
Logistics 
Distribution 
equipment 

Information 
Technology 
equipment 

On-site rail 
infrastructure 
On-site fiber 
infrastructure 
Grand total $312,000 $5,666,000 $3,775,500 $9,754,500 

Calendar Year 2025 2026 2027 Total 
Management 
Professional/Technical 
Sales 
Office/Administrative 
Support 
Production 
Supervision 

1 1 

Production 12 15 27 
Maintenance 1 1 
Other 1 1 
Total 15 30 

Recommendation 

Our staff, with support from the EDC, is recommending a five-year real property tax phase-in and 
a five-year personal property tax phase-in. Per the EDC’s Project Impact Estate sheet, the 
projected tax revenue generated from the proposed project $737,084. The projected tax savings 
is $409,014.  



 
Page 1 of 7 

Proposed Resolution No. 24-R-50 

RESOLUTION NO. R_____ 

A RESOLUTION OF THE COMMON COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF ELKHART, 
INDIANA, DECLARING A CERTAIN AREA TO BE AN ECONOMIC 

REVITALIZATION AREA FOR THE PURPOSE OF GRANTING TAX PHASE-IN 
BENEFITS TO CONSOLIDATED METALS, INC. \ WESTWOOD MANOR, INC. 

WHEREAS, Indiana Code 6-1.1-12.1 (the “Act”) authorizes the Common Council of the 
City of Elkhart, Indiana (“Common Council”) to designate an area within the territorial boundaries 
of the City of Elkhart, Indiana as an economic revitalization area, as that term is defined in Section 
1 of the Act, for the purpose of allowing certain qualified businesses the right to receive deductions 
from the assessed value of improvements made to real property and personal property located in 
the economic revitalization area; and 

WHEREAS, Consolidated Metals, Inc. \ Westwood Manor, Inc., (hereinafter the 
“Applicant\Property Owner”) filed an application with the City of Elkhart, requesting that the real 
estate described in Exhibit A attached to this Resolution (the “Area”) be designated as an economic 
revitalization area by the Common Council for the purpose of allowing a deduction from the 
assessed value of the real property improvements, consisting of existing building improvements 
for building additions (the “Project”) and from the assessed value of the manufacturing equipment 
for mechanical steel mill and structural steel mill (the “New Equipment”); and 

WHEREAS, the Applicant\Property Owner filed with the City a Statement of Benefits 
Form (SB-1/Real Property) for the Project and a Statement of Benefits Form (SB-1/Personal 
Property) for the New Equipment (collectively the “Statement of Benefits”); and 

WHEREAS, prior to the commencement of the Project in the Area, the Area had become 
undesirable for, or impossible of, normal development and occupancy because of a lack of 
development, cessation of growth, deterioration of improvements or character of occupancy, age, 
obsolescence, substandard buildings, or other factors which have impaired values and prevented 
normal development and use of the property; and 

WHEREAS, the Common Council has caused to be prepared maps and plats showing the 
boundaries of the Area; and 

WHEREAS, the Common Council has studied the Area and considered the 
Applicant\Property Owner’s request to designate the Area as an economic revitalization area and 
the Applicant\Property Owner’s Statement of Benefits. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE COMMON COUNCIL OF THE 
CITY OF ELKHART, INDIANA, as follows: 

1. After considering the evidence presented at the public meeting conducted this date, 
the Common Council hereby finds and determines that: 



 
Page 2 of 7 

A. the estimate of the value of the Project in the Area is reasonable for projects 
of this nature, and the estimate of the cost of the New Equipment is reasonable for 
equipment of this type in this Area; 

B. the estimate of the number of individuals who will be employed or whose 
employment will be retained in the Area can reasonably be expected to result from the 
Project and installation of the New Equipment; 

C. the estimate of the annual salaries of those individuals who will be 
employed or whose employment will be retained in the Area can reasonably be expected 
to result from the Project and installation of the New Equipment; 

D. the other benefits about which information was requested are benefits that 
can reasonably be expected to result from the Project and installation of the New 
Equipment; and 

E. the totality of benefits is sufficient to justify declaring the Area as an 
economic revitalization area and allowing deductions in accordance with the Act. 

2. The Area is hereby designated an economic revitalization area (“ERA”) under 
Section 2.5 of the Act, subject to the requirements of the Act for the purpose of allowing a 
deduction from the assessed value of the Project and installation of the New Equipment, 
respectively.  

3. The Administrative Assistant of the Common Council is hereby authorized and 
directed to make all filings necessary or desirable with the Elkhart County Assessor, to publish all 
notices required by the Act, and to take all other necessary actions to carry out the purposes and 
intent of this Resolution and to establish and designate the Area as an economic revitalization area. 

4. The Administrative Assistant of the Common Council is further authorized and 
directed to file this Declaratory Resolution, together with any supporting information, with each 
of the officers of each taxing unit that has authority to levy property taxes in the Area, as provided 
in the Act. 

5. This Declaratory Resolution shall be submitted to the public for hearing and 
remonstrance as provided by the Act; and said public hearing shall be convened by the Common 
Council on November 4, 2024, at 6:00 p.m., at the City Hall, 229 S. Second Street, Elkhart, Indiana 
46516. 

6. In accordance with Section 2.5(b) of the Act, the Common Council hereby 
determines that a deduction for the Project under Section 3 of the Act shall be allowed for a period 
of five (5) years. The amount of the deduction for each eligible year shall be according to the 
following deduction schedule: 



 
Page 3 of 7 

 
 

7. The deduction schedule shall commence in the first year that the Project results in 
any increase in the assessed value of the Area designated as an ERA. The ERA shall expire on the 
last year of the applicable deduction schedule for the Project, unless terminated sooner by action 
of the Common Council under the Act. 

8. In accordance with Section 2.5(b) of the Act, the Common Council hereby 
determines that a deduction for the installation of the New Equipment under Section 4.5 of the Act 
shall be allowed for a period of five (5) years. The amount of the deduction for each eligible year 
shall be according to the following deduction schedule: 

 
9. The deduction schedule shall commence in the first year that the New Equipment 

is installed in the Area designated as an ERA. The ERA shall expire on the last year of the 
applicable deduction schedule for the New Equipment, unless terminated sooner by action of the 
Common Council under the Act.  

10. The Common Council, with the consent of property owner, adopts and incorporates 
by reference into this Resolution the provisions of Indiana Code 6-1.1-12.1-14 and imposes a fee 
on the property owner equal to 15% of the tax savings as determined under Indiana Code 6-1.1-
12.1-14(c). 

11. The Common Council hereby adopts and incorporates by reference the provisions 
of Indiana Code 6-1.1-12.1-12, providing that if the owner of the property owner or tenant of the 
property, ceases operations at the facility for which the deduction was granted, and the designating 
body finds that the Applicant or property owner obtained the deduction by intentionally providing 
false information concerning the Applicant’s or property owner's plans to continue operations at 
the facility, the property owner shall pay the amount determined by the County Auditor pursuant 
to law, after an appeal, if any. 

12. The Common Council’s designation of the Area as an economic revitalization area 
shall terminate after a public hearing held by the Common Council in accordance with the Act if 



 
Page 4 of 7 

the Applicant and/or property owner: 

A. fails to substantially complete the Project, install the proposed New 
Equipment, and create and maintain the level of benefits described in the Statement of 
Benefits; 

B. fails to enter into a written agreement with the City of Elkhart confirming 
the Applicant\Property Owner’s commitment to comply with the project description, job 
creation and retention (and associated wage rates and salaries) figures contained in the 
Statement of Benefits; or 

C. fails to continue operations at the facility for which the deduction was 
granted; or 

D. intentionally provides false information to the designating body concerning 
the Applicant’s or property owner’s plans to continue operations at the facility. 

13. The provisions of this Declaratory Resolution shall be subject in all respects to the 
Act and any amendments thereto. 

14. This Declaratory Resolution shall take effect upon its adoption. 

[Balance of page is intentionally blank.]



 
Page 5 of 7 

 
Exhibit A 

 
Description of Real Property 

 
The real property comprising the Economic Revitalization Area is described as follows: 
 
Property Address:  
3504 Cooper Drive, Elkhart IN 46514 
Parcel Number(s):  
20-02-26-126-012.000-027  
Legal Description: 
TRACT 1: 
THE EAST 200 FEET OF THE SOUTH 105 FEET OF THE NORTH 155 FEET OF LOT NUMBERED A-42, AS 
SAID LOT IS KNOWN AND DESIGNATED ON THE RECORDED PLAT OF NORTHLAND PARK SECOND 
SECTION, A SUBDIVISION IN OSOLO TOWNSHIP, ELKHART COUNTY, INDIANA; SAID PLAT BEING 
RECORDED IN PLAT BOOK 13, PAGE 62 IN THE OFFICE OF THE RECORDER OF ELKHART COUNTY, 
INDIANA. 
ALSO, THE EAST 75 FEET OF THE SOUTH 289 FEET OF LOT NUMBERED A-42, AS SAID LOT IS KNOWN 
AND DESIGNATED ON THE RECORDED PLAT OF NORTHLAND PARK SECOND SECTION, A SUBDIVISION 
IN OSOLO TOWNSHIP, ELKHART COUNTY, INDIANA; SAID PLAT BEING RECORDED IN PLAT BOOK 13, 
PAGE 62 IN THE OFFICE OF THE RECORDER OF ELKHART COUNTY, INDIANA. 
TRACT 2: 
THE EAST 200 FEET OF THE SOUTH 245 FEET OF LOT NUMBERED A-40, AS SAID LOT IS KNOWN AND 
DESIGNATED ON THE RECORDED PLAT OF NORTHLAND PARK SECOND SECTION, A SUBMMSION IN 
OSOLO TOWNSHIP, ELKHART COUNTY, INDIANA; SAID PLAT BEING RECORDED IN PLAT BOOK 13, PAGE 
62 IN THE OFFICE OF THE RECORDER OF ELKHART COUNTY, INDIANA.  
ALSO, THE NORTH 50 FEET OF THE EAST 200 FEET OF LOT NUMBERED A-42, AS SAID LOT IS KNOWN 
AND DESIGNATED ON THE RECODED PLAT OF NORTHLAND PARK SECOND SECTION, A SUBDIVISION IN 
OSOLO TOWNSHIP, ELKHART COUNTY, INDIANA; SAID PLAT BEING RECORDED IN PLAT BOOK 13, PAGE 
62 IN THE OFFICE OF THE RECORDER OF ELKHART COUNTY, INDIANA. 
TRACT 3: 
LOT NUMBERED A-11 AS THE SAID LOT IS KNOWN AND DESIGNATED ON THE RECORDED PLAT OF 
NORTHLAND PARK SECOND SECTION, A SUBDIVISION IN OSOLO TOWNSHIP, ELKHART COUNTY, 
INDIANA; SAID PLAT BEING RECORDED IN PLAT BOOK 13, PAGE 62 IN THE OFFICE OF THE RECORDER 
OF ELKHART COUNTY, INDIANA.  



 
Page 6 of 7 

 

 RESOLVED this ____ day of ________________, _______. 

 
____________________________________ 
Arvis Dawson 

     President of the Common Council 
ATTEST: 
 
______________________________ 
Debra D. Barrett, City Clerk 
 
 PRESENTED to the Mayor by me this ________ day of ___________, ______, at 

________ a.m./p.m. 

_____________________________________ 
Debra D. Barrett, City Clerk 

 
 
 APPROVED by me this _______ day of ________________, _______. 
 
 

_____________________________________ 
Rod Roberson, Mayor 

ATTEST: 
 
______________________________ 
Debra D. Barrett, City Clerk 
  



 
Page 7 of 7 

STATE OF INDIANA ) 
)   § 

COUNTY OF ELKHART ) 
 

I, Debra D. Barrett, Clerk of the City of Elkhart, Indiana, do hereby certify the above is a 
full, true and complete copy of Resolution No. R-____, adopted by the Common Council on the    
  day of   , _____ , by a vote of _______ AYES and _______ NAYS, and was 
approved and signed by the Mayor on the ______ day of    , ______ , and now 
remains on file and on record in my office. 

 
WITNESS my hand and the official seal of the City of Elkhart, Indiana, this ____ day of  

  , ______ . 
 
 

__________________________________ 
Debra D. Barrett, City Clerk 

 
 




























































































	AGENDA for October 21, 2024 City Council Meeting
	Minutes of September 21, 2025 Finance Of-The-Whole Committee Budget Hearings
	Minutes of October 7,  2024 Council Meeting
	Proposed Ordinance 24-O-40
	Proposed Ordinance 24-O-41
	Proposed Ordinance 24-O-42
	Proposed Ordinance 24-O-43
	Proposed Resolution 24-R-49
	24-R-49 Lerner Theatre - Conway Entertainment Transfer ($90000) Memo.pdf
	Memorandum


	Proposed Resolution 24-R-50
	Minutes of September 10 2024 -Aurora Capital Development Corporation
	Minutes of September 24 2024 - Board of Public Safety
	Minutes of October 1 2024 - Board of Public Works
	Minutes of September 10 2024 - Elkhart Redevelopment Commission
	Minutes of September 11 2024 - Lerner Theatre Board



